NEW ISSUE RATINGS: Insured Underlving

BOOK-ENTRY ONLY Fitch: AAA AA
Moody’s: Aaa Aa3
Standard & Poor’s: AAA AA-

(See “RATINGS” herein)

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under existing statutes and court decisions and assuming continuing compliance with certain tax covenants
described herein, interest on the Series 2001 Bonds is excluded from gross income for Federal income tax purposes pursuant to Section 103
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and is not treated as a preference item in calculating the alternative
minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations under the Code; such interest, however, is included in the adjusted current earnings
of certain corporations for purposes of calculating the alternative minimum tax imposed on such corporations. (See “TAX STATUS” herein
for a description of certain other provisions of law which may affect the Federal tax treatment of interest on the Series 2001 Bonds.) Interest
on the Series 2001 Bonds is not exempt from State of Wisconsin income tax or franchise tax.

$29,095,000
CITY OF MILWAUKEE,
Milwaukee County, Wisconsin
Sewerage System Revenue Bonds, Series 2001

Dated: December 1, 2001 Due: June 1, 2003 - 2021

The $29,095,000 Sewerage System Revenue Bonds, Series 2001 (the “Series 2001 Bonds™) will be dated December 1, 2001,
will bear interest payable semiannually on June 1 and December 1 of each year, commencing June 1, 2002, at the rates, and
will mature on June 1 in the years and amounts as detailed on the following page.

The Series 2001 Bonds shall be issued by the City of Milwaukee, Milwaukee County, Wisconsin (the “City”) for the purposes of
financing the costs of improvements to the City’s Sewerage System, funding the Reserve Account and paying the issuance expenses
incurred in connection with the Series 2001 Bonds.

The Series 2001 Bonds maturing on June 1, 2013 and thereafter shall be subject to call and prior redemption or June 1, 2012 and on
any interest payment date thereafter, in whole or in part, from maturities selected by the City, and by lot within a maturity at par plus
accrued interest to the date of redemption. (See “OPTIONAL REDEMPTION PRIOR TO MATURITY” herein.)

The Series 2001 Bonds will be issued only as fully registered bonds and will be registered in the name of Cede & Co. as nominee of
The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York ("DTC"). DTC will act as the securities depository of the Series 2001 Bonds.
Individual purchases will be made in book-entry form only in denominations of $5,000 principal amount or any integral multiple
thereof. Purchasers of the Series 2001 Bonds will not receive certificates representing their interest in the Series 2001 Bonds
purchased. (See "BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM" herein.)

The Series 2001 Bonds are limited special obligations of the City payable solely from and secured by the funds pledged therefor.
(See “SECURITY” herein.)

The Series 2001 Bonds are being offered when, as and if issued and subject to the legal opinion of Hawkins, Delafield & Wood, New
York, New York, and Quarles & Brady LLP, Milwaukee, Wisconsin, Bond Counsel. In addition, certain legal matters will be passed
upon for the Underwriters by Michael Best & Friedrich, Milwaukee, Wisconsin. It is anticipated that the Series 2001 Bonds will be
available for delivery to DTC on or about December 4, 2001.

Payment of the principal of and interest on the Series 2001 Bonds when due will be insured by a municipal bond insurance policy to be
issued by Ambac Assurance Corporation simultaneously with the delivery of the Series 2001 Bonds.

Ambac

THIS COVER PAGE CONTAINS CERTAIN INFORMATION FOR QUICK REFEXENCE ONLY. IT IS NOT A SUMMARY OF THIS ISSUE.
INVESTORS MUST READ THE ENTIRE OFFICIAL STATEMENT TO OBTAIN INFORMATION ESSENTIAL TO THE MAKING OF AN
INFORMED INVESTMENT DECISION.

For Further Information Contact:
W. Martin Morics, City Comptroller and Secretary to the Public Debt Commission
Room 404, City Hall - 200 East Wells Street - Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202 - Phone (414) 286-2301

Siebert Brandford Shank & Co., LLC

Dated: November 16, 2001



MATURITY SCHEDULE
$29,095,000 Sewerage System Revenue Bonds

The Series 2001 Bonds will be dated December 1, 2001, will bear interest at the rates shown below, payable semiannually on
June 1 and December 1 of each year, commencing June 1, 2002, and will mature on June 1 of the years and in the amounts
shown below. ‘

Interest Price
Year Amount Rate or Yield
2003 $1,000,000 3.50% 2.25%
2004 1,035,000 3.50 2.65
2005 1,080,000 5.00 2.95
2006 1,135,000 5.00 3.21
2007 1,190,000 3.75 3.46
2008 1,235,000 4.00 3.68
2009 1,285,000 4.00 3.83
2010 1,340,000 4.00 393
2011 1,395,000 4.00 4.03
2012 1,450,000 4.00 4.17
2013 1,520,000 5.25 427
2014 1,600,000 5.25 4.39
2015 1,685,000 5.25 451
2016 1,775,000 5.25 461
2017 1,875,000 5.375 470
2018 1,970,000 4.70 4.81
2019 2,070,000 4.875 4.88
2020 2,170,000 5.00 495
2021 2,285,000 5.00 100



REGARDING USE OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT

No dealer, broker, salesman, or other person has been authorized by the City of Milwaukee or by Robert W. Baird & Co., the
wancial Advisor, to give any information or to make any representations other than those contained herein, and if given or
ide, such other information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by any of the foregoing.

[his Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of any offer to buy, nor shall there be any sale of

the Series 2001 Bonds, by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer, solicitation

or sale. Robert W. Baird & Co., in its role as Financial Advisor, assisted the City of Milwaukee in preparing the Official

Statement. Robert W. Baird & Co. obtained information from the City of Milwaukee and other sources that it believed was

reliable, but cannot guarantee the accuracy or completeness of the information in this Official Statement. The information and

expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any
other sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs

of the City of Milwaukee.

These Securities have not been registered pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, in reliance upon exemptions contained in such

Act.
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INTRODUCTION TO THE OFFICIAL STATEMENT

The purpose of this Official Statement, including the cover page, and Appendices, is to set forth certain information concerning
the City of Milwaukee (the “City™), located in Milwaukee County, Wisconsin, and to set forth information concerning the
offering of $29,095,000 Sewerage System Revenue Bonds, Series 2001 of the City, dated December 1, 2001 (the “Series 2001
Bonds™). The following information is furnished solely to provide limited introductory information regarding the Series 2001
Bonds and does not purport to be comprehensive. All such information is qualified in its entirety by reference to the more
detailed descriptions appearing in this Official Statement, including the Appendices hereto.

SUMMARY STATEMENT

The following material is supported, where required, by the detailed information and financial statements appearing in this
Official Statement, including the Appendices hereto.

Issuer: City of Milwaukee, Wisconsin.

Issue: $29,095,000 Sewerage System Revenue Bonds, Series 2001.
Dated Date: December 1, 2001.

Maturity: June 1 as shown below.

Amounts and Maturities:

Year Amount Year Amount
2003 $1,000,000 2013 $1,520,000
2004 1,035,000 2014 1,600,000
2005 1,080,000 2015 1,685,000
2006 1,135,000 2016 1,775,000
2007 1,190,000 2017 1,875,000
2008 1,235,000 2018 1,970,000
2009 1,285,000 2019 2,070,000
2010 1,340,000 2020 2,170,000
2011 1,395,000 2021 2,285,000
2012 1,450,000

Interest Payment Dates: Each June 1 and December 1 beginning June 1, 2002.

Denominations: $5,000 or integral multiples thereof.

Purpose: The Series 2001 Bonds are issued for the purposes of financing the costs of improvements

to the City’s Sewerage System, funding the Reserve Account and paying the issuance
expenses incurred in connection with the Series 2001 Bonds.

Security: Principal and interest on the Series 2001 Bonds will be payable solely from and secured
by the funds pledged therefor. (See “SECURITY™ herein.)



Authority for Issuance:

Form of Issuance:

Tax Status of Interest:

Redemption Feature:

Professionals:

Delivery:

Reoffering:

Continuing Disclosure Certificate:

The Common Council of the City has authorized the issuance and sale of the Series 2001
Bonds in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 66 of the Wisconsin Statutes (the
“Act”).

The Series 2001 Bonds will be issued in Book-Entry-Only form, fully registered in the
name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company of New York, New
York, which will act as security depository for the Series 2001 Bonds. (See “BOOK-
ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM?” herein).

Under existing statutes and court decisions and assuming continuing compliance with
certain tax covenants described herein, interest on the Series 2001 Bonds is excluded
from gross income for Federal income tax purposes pursuant to Section 103 of the Code,
as amended (the “Code”) and is not treated as a preference item in calculating the
alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations under the Code; such
interest, however, is included in the adjusted current earnings of certain corporations for
purposes of calculating the alternative minimum tax imposed on such corporations. (See
“TAX STATUS?” herein).

The Series 2001 Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity. (See “OPTIONAL
REDEMPTION PRIOR TO MATURITY” herein.)

Bond Counsel Hawkins, Delafield & Wood
New York, New York

Quarles & Brady LLP
Milwaukee, Wisconsin

Underwriter’s Counsel Michael Best & Friedrich LLP .
Milwaukee, Wisconsin

Financial Advisor Robert W. Baird & Co.
Milwaukee, Wisconsin

Underwriter Siebert Brandford Shank & Co., LLC
Chicago, Illinois

Trustee Bank One Trust Company, National Association
Milwaukee, Wisconsin

Independent Auditors KPMG Peat Marwick LLP
Milwaukee, Wisconsin

Delivery will be on or about December 4, 2001 at the expense of the City of Milwaukee,
through the facilities of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York.

The public reoffering prices or yields of the Series 2001 Bonds are detailed on the inside
front cover of the Final Official Statement.

In order to assist the Underwriter in complying with the continuing disclosure
requirements of SEC Rule 15¢2-12 and as part of the City’s contractual obligation
arising from its acceptance of the Underwriter's proposal, at the time of the delivery of
the Series 2001 Bonds the City will provide an executed copy of its Continuing
Disclosure Certificate. (See “RULE 15¢2-12 AMENDMENTS” herein).



SERIES 2001 BONDS
THE FINANCING PLAN

The Series 2001 Bonds shall be issued by the City of Milwaukee, Milwaukee County, Wisconsin (the “City”) for the purpc.
of financing the costs of improvements of any plant and equipment within or without the comparative limits of the City’s
Sewerage System for the collection, transportation, storage, treatment and disposal of sewage or storm water and surface water,
including necessary lateral, main and interception sewers.

SOURCES AND USES

Sources of Funds

Par Amount of Bonds $29,095,000.00
Reoffering Premium (Net of Discount) 756,474.00
Accrued Interest from 12/01/2001 to 12/04/2001 11,310.70
TOTAL SOURCES $29,862,784.70

Uses of Funds

Amount Available for Projects $27,154,374.85
Deposit to Debt Service Reserve Fund (DSRF) 2,343,383.76
Deposit to Debt Service Fund 11,310.70
Costs of Issuance (Including Underwriter's

Discount & bond insurance premium) 353,715.39
TOTAL USES OF FUNDS $29,862,784.70

THE RESOLUTIONS

By way of a Bond Resolution adopted on August 2, 2001 (the “Bond Resolution”) and a Series Resolution adopted on
September 25, 2001, the Common Council has authorized and approved the sale of the Series 2001 Bonds including providing
certain of the details and form of the Series 2001 Bonds and setting out certain covenants with respect thereto. Pursuant to the
Bond Resolution, bonds may be issued thereunder in series from time to time. Bonds of all series issued or to be issued under
the Bond Resolution are hereinafter referred to as the Bonds.

Reference should be made to the Bond Resolution for definitions of terms not defined herein. As defined in the Bond
Resolution, “Net Revenues™” means with respect to any period, the Revenues during such period less amounts required to pay
Operation and Maintenance Expenses. “Operation and Maintenance Expenses” means the costs and expenses of operating and
maintaining the Sewerage System, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing: (i) all expenses includable in the
operation and maintenance expense accounts of the City relating to the Sewerage System according to generally accepted
accounting principles, exclusive of debt service, capital expenditures, depreciation and tax equivalents; and (ii) to the extent not
included in the preceding clause (i) or paid from the Bond proceeds or otherwise, the City's share of the costs and expenses of
operating and maintaining any plants and properties jointly owned with others. “Aggregate Debt Service” means, for any
period and as of any date of computation, the sum of the amounts of Debt Service for such period with respect to all Series of
Bonds.

By way of a Resolution adopted on November 16, 2001 (the “Award Resolution™), the Public Debt Commission of the City
approved a Purchase Contract with the Underwriter for the purchase of the Series 2001 Bonds and provided certain details of
the Series 2001 Bonds.

A summary of certain provisions of the Bond Resolution is set forth under “Summary of Bond Resolution” in Appendix D.

MATURITY AND INTEREST RATES

The Series 2001 Bonds are to be dated December 1, 2001 and will bear interest from that date at the rates, and shall matur=
each June 1 in the amounts and on the dates as set forth on the inside front cover of this Official Statement. Interest on
Series 2001 Bonds will be payable on June 1, 2002 and thereafter semiannually on December 1 and June 1 of each year anc
calculated on the basis of 30-day months and a 360-day year.



OPTIONAL REDEMPTION PRIOR TO MATURITY

The Series 2001 Bonds with principal maturity dates on or after June 1, 2013, will be subject to redemption prior to their
maturity at the option of the City on any interest payment date on or after June 1, 2012, ata price of par plus accrued interest to
the date fixed for their redemption. If less than all outstanding Series 2001 Bonds are called for redemption, the Series 2001
Bonds shall be called in such order of maturity as shall be determined by the City. If less than all of the Series 2001 Bonds of
any maturity are called for redemption, the particular Series 2001 Bonds of such maturity to be redeemed shall be selected by
lot. Notice of redemption shall be mailed, postage prepaid, to the owners of any Series 2001 Bonds to be redeemed in whose
name such Series 2001 Bonds are registered as of a record date, which shall be 45 days prior to the redemption date.

SECURITY

Pledge of Revenues, Funds and Other Moneys

(A) The Series 2001 Bonds will be payable on a parity with additional Series of Bonds issued pursuant to the Bond Resolution.
The Series 2001 Bonds are limited special obligations of the City payable solely from and secured by the funds pledged therefor.
There are pledged as security for the payment of the principal and Redemption Price (if any) of, and interest on, the Series 2001
Bonds in accordance with their terms and the provisions of the Bond Resolution, subject only to the provisions of the Bond
Resolution permitting the application thereof for the purposes and on the terms and conditions set forth in the Bond Resolution: (i)
the proceeds of sale of the Series 2001 Bonds pending application thereof in accordance with the provisions of the Bond
Resolution or of a Series Resolution (ii) the Net Revenues, and (iii) all Funds and Accounts held under the Bond Resolution other
than (a) the Rebate Fund and (b) the Subordinate Obligation Fund, including the investments, if any, in such Funds and Accounts;
and the bondholders shall have a lien on, and a security interest in, such proceeds, Net Revenues, and Funds and Accounts for
such purpose and subject to such provisions of the Bond Resolution. Such lien and security interest for the payment of the Series
2001 Bonds shall be prior and superior to the lien and security interest for the payment of Subordinate Obligations. The Series
2001 Bonds are additionally secured by a mortgage lien upon the Sewerage System, which shall be perfected by the recording of
the Bond Resolution in the records of the City.

(B) The pledge of, and lien on, and security interest in, the proceeds of the Series 2001 Bonds and the Net Revenues as received
by the City and the Funds and Accounts herein, other than the Rebate Fund and the Subordinate Obligation Fund, shall be valid
and irrevocable: (i) from and after the time that, if required by State law, a financing statement is filed with respect to such pledge,
lien and security interest as required by State law, and, upon such filing; or (ii), if no financing statement is so required by State
law, upon delivery of the proceeds of the Series 2001 Bonds, and all the Net Revenues as received by the City and the Funds and
Accounts herein, other than the Rebate Fund and the Subordinate Obligation Fund, shall immediately be subject to the lien of the
pledge without any physical delivery thereof or further act, and the lien of the pledge shall be valid as against, and prior to the lien
of, all parties having claims of any kind in tort, contract or otherwise against the City, irrespective of whether such parties have
notice thereof.

(C) The Bonds including the Series 2001 Bonds shall be equally and ratably payable and secured under the Bond Resolution
without priority by reason of date of adoption of a Series Resolution authorizing a Series of Bonds or by reason of their Series,
number or date, date of issue, execution, authentication or sale thereof, or otherwise; provided, however, that nothing in the Bond
Resolution shall prevent the City from affording any particular Series of Bonds or particular Bonds additional or different security
through a support facility or escrow funds. Bonds which are not a part of a Series for which an escrow fund, or other funds and
accounts has been created to provide additional or different security shall not be entitled to the benefits of such escrow fund, or
other funds and accounts except to the extent specifically provided in the Series Resolution authorizing such Series.

(D) The principal and Redemption Price (if any) of, and interest on, the Series 2001 Bonds shall be payable only from the
Special Redemption Fund and not from any funds of the City other than the Special Redemption Fund and the Series 2001 Bonds
shall not constitute a general obligation of the City, or create a charge upon any other revenues or property of the City, except the
Net Revenues and other moneys and securities pledged under the Bond Resolution. No holder of the Series 2001 Bonds shall
have the right to compel the exercise of the taxing power of the State or any political subdivision thereof, including the City, in
connection with any default with respect to the Series 2001 Bonds. Each Series 2001 Bond shall recite in substance the provisions
of this subsection (D).



(E) To additionally secure the Series 2001 Bonds, there shall at the time of delivery of the Series 2001 Bonds on deposit in the
Special Redemption Fund for credit to the Reserve Account therein, an amount equal to the Reserve Account Requirement which
shall equal the lesser of (i) an amount equal to the maximum annual principal and interest requirements for the Series 2001 Bonds,
(ii) an amount equal to 10 percent (10%) of the principal amount of the Series 2001 Bonds, or (iii} 125% of the average annual
principal and interest requirements for the Series 2001 Bonds. The Reserve Account for the Series 2001 Bonds shall be funded
from the proceeds of the Series 2001 Bonds.

(F)  No holder of a Series 2001 Bond shall be required to see that the moneys derived from such Series 2001 Bonds are applied
to the purpose or purposes for which such Bond is issued. The validity of the Series 2001 Bonds shall neither be dependent upon
nor affected by the validity or regularity of any proceedings relating to the acquisition, purchase, construction, reconstruction,
improvement, betterment or extension of the Sewerage System nor the use and application of the proceeds of the Series 2001
Bonds. The Series 2001 Bonds shall contain a recital that they are issued pursuant to the Act, which recital shall be conclusive
evidence of their validity and of the regularity of their issuance.

COVENANTS TO SECURE THE BONDS

The City, in the Bond Resolution, covenants and agrees with the holders of all Bonds, including the Series 2001 Bonds issued
pursuant to the Bond Resolution, and to the extent provided in a Series Resolution, all support facility providers, as follows:

Rates and Charges

(A) The City shall fix, charge and collect such Sewerage Services Charges as shall be required in order that in each Fiscal
Year the Net Revenues shall be not less than the Net Revenue Requirement for such Fiscal Year. The failure in any Fiscal
Year to comply with the foregoing rate covenant in this paragraph (A) shall not constitute an event of default if the City shall
comply with the Bond Resolution as described in paragraph (B) below. “Net Revenue Requirement” means with respect to any
Fiscal Year or any period, an amount equal to the greater of: (i) the sum of (a) the Aggregate Debt Service in such Fiscal Year
or such period and (b) the Required Deposits for such Fiscal Year or such period; or (ii) 1.20 times the Aggregate Debt Service
in such Fiscal Year or such period plus 1.20 times the aggregate Support Facility Reimbursement Obligations outstanding as of
the end of such Fiscal Year or such period.

B) Prior to the end of each Fiscal Year, the Commissioner of Public Works of the City shall complete a review of the
financial condition of the Sewerage System for the purpose of estimating whether the Net Revenues for such Fiscal Year and for
the next succeeding Fiscal Year will be sufficient to comply with the rate covenant described in paragraph (A) above and shall by
a Written Certificate of the City make a determination with respect thereto. Such review shall take into consideration the
completion of any uncompleted improvement and the issuance of future Series of Bonds if necessary to finance the completion of
such improvements. Such Written Certificate shall set forth a reasonably detailed statement of the actual and estimated revenues,
operation and maintenance expenses, aggregate debt service, and any other estimates or assumptions upon which such
determination was based, and shall be filed with the City Clerk on or before July 1 in each year. If it is determined in such Written
Certificate that the Revenues may not be so sufficient, the Commissioner of Public Works of the City shall forthwith make a study
for the purpose of determining a schedule of Sewerage Service Charges which, in the opinion of the Commissioner of Public
Works, will cause sufficient Revenues to be collected in the following Fiscal Year to comply with such rate covenant described in
paragraph (A) above and will cause additional Revenues to be collected in such following and later Fiscal Years sufficient to
eliminate the amount of any deficiency at the earliest practicable time, or the Commissioner of Public Works may elect to cause
the Consulting Engineer to make such a study and render such opinion. The Common Council of the City shall as promptly as
practicable but no later than the one hundred twenty (120) days following such determination by the Commissioner of Public
Works, or receipt of the Consulting Engineer's recommendation, adopt and place in effect a schedule of Sewerage Service Charges
as described in this paragraph (B).



Service to the City

The reasonable cost and value of services rendered to the City by the Sewerage System by furnishing sewer services for public
purposes, shall be charged against the City and shall be paid by it in quarterly installments as the service accrues, out of the
current revenues of the City collected or in the process of collection, exclusive of the revenues derived from the Sewerage
System and out of the tax levy of the City made by it to raise money to meet its necessary current expenses. It is found and
determined in the Bond Resolution that the reasonable cost and value of such service to the City in each Fiscal Year shall be
the amount necessary in the Fiscal Year which, together with the other revenues of the Sewerage System, will produce Net
Revenues in each Fiscal Year equal to not less than 1.00 times the maximum aggregate Debt Service on the Bonds then
outstanding plus 1.00 times the aggregate Support Facility Reimbursement Obligations then outstanding. However, such
payment out of the tax levy shall be subject to (a) approval of the Public Service Commission, or successors to its function, if
necessary, (b) yearly appropriations therefor and (c) applicable levy limitations, if any; but neither the Bond Resolution nor
such payment shall be construed as constituting an obligation of the City to make any such appropriation over and above the
reasonable cost and value of services rendered to the City and its inhabitants or make any subsequent payment over and above
such reasonable cost and value. Such compensation for such service rendered to the City shall, in the manner provided above,
be paid into the Revenue Fund created by the Bond Resolution.

FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS

Establishment of Funds and Accounts

(A) There is created under the Bond Resolution a special fund known as the "Sewerage System Revenue Fund” (the
“Revenue Fund") into which all Revenues collected by the City have been and shall be deposited, from which the Revenues
shall be appropriated and expended for operating expenses of the Sewerage System, other purposes of the Sewerage System,
and in which certain working capital and operating reserves for purposes of the Sewerage System have been and shall be
maintained. The Revenue Fund shall be considered to be a fund held under the Bond Resolution for purposes of the pledge
made in Bond Resolution.

(B) There are created and established under the Bond Resolution the following additional funds of the City to be maintained
so long as any Bonds are outstanding:

03] Operation and Maintenance Fund;
@ Rebate Fund;

3) Sewerage System Special Redemption Fund (the "Special Redemption Fund") and Reserve Account
therein,;

“4) Subordinate Obligation Fund; and
3 Surplus Fund.

The Operation and Maintenance Fund, the Sewerage System Special Redemption Fund and Reserve Account therein and the
Surplus Fund shall be considered to be funds held under the Bond Resolution for purposes of the pledge made in the Bond
Resolution.

(C) There is also created a special fund known as the "Sewerage System Construction Fund" (the "Construction Fund") into
which the proceeds of revenue bonds of the City issued to pay the costs of improvements specified to be expended from such
Fund. The Construction Fund shall be considered to be a fund held under the Bond Resolution for purposes of the pledge made
in the Bond Resolution.



Flow of Funds

(A) From and after the time of delivery of the Series 2001 Bonds executed and delivered under the Bond Resolution, revenues
shall be collected by the City and deposited, as soon as practicable, into the Revenue Fund. From the amounts deposited in the
Revenue Fund, the City shall transfer to the Operation and Maintenance Fund sufficient moneys to pay the current operation
and maintenance expenses of the Sewerage System, transfer to the Rebate Fund such amount as is necessary to pay the rebate
amount due the United States Treasury Department under Section 148 of the Code, if any, or to set aside as a reserve for such
payment and make the transfers to other Funds and Accounts as provided in subsection (B) of Section 6.02 of the Bond
Resolution.

(B) In each month, the City, after making the transfer, if any, to the Operating and Maintenance Expenses for such month
and setting aside an amount sufficient to pay the Operating and Maintenance Expenses expected to be incurred for the balance
of such month and making the transfer, if any, to the Rebate Fund as provided in the Bond Resolution, shall retain, apply or
transfer on the fifth (5th) day prior to the end of each month, unless otherwise described below, a sufficient amount of moneys
in the Revenue Fund in the following order of priority:

(1) To the Special Redemption Fund, if and to the extent required so that the balance therein shall equal
the Accrued Debt Service for all Bonds outstanding and the interest accrued on all Bond Anticipation Notes
outstanding on said date;

2) To the Reserve Account in the Special Redemption Fund, if and to the extent required by a Series
Resolution either (i) an amount such that the balance in the Reserve Account shall equal the Reserve Account
Requirement on said date, or (i) an amount such that if the same amount were deposited in each month the amount of
any deficiency in the Reserve Account shall be eliminated at the end of the twelfth (12th) month following the first
credit;

3) In the Revenue Fund, a reasonable and necessary amount for working capital and operating
reserves;

4) To the Subordinate Obligation Fund, the amount, if any, required to be deposited in such Fund
pursuant to the resolution authorizing issuance of the Subordinate Obligations payable from such Fund; and

5) To the Surplus Fund, such amounts as shall remain in the Revenue Fund.

(C)  All reasonable and necessary Operation and Maintenance Expenses shall be paid from the Operation and Maintenance
Fund as the same become due and payable and, except for the Rebate Fund, prior to any transfer or payment to other funds and
accounts set forth therein.

(D) The City may, if provided in a Series Resolution authorizing the Bonds of a Series, directly pay out of the Revenue Fund

reimbursements to Support Facility Providers whose Support Facilities have been drawn upon, after payments have been made
to the Special Redemption Fund.
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ADDITIONAL BONDS

Conditions for the Issuance of Parity Bonds Other Than Refunding Bonds Hereunder

(A) One or more Series of Bonds, exclusive of Refunding Bonds issued pursuant to Section 3.05 of the Bond Resolution, may
be issued at any time and from time to time for any lawful use or purpose relating to the Sewerage System, including, without
limitation, payment of all or a portion of the Costs of Improvements, but only upon compliance as to each such Series with the
provisions of Section 3.03 of the Bond Resolution and provision of the following documents or moneys or securities:

1) A certified copy of the Series Resolution authorizing the issuance of the Bonds of such Series.

@) If any Bonds of such Series are Option Bonds, a Support Facility in such an amount as would
provide sufficient moneys for the purchase or redemption of all Option Bonds of such Series if the Holders thereof
elected to tender for purchase or redemption the entire Aggregate Outstanding Principal amount of the Option Bonds
of such Series.

3) An opinion of Bond Counsel to the effect that: (a) the Bond Resolution, including the applicable
Series Resolution authorizing the Series of Bonds, has been duly and lawfully adopted by the Common Counrcil of the
City and is a valid and legally binding instrument of the City, enforceable in accordance with the terms thereof; (b) the
Bond Resolution creates a valid pledge and lien which it purports to create of the Net Revenues, moneys, securities
and funds held or set aside under the Bond Resolution, subject to the application thereof to the purposes and on the
terms and conditions permitted by the Bond Resolution; and (c) the Bonds of such Series are valid and legally binding
limited special obligations of the City, enforceable in accordance with the terms thereof, are entitled to the benefits of
the Bond Resolution and the Act, have been duly and validly authorized, issued and authenticated in accordance with
law and the Bond Resolution, and do not violate the provisions of the Bond Resolution.

“4) Either (I) a Written Certificate of an Authorized Officer of the City based: (i) on audited figures or
(ii) to the extent audited figures are not available, on figures taken by an independent certified public accountant from
the City’s books and records, showing that the Net Revenues for: (a) the most recent Fiscal Year, or (b) any
consecutive twelve (12) month period out of twenty-four (24) months immediately preceding the month in which such
Bonds are issued were not less than the greater of: (x) the sum of (1) the maximum Aggregate Debt Service on all
Bonds then outstanding and on the proposed Series of Bonds in any Fiscal Year and the twelve (12) month period
selected and (2) the Required Deposits for such Fiscal Year or the twelve (12) month period selected; and (y) 1.20
times the maximum Aggregate Debt Service on all Bonds then Outstanding and on the proposed Series of Bonds in
any Fiscal Year and the twelve (12) month period selected, plus 1.20 times the aggregate Support Facility
Reimbursement Obligations outstanding as of the date of the Written Certificate of the City, or (II) a Written
Certificate of an authorized officer of the city or certificate of the Consulting Engineer that the Net Revenues to be
derived in each of the five (5) Fiscal Years following the earlier of: (i) the end of the period during which interest is
capitalized or, if no interest is to be capitalized, the Fiscal Year in which the proposed Series of Bonds are issued, and
(ii) the date on which substantially all improvements to be financed with the proceeds of the proposed Series of Bonds
are expected to commence operations, or, if the proceeds of such Series of Bonds will not be used to fund the costs of
improvements, the Fiscal Year in which the proposed Series of Bonds are issued, are estimated to be not less than the
greater of: (x) the sum of (1) the maximum Aggregate Debt Service on all Bonds then Qutstanding and on the
proposed Series of Bonds in any such Fiscal Year, and (2) the Required Deposits for any such Fiscal Year; and (y)
1.20 times the maximum Aggregate Debt Service on all Bonds then Outstanding and on the proposed Series of Bonds
in any such Fiscal Year, plus 1.20 times the aggregate Support Facility Reimbursement Obligations outstanding as of
the date of such Written Certificate of the City or Certificate of the Consulting Engineer, as the case may be (the
" Additional Bonds Requirement").

(5) Such further documents, moneys and securities as are required by the provisions of any Series
Resolution.

(6) The provisions of paragraph (4) of subsection (A) of Section 3.04 of the Bond Resolution shall not

apply to the initial Series of Bonds issued pursuant to the Bond Resolution, unless or except as is otherwise set forth in
the Series Resolution authorizing the issuance thereof.
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(B) In determining Debt Service on Variable Rate Bonds then Outstanding and Variable Rate Bonds then proposed to be
issued for purposes of the Additional Bonds Requirement, the interest rate shall be calculated as: (i) if any Variable Rate Bonds
are then Outstanding and have been Outstanding for at least twenty-four (24) months, the highest average interest rate borne by

such Variable Rate Bonds for any 30-day period, or (ii) if no such Variable Rate Bonds are then Outstanding, the Revenue
Bond Index at the time of calculation.

~ Refunding Bonds

(A) The City by means of a Series Resolution adopted in compliance with the provisions of Section 3.03 of the Bond
Resolution may issue a Series of Refunding Bonds at any time for the purpose of refunding (including by purchase) at any time
all or any portion of Bonds Outstanding, including amounts to pay principal, redemption premium and interest to the date of
maturity or redemption (or purchase) and the expense of issuing the refunding bonds and of effecting such refunding; provided,
however, that the provisions of subsection (A) of Section 3.04 of the Bond Resolution shall be complied with upon the issuance
of such Series; provided, further, however, that clause (4) of subsection (A) of Section 3.04 of the Bond Resolution need not be
complied with if the Refunding Bonds proposed to be issued do not mature later than the Bonds to be refunded and Debt
Service in any Fiscal Year on the Refunding Bonds proposed to be issued does not exceed Debt Service in any Fiscal Year on
the Bonds to be refunded by more than ten percent (10%).

B) The City by means of a Series Resolution adopted in compliance with the provisions of Section 3.03 of the Bond
Resolution may issue a Series of Refunding Bonds at any time for the purpose of refunding (including by purchase) at any time
all or any portion of outstanding Subordinate Obligations, including amounts to pay principal, redemption premium and
interest to the date of maturity or redemption (or purchase) and the expense of issuing the Refunding Bonds and of effecting
such refunding; provided, however, that the provisions of subsection (A) of Section 3.04 of the Bond Resolution shall be
complied with upon the issuance of such Series.

< The proceeds of the Refunding Bonds of each Series issued pursuant to Section 3.05 of the Bond Resolution shall be

applied for the purposes of making deposits in such Funds and Accounts under the Bond Resolution and shall be applied to the
refunding purposes thereof as shall be provided by the Series Resolution authorizing such Refunding Bonds.

Bond Anticipation Notes

Bond anticipation notes ("Bond Anticipation Notes") may be issued by the City at such time as the City shall have by a Series
Resolution duly adopted authorized the issuance thereof. The principal of such Bond Anticipation Notes may be paid from the
proceeds of such Bond Anticipation Notes (or any renewal thereof) or from the proceeds of the Bonds in anticipation of which
such Bond Anticipation Notes were issued.

Subordinate Obligations

(A) The City may at any time or from time to time, issue evidences of indebtedness payable out of, and which may be
secured by a pledge of, such amounts in the Subordinate Obligation Fund as may from time to time be available for the purpose
of payment thereof. The City may, by resolution, provide for various priorities in the liens and pledges securing Subordinate
Obligations, and nothing in the Bond Resolution shall be construed so as to require that the payment of, or pledges securing,
Subordinate Obligations be on a parity.

B) Any issue of Subordinate Obligations may have such rank or priority with respect to any other issue of Subordinate

Obligations as may be provided in the resolution securing such issue of Subordinate Obligations and may contain such other
provisions as are not in conflict with the provisions of the Bond Resolution
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THE SEWERAGE SYSTEM

History of Utility

The Milwaukee Sewerage System traces its history back to the 1860’s. The City’s Sewerage System consists of three types of
sewers: combined, sanitary and storm, all located within the boundaries of the City of Milwaukee. Combined sewers collect both
wastewater from homes and businesses and storm runoff water in a single pipe and convey this flow to an intercepting sewer
operated by the Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District (MMSD). Sanitary sewers collect only wastewater from homes and
businesses and convey this flow to an intercepting sewer operated by the MMSD. The intercepting sewers convey the flow to area
treatment plants. Storm sewers collect only storm runoff water and convey this flow to rivers, streams, etc.

Combined sewers serve approximately 35 square miles of the City and separate sanitary and storm sewers serve approximately
60.8 square miles. It should be noted that a few of the City’s sewers run through a portion of adjacent communities in order to
connect to an intercepting sewer or to outlet into a river. In addition, some property in other communities that is adjacent to a
common boundary to the City may receive service from City facilities if it is not available from their own community.

General Information

The City of Milwaukee’s Sewerage System consists of a network of combined, sanitary and storm sewers and other facilities
necessary to collect wastewater from homes and businesses and storm water runoff from City streets and other surfaces. The
City’s Sewerage System then conveys this flow to the intercepting sewerage system operated by the Milwaukee Metropolitan
Sewerage District. In addition to the sewer pipes, the City’s Sewerage System also includes a variety of lift stations, pumps,
detention basins, storm water inlets and catch basins, storage and operating facilities required to efficiently perform this
conveyance function.

For the most part, the sewers use gravity to move the flow downstream. In a few areas of the City, the existing intercepting sewers
and slope of the land does not allow only the use of gravity to move the flow. In five locations, there have been installed pump
stations to lift flow from a low point up to a point where it can continue to flow by gravity. Two of the lift stations are along the
lakefront, one is on the east side of the City and two are located on the far northwest side of the City.

Eighty-three by-pass pumps are installed in the sanitary sewers. The by-pass pumps operate in extreme wet weather, discharging

excess flow from the sanitary sewers to either a storm sewer (79 locations) or directly to an intercepting sewer (4 locations).
These by-pass pumps were installed to prevent sanitary sewers from backing up into homes during extreme wet weather.

Types of Sewers

Miles of Sewers

<=21" 21" Diameter < and > => 54"

Type of Sewer Total Diameter 54 Diameter Diameter

Combined 547 305 176 66

Sanitary 932 920 12 1

Storm 950 637 239 74

Age of Sewers (in Miles)
26 t0 51 years to 76 years to

Type of Sewer <26 Years 50 years 75 years 100 years >100 Years Total
Combined 120 86 64 135 142 547
Sanitary 114 478 288 51 — 931
Storm _10 _546 278 _56 — _950
TOTAL 304 1110 630 242 142 2428
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Need for Improvements

The City continuously evaluates the condition of the Sewerage System and schedules projects to replace portions of the
Sewerage System that are no longer functioning adequately. The City is working to identify and remove the sources of
infiltration and inflow, or clear water that allow this water to enter the sanitary Sewerage System. This additional flow can
result in bypasses from the sanitary Sewerage System. In addition, the City operates under a Wisconsin Department of Natural
Resources’ Storm Water Discharge Permit, which requires the City to address water quality by reducing pollutants washing off
streets and other impervious surfaces.

CUSTOMER DATA

Milwaukee Sewer System customers are categorized into four classifications: residential (including single-family and duplexes),
commercial, industrial and government. A summary of each classification is listed below:

Customer 2000 Billings Number of Accounts

Classification Amount Percent Amount Percent
Residential $7,141,567 49.5% 127,864 89.9
Commercial 4,903,970 34.0 12,594 8.9
Industrial 1,706,048 11.8 1,243 1.0
Government 685,998 4.7 498 0.2
TOTAL $14,437,583 100% 142,199 100%

Largest Users

Below is a profile of the Milwaukee Sewer System’s 15 largest customers for the year 2000.

Billing as
Usage (100 Percent of
Customer cubic feet) Billing Total Billed
Miller Brewing 2,191,699 $565,925 3.9%
Milwaukee County 1,003,730 342,222 24
Red Star Yeast 2,343,069 319,548 2.2
Wisconsin Electric 627910 285,448 2.0
Milwaukee Public Schools 538,748 244915 1.7
Emmber Foods 421,901 166,863 12
UWM 369,649 162,161 1.1
Master Lock 251,310 114,246 0.8
Tower Automotive 362,576 93,787 0.7
Marquette University 219,418 85,085 0.6
Metropolitan 185,045 84,121 0.6
Veterans Administration 200,582 83,069 0.6
St. Lukes Hospital 261,407 79,026 0.6
S.E. Wis Products 209,552 78,401 0.5
Allen Bradley 162,717 73,453 0.5
TOTAL $9,349,313 $2,778,270 19.3%

Source: City of Milwaukee, Department of Public Works.
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History of Usage and Total Billings

The following are the historical billed amounts for the fifteen largest Sewer Fund customers for 1998 and 1999.

Customer 1998 Billed 1999 Billed
Amount Amount
Miller Brewing $238,145 $318,418
Milwaukee County 196,449 234,644
Red Star Yeast 132,195 178,093
Wisconsin Electric 126,091 167,320
Milwaukee Public Schools 124,651 135,289
Allen Bradley 98,856 85,211
UWM 95,472 108,305
Emmber Foods 73,234 95,575
Master Lock 62,209 73,797
Tower Automotive 61,604 73,698
St. Lukes Hospital 46,382 56,552
S.E. Wis Products 44,319 53,680
Marquette University 43,835 51,117
Metropolitan 37,382 46,251
Veterans Administration 37,013 46,958
Total $1,417,837 $1,724,908

Rate Information

The rate for the City of Milwaukee Sewer Maintenance Fee is based upon actual water consumption. Water consumption acts
as a proxy for the amount of water returned to the Sewerage System. To account for the fact that not all water consumed is
returned to the Sewerage System, several adjustments are made to account for non-sewer related water consumption.

Residential water consumption is based upon actual consumption adjusted for historical winter quarter consumption, which
tends to more accurately reflect the amount of water actually returned to the Sewerage System. This compensates for water
consumed by residential users that does not return to the Sewerage System.

Industrial and commercial properties can modify their consumption amount through a certification process, which adjusts
consumption to more accurately reflect the amount of water actually returned to the Sewerage System. The certification
process is similar to that used by the Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District (“MMSD"), except that the City’s certification
process does not include MMSD’s measure of sewerage strength. This measure does not apply to the City’s sewer
maintenance expenses, as the strength of sewerage has no impact on the operational cost of sewer maintenance.

After identifying water consumption, the sewer rate is calculated by dividing total sewer maintenance costs by total adjusted
water usage. This yields a rate per 100 cubic feet of water consumed. This rate is then multiplied by an individual’s property’s
actual adjusted water usage to determine its sewer maintenance fee. The same rate is applied to all property classifications.

Sewer Fund costs include operating, maintenance, capital improvement and debt service costs for the City’s Sewerage System,
as well as a contingency fund to cover unanticipated expenses and administrative costs for the City of Milwaukee Water Works
(the City’s water utility, which records the actual billing and collection information, revises the fee amounts as necessary, and
provides customer service).

The 2000 budgeted Sewer Fee rate was $0.4546 per 100 cubic feet of water consumed. This translated into an average annual
residential fee of $48.44. The 2000 Sewer Fund budget was the first to include capital maintenance costs in addition to
operating and maintenance costs. The 2000 City Budget transferred the Relief and Relay Sewer capital program to the Sewer
Fund because this program funds on-going capital maintenance and preservation of the City’s Sewerage System. In order to
finance this capital program, the Sewer Fund budget and rate increased. Other factors influencing the increase in the 2000
Sewer rate included inflationary cost increases, declining water consumption, increases in equipment rental expenses, and
funding of a mandatory Sanitary Manhole Rehabilitation project required by MMSD.
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The 2001 budgeted Sewer Fee rate is $0.5401 per 100 cubic feet of water. This translates into an average annual residential fee
of $54.89. The 2001 Sewer Fund budget includes operating, maintenance and capital costs. In addition to inflationary cost
increases, the 2001 Sewer rate increase was the result of decreased water consumption, expanded infiltration and inflow efforts
resulting from a mandate from MMSD, increased contingency funds, increased capital debt service costs, and initial
implementation of a capital cash conversion policy. This policy aims at the gradual increase in cash financing of annual sewer
repair and replacement capital needs with a proportional decrease in annual revenue bond financing. A cash conversion policy
is being implemented for the Sewer Maintenance Fund’s capital program in order to realize long-term savings by avoiding
unnecessarily high debt service costs.

Average Residential Billing

The following includes historical average residential billings.

Actual Billing

Year (Total Residential)

1998 $26.89

1999 $35.55

2000 $55.66

2001 $64.79*
*Estimated billing

Source: City of Milwaukee Departmen: of Administration, Budget and Management Division.

Collection and Billing

Sewer maintenance charges are billed by the Milwaukee Water Works on a combined Municipal Services statement. These
charges are based on consumption. Charges for Water Service, Sewer Treatment and Solid Waste are also included on the
statement. Approximately 97% of the statements are billed on a quarterly basis with the remaining accounts billed monthly.
All accounts are given 21 days to pay the bill to avoid late fees. If payments are late, a quarterly 3% late payments penalty will
be charged. In October of each year, accounts that are two or more quarters delinquent will have their arrears placed on the
property tax roll and billed to properties, including a 10% delinquency penalty.

The order of partial payments is dictated by the City of Milwaukee Ordinance Section 309-54-8.b. This directs application in

the following order: Water Works (Fund 0410); Metropolitan Sewerage District Sewer User/Treatment (Fund 0460); Sewer
Maintenance (Fund 0490); and Solid Waste Charge (Fund 0470).
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SEWERAGE SYSTEM REVENUE BOND INDEBTEDNESS

The City’s Sewerage System projected revenue debt relating to the Series 2001 Bonds is shown below. The City has no other
outstanding revenue debt related to its Sewerage System. Set forth below are principal and interest payments based on an average
interest rate of 4.84% on the Series 2001 Bonds.

Year Principal Interest Total

2002 — $1,357,284 $1,357,284
2003 $1,000,000 1,339,784 2,339,784
2004 1,035,000 1,304,171 2,339,171
2005 1,080,000 1,259,059 2,339,059
2006 1,135,000 1,203,684 2,338,684
2007 1,190,000 1,152,996 2,342,996
2008 1,235,000 1,105,984 2,340,984
2009 1,285,000 1,055,584 2,340,584
2010 1,340,000 1,003,084 2,343,084
2011 1,395,000 948,384 2,343,384
2012 1,450,000 891,484 2,341,484
2013 1,520,000 822,584 2,342,584
2014 1,600,000 740,684 2,340,684
2015 1,685,000 654,452 2,339,452
2016 1,775,000 563,627 2,338,627
2017 1,875,000 466,643 2,341,643
2018 1,970,000 369,957 2,339,957
2019 2,070,000 273,206 2,343,206
2020 2,170,000 168,500 2,338,500
2021 2,285,000 57,125 2,342,125

$29.095,000  $16,738,276 $45,833,276

Future Financing

The capital financed needs to be supported by revenue bonding include only repair and replacement of existing City Sewerage
System facilities. Any expansion of the Sewerage System financed through bonding is currently financed through issuance of the
City’s general obligation bonds, and any future expansion is expected to be financed in this manner. The Series 2001 Bonds
represent approximately two years (2000 and 2001) of revenue bond financed capital needs of the Sewerage System.

The City expects to spend from $12,000,000-$18,000,000 annually for Sewerage System repair and replacement needs, with
$11,000,000-$16,000,000 of this amount to be financed annually through revenue bonds.
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SEWER MAINTANANCE FUND
RESTATED BALANCE SHEET

DECEMBER 31, 2000 (Unaudited)
(Thousands of Dollars)

ASSETS

Cash and investments
Receivables (net)

Accounts $

Unbilled Accounts
Due from other funds
Inventory of materials and supplies
Prepaid items
Machinery and equipment
Furniture and furnishings
Infrastructure
Construction work in progress
Accumulated depreciation

Total Assets 3

LIABILITIES AND FUND EQUITY

Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued wages
Due to other funds
Bond anticipation notes payable

Total Liabilities $
Fund Equity
Contributed capital 3
Retained earnings
Unreserved
Total Fund Equity A
Total Liabilities and Fund Equity $

Source: Office of the Comptroller, City of Milwaukee.
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5,326
1,392
212

3

6

852

146
261,955
2,312

(81,837)

190,367

1,672
599
1,897
6,258
10,426

178,410

1,531

179,941

190,367



SEWER MAINTENANCE FUND
RESTATED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND
CHANGES IN RETAINED EARNINGS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000 (Unaudited)

(Thousands of Dollars)
Operating Revenues
Charges for Services

Sewer maintenance fee 3 15,582

Operating Expenses
Employee services 5,585
Depreciation 3,064
Services, supplies and materials 5,529
Total Operating Expenses 3 14,178
Operating income (Loss) $ 1,404

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

Interest expense $ (124)
Net income (Loss) $ 1,280
Retained Earnings (Deficit) - January 1 251
Retained Earnings (Deficit) - December 31 $ 1,531

Source: Office of the Comptroller, City of Milwaukee.
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RESTATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000 (Unaudited)
(Thousands of Dollars)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income 3 1,404
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income to Cash Provided by (Used for)
Operating Activities

Depreciation 3,064
(Increase) decrease in receivables (2,922)
(Increase) decrease in due from other funds (104)
(Increase) decrease in inventory of materials and supplies 3)
(Increase) decrease in prepaid items 2)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 1,532
Increase (decrease) in accrued wages 100
Increase (decrease) in due to other funds (1,086)

Net Cash Provided by (used for) Operating Activities $ 1,983

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from bond anticipation notes $ 6,258
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (8,117)
Interest paid (124)
Net Cash Provided by (used for) Capital and Related Financing Activities  $ (1,983)

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 3 -
Cash and Cash Equivalents at January 1 b3 -
Cash and Cash Equivalents at December 31 $ -

Non-cash Activities:

During the year, various furniture, furnishings, machinery and equipment of $372,000 were donated to the Sewer Maintenance
Fund from general fund departments.

Source: Office of the Comptroller, City of Milwaukee.
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SEWER MAINTENANCE FUND
DISTRIBUTION OF MAJOR ASSETS

DECEMBER 31, 2000

Pipelines $99,646,816
Junction Chambers 26,683,250
Manholes/Catch Basins/etc. 53,971,721
TOTAL $180.301,787

City of Milwaukee

Sewer Maintenance Fund
December 31, 2000
Pipelines
Manholes/Catch Basins 55%
30% $99,647,000

$53,972,000

N\

Junction Chambers
15%
$26,683,000

Source: American Appraisal Associates.
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SEWER MAINTENANCE FUND
PRrRO FORMA OPERATIONS & DEBT SERVICE-LEVEL DEBT SERVICE

[#¢

(Dolars in Thousands)
2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006
Operating Revenues $18,8504 $27,074.4 $28,950.0  $29,100.0 $31,600.0 $34,3459
Operating Expenses* $14,191.5 $21,3144 $20,713.9  $19,015.7 $19,527.2  $20,053.6
Net Income Available for Debt Service $4,659.0 $5,760.0 $8,236.1 $10,084.3 $12,072.8 $14,2924
Maximum Annual Debt Service (2001 Issue) $2,343 .4 $3,815.4 $5,259.2 $6,821.3 $8,352.9
Debt Service Coverage 2.46X 2.16X 1.92X 1.77X 1.71X
Minimum Debt Service Coverage 1.20X 1.20X 1.20X 1.20X 1.20X
Sewer Charge Rates (per hundred cubic feet) 0.8329** 0.9081 0.9221 1.0128 1.1134

*  Excludes Depreciation and taxes.
**  Adopted Budget.



TAX STATUS

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under existing statutes and court decisions and assuming continuing compliance with certain tax
covenants described herein, interest on the Series 2001 Bonds is excluded from gross income for Federal income tax purposes
pursuant to Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code™) and is not treated as a preference item in
calculating the alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations under the Code; such interest, however, is
included in the adjusted current earnings of certain corporations for purposes of calculating the alternative minimum tax imposed
on such corporations. In rendering their opinion, Bond Counsel has relied on certain representations, certifications of fact, and
statements of reasonable expectations made by the City and others in connection with the Series 2001 Bonds and Bond Counsel
has assumed compliance by the City with certain ongoing covenants to comply with applicable requirements of the Code to assure
the exclusion of interest on the Series 2001 Bonds from gross income under Section 103 of the Code.

Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any other Federal or state tax consequences with respect to the Series 2001 Bonds.
Bond Counsel renders their opinion under existing statutes and court decisions as of the issue date, and assumes no obligation to
update their opinion after the issue date to reflect any future action, fact or circumstance, or change in law or interpretation, or
otherwise. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion on the effect of any action hereafter taken or not taken in reliance upon an opinion
of other counsel on the exclusion from gross income for Federal income tax purposes of interest on the Series 2001 Bonds.

Certain Ongoing Federal Tax Requirements and Covenants

The Code establishes certain significant ongoing requirements that must be met subsequent to the issuance and delivery of the
Series 2001 Bonds in order that interest on the Series 2001 Bonds be and remain excluded from gross income under Section
103 of the Code. These requirements include, but are not limited to, requirements relating to use and expenditure of gross
proceeds of the Series 2001 Bonds, yield and other restrictions on investments of gross proceeds, and the arbitrage rebate
requirement that certain excess earnings on gross proceeds be rebated to the Federal government. Noncompliance with such
requirements may cause interest on the Series 2001 Bonds to become included in gross income for Federal income tax
purposes retroactive to their issue date, irrespective of the date on which such noncompliance occurs or is discovered. The City
has covenanted to comply with certain applicable requirements of the Code to assure the exclusion of interest on the Series
2001 Bonds from gross income under Section 103 of the Code.

Certain Collateral Federal Tax Consequences

The following is a brief discussion of certain collateral Federal income tax matters with respect to the Series 2001 Bonds. It
does not purport to address all aspects of Federal taxation that may be relevant to a particular owner of a Series 2001 Bond.
Prospective investors, particularly those who may be subject to special rules, are advised to consult their own tax advisors
regarding the Federal tax consequences of owning and disposing of the Series 2001 Bonds.

Prospective owners of the Series 2001 Bonds should be aware that the ownership of such obligations may result in collateral
Federal income tax consequences to various categories of persons, such as corporations (including S corporations and foreign
corporations), financial institutions, property and casualty and life insurance companies, individual recipients of Social
Security and railroad retirement benefits, individuals otherwise eligible for the earned income tax credit, and taxpayers deemed
to have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or carry obligations the interest on which is not included in gross
income for Federal income tax purposes. Interest on the Series 2001 Bonds may be taken into account in determining the tax
liability of foreign corporations subject to the branch profits tax imposed by Section 884 of the Code.

Legislation affecting municipal bonds is regularly proposed. There can be no assurance that legislation enacted or proposed by
the United States Congress after the date of issuance of the Series 2001 Bonds will not have an adverse effect on the tax-
exempt status or market price of the Series 2001 Bonds. '

Original Issue Discount

"Original issue discount" (OID") is the excess of the sum of all amounts payable at the stated maturity of a Series 2001 Bond
(excluding certain "qualified stated interest" that is unconditionally payable at least annually at prescribed rates) over the issue
price of that maturity. In general, the "issue price” of a maturity means the first price at which a substantial amount of the
Series 2001 Bonds of that maturity was sold (excluding sales to bond houses, brokers, or similar persons acting in the capacity
as underwriters, placement agents, or wholesalers). In general, the issue price for each maturity of Series 2001 Bonds is
expected to be the initial public offering price set forth on the cover page of this Official Statement. Bond Counsel further is of
the opinion that, for any Series 2001 Bonds having OID (a "Discount Bond"), OID that has accrued and is properly allocable to
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the owners of the Discount Bonds under Section 1288 of the Code is excludable from gross income for Federal income tax
purposes to the same extent as other interest on the Series 2001 Bonds.

In general, under Section 1288 of the Code, OID on a Discount Bond accrues under a constant yield method, based on periodic
compounding of interest over prescribed accrual periods using a compounding rate determined by reference to the yield on that
Discount Bond. An owner’s adjusted basis in a Discount Bond is increased by accrued OID for purposes of determining gain
or loss on sale, exchange, or other disposition of such Series 2001 Bond. Accrued OID may be taken into account as an

- increase in the amount of tax-exempt income received or deemed to have been received for purposes of determining various

other tax consequences of owning a Discount Bond even though there will not be a corresponding cash payment.

Owners of Discount Bonds should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the treatment of original issue discount for
Federal income tax purposes, including various special rules relating thereto, and the state and local tax consequences of
acquiring, holding, and disposing of Discount Bonds.

Bond Premium

In general, if an owner acquires a Series 2001 Bond for a purchase price {excluding accrued interest) or otherwise at a tax basis
that reflects a premium over the sum of all amounts payable on the Series 2001 Bond after the acquisition date (excluding
certain “qualified stated interest” that is unconditionally payable at least annually at prescribed rates), that premium constitutes
"bond premium"” on that Series 2001 Bond (a ‘“Premium Bond”). In general, under Section 171 of the Code, an owner of a
Premium Bond must amortize the bond premium over the remaining term of the Premium Bond, based on the owner’s yield
over the remaining term of the Premium Bond, determined based on constant yield principles. An owner of a Premium Bond
must amortize the bond premium by offsetting the qualified stated interest allocable to each interest accrual period under the
owner’s regular method of accounting against the bond premium allocable to that period. In the case of a tax-exempt Premium
Bond, if the bond premium allocable to an accrual period exceeds the qualified stated interest allocable to that accrual period,
the excess is a nondeductible loss. Under certain circumstances, the owner of a Premium Bond may realize a taxable gain upon
disposition of the Premium Bond even though it is sold or redeemed for an amount less than or equal to the owner’s original
acquisition cost. Owners of any Premium Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regarding the treatment of bond
premium for Federal income tax purposes, including various special rules relating thereto, and state and local tax
consequences, in connection with the acquisition, ownership, amortization of bond premium on, sale, exchange, or other
disposition of Premium Bonds.

State Tax Matters

Interest on the Series 2001 Bonds is not exempt from State of Wisconsin income tax or franchise tax.

NO DESIGNATION AS QUALIFIED TAX-EXEMPT OBLIGATIONS

The Issuer will not designate the Series 2001 Bonds as “qualified tax-exempt obligations™ for purposes of Section 265 (b)(3) of
the Code relating to the ability of certain financial institutions (within the meaning of Section 265(b)(5) of the Code) to deduct
from income for federal income tax purposes, 80% of the interest expense that is allocable to carrying and acquiring tax-exempt
obligations.

RULE 15c2-12 AMENDMENTS

On November 10, 1994, the Securities and Exchange Commission adopted in final form certain amendments (the “Amendments”)
to Rule 15¢2-12 under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. In general, the Amendments prohibit an underwriter
from purchasing or selling municipal securities unless it has determined that the issuer of such securities has committed to provide
annually certain information, including audited financial information, and notice of various events described in the Amendments,
if material. The Amendments apply to municipal securities (such as the Series 2001 Bonds) sold on or after July 3, 1995. The
City will provide a Continuing Disclosure Certificate to the purchaser(s) of the Series 2001 Bonds. Said Certificate will constitute
a written agreement or contract of the City for the benefit of holders of and owners of beneficial interests in the Series 2001 Bonds
to provide: annual financial information for the City, including audited financial statements of the City for each fiscal year ending
on and after December 31, 2001, in a timely manner; notices of certain events with respect to the Series 2001 Bonds, if material,
including: principal and interest payment delinquencies; non-payment related defaults; unscheduled draws on debt service
reserves reflecting financial difficulties; unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; substitution of
credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; adverse tax opinions or events affecting the tax-exempt status of the Series
2001 Bonds; modifications to rights of security holders; bond calls; defeasances; release, substitution, or sale of property securing
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repayment of the Series 2001 Bonds and rating changes; and notice of any failure of the City to provide required annual financial
information with respect to the City not later than June 30, 2002 or any June 30 thereafter. The annual financial information
referred to above will be provided to each nationally recognized municipal securities information repository and to the appropriate
state information depository, if any. The notice of certain events referred to above will be provided to each nationally recognized
municipal securities information repository, to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board and to the appropriate state
information depository, if any. As of the date of this Official Statement, the following nationally recognized municipal securities
information repositories have been approved by the SEC: Bloomberg Municipal Repository; DPC Data Inc.; Standard & Poor’s
1.J. Kenny Repository and F.T. Interactive Data; no state information depository has been designated for the State of Wisconsin.
The continuing obligation to provide annual financial information and notices referred to above will terminate with respect to the
Series 2001 Bonds when the Series 2001 Bonds are no longer outstanding. Any failure by the City to comply with the foregoing
will not constitute a default with respect to the Series 2001 Bonds. The City has not failed to comply in any material respect with
any previous undertaking in a written contract agreement specified in the Amendments.

BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM

The Depository Trust Company ("DTC"), New York, NY, will act as securities depository for the Series 2001 Bonds. The
Series 2001 Bonds will be issued as fully-registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC's partnership
nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully-registered Bond
certificate will be issued for each maturity of the Series 2001 Bonds, in the aggregate principal amount of such maturity, and
will be deposited with DTC.

DTC is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a "banking organization” within the
meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a "clearing corporation” within the meaning
of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a "clearing agency" registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds securities that its participants ("Direct Participants") deposit with DTC. DTC
also facilitates the settlement among Direct Participants of securities transactions, such as transfers and pledges, in deposited
securities through electronic computerized book-entry changes in Direct Participants’ accounts, thereby eliminating the need
for physical movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust
companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is owned by a number of its Direct Participants and by
the New York Stock Exchange, Inc., the American Stock Exchange LLC, and the National Association of Securities Dealers,
Inc. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as securities brokers and dealers, banks, and trust companies that
clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly ("Indirect Participants").
The Rules applicable to DTC and its Direct and Indirect Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Purchases of Series 2001 Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive a
credit for the Series 2001 Bonds on DTC's records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Series 2001 Bond
("Beneficial Owner") is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants' records. Beneficial Owners will not receive
written confirmation from DTC of their purchase, but Beneficial Owners are expected to receive written confirmations providing
details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the
Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Series 2001 Bonds are to be accomplished
by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not
receive certificates representing their ownership interests in Series 2001 Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry
system for the Series 2001 Bonds is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Series 2001 Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the name of
DTC's partnership nominee, Cede & Co. or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The
deposit of Series 2001 Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other nominee do not effect any
change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Series 2001 Bonds; DTC's records
reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Series 2001 Bonds are credited, which may or may not
be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on
behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect Participants,
and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject
to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Beneficial Owners of Series 2001 Bonds may
wish to take certain steps to augment transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the Series 2001 Bonds,
such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments to the security documents.
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Beneficial Owners of Series 2001 Bonds may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the Series 2001 Bonds for their benefit
has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners, or in the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their
names and addresses to the registrar and request that copies of the notices be provided directly to them.

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Series 2001 Bonds within an issue are being redeemed, DTC’s
practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such issue to be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor such other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to the Series 2001 Bonds. Under its
usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to City as soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns
Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts the Series 2001 Bonds are credited on the
record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

Redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments on the Series 2001 Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., or such
other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’
accounts, upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from City on payable date in accordance with their
respective holdings shown on DTC'’s records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing
instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or
registered in "street name," and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, or City, subject to any statutory
or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of redemption proceeds, distributions, and
dividends to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the
responsibility of City, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants shall be the responsibility of DTC, and
disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners shall be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as securities depository with respect to the Series 2001 Bonds at any time by giving
reasonable notice to City. Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor securities depository is not obtained, Bond
certificates are required to be printed and delivered.

The City may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry transfers through DTC (or a successor securities depository).
In that event, Series 2001 Bond certificates will be printed and delivered.

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry system has been obtained from sources that the City
believes to be reliable, but the City takes no responsibility for the accuracy thereof.

NEITHER THE CITY NOR THE UNDERWRITER WILL HAVE ANY RESPONSIBILITY OR OBLIGATION TO
PARTICIPANTS, TO INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS OR TO ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER WITH RESPECT TO (1) THE
ACCURACY OF ANY RECORDS MAINTAINED BY DTC, ANY DTC PARTICIPANT OR ANY INDIRECT
PARTICIPANT; (2) THE PAYMENT BY DTC, ANY DTC PARTICIPANT OR ANY INDIRECT PARTICIPANT OF ANY
AMOUNT WITH RESPECT TO THE PRINCIPAL OF, PREMIUM, IF ANY, OR INTEREST ON THE OFFERED
OBLIGATIONS; (3) ANY NOTICE WHICH IS PERMITTED OR REQUIRED TO BE GIVEN TO HOLDERS OF THE
OFFERED OBLIGATIONS; (4) ANY CONSENT GIVEN BY DTC OR OTHER ACTION TAKEN BY DTC AS THE
HOLDER OF THE OFFERED OBLIGATIONS; OR (5) THE SELECTION BY DTC, ANY DTC PARTICIPANT OR ANY
INDIRECT PARTICIPANT OF ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER TO RECEIVE PAYMENT IN THE EVENT OF A PARTIAL
REDEMPTION OF SERIES 2001 BONDS.

LEGAL MATTERS

LITIGATION STATEMENT

The City, its boards, officers and employees have been defendants in numerous lawsuits over the years. Experience has shown
that a relatively small number of suits commenced are reduced to judgment. The City of Milwaukee does not carry a blanket
policy of insurance against tort liability. In addition, §893.80, Stats. limits the amount recoverable against a political
corporation, its officer, officials or employes for acts done in their official capacity to $50,000 in tort liability for non-
automobile cases and $250,000 in automobile cases.

The City Attorney's office has currently reviewed the status of pending or threatened litigation, claims and assessments to
which the office has devoted substantive attention in the form of legal consultation or representation and which individually
represent maximum potential loss exposure in excess of $1 million, existing on December 31, 2000 and from that date to
November 16, 2001.

26



Bradley DeBraska v. City of Milwaukee. This case involves all police officers that are represented by the Milwaukee Police
Association. The Association alleges the Milwaukee Police Department violated the Fair Labor Standards Act in regard to
compensatory time, time spent during roll call, commuting time, overtime, retaliation, disciplinary hearings, caring for canines,
and sick leave.

On December 1, 1997, the parties entered into a Stipulation resolving some of the matters in this litigation. The parties
thereupon filed cross-motions for summary judgment with respect to the remaining issues. On June 19, 1998, the Court issued
a Decision and Order granting summary judgment for the City on certain issues, summary judgment for the plaintiff on other
issues, and denying summary judgment to both parties on still other issues and ordering a trial thereon. Following rendition of
this Decision and Order, the parties entered into a Settlement Agreement resolving all issues on which either the plaintiff was
granted summary judgment, or upon which a trial had been ordered. The City and the Court have approved the Settiement
Agreement; the terms thereof have been implemented.

On November 19, 1998, the plaintiff appealed as to the issues upon which the City prevailed on summary judgment. On
September 2, 1999, the Seventh Circuit issued its decision in which it reversed the District Court’s determination of the
compensatory time issue in favor of the City and affirmed the District Court’s determinations in favor of the City on the
remaining issues presented by the appeal. The compensatory time issue was remanded to the District Court for consideration
on its merits. On September 26, 2000, the District Court ruled that the Department’s system for governing police officer access
to earned and accrued compensatory time-off balances violated the Act and directed further proceedings to determine damages
and other remedies to be awarded to the plaintiffs. In February 2001, the District Court ordered mediation of these issues with
a “target date” of July 1, 2001 for completion of mediation efforts. Settlement discussions have failed and the matter has been
returned to court for further proceedings.

James A. Rehrauer, et al. v. City of Milwaukee, et al. This action was filed on behalf of 68 retired firefighter plaintiffs
seeking to declare an ordinance implementing a judgment in an earlier case involving duty disability conversion invalid. The
plaintiffs sought a declaration that they are entitled to the highest conversion age in effect during their careers. Summary
judgment in favor of the City has been entered. The case has been settled by 64 of the 68 plaintiffs. Five plaintiffs appealed to
the Wisconsin Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals reversed. So far as we are able to determine three plaintiffs will be
impacted by the decision.

U.S. Department of Justice Pattern and Practice Investigation-Milwaukee Police Department. The Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) conducted a pattern and practice investigation from December 1993 to September 1996.

The investigation resulted in a finding of probable cause that the Fire and Police Commission (“FPC”) and Milwaukee Police
Department discriminated, based on race, in the areas of hiring, discipline, retaliation, and terms and conditions of
employment. The EEOC sought $5 million in total remedies for the class claims and nearly $2 million to the individual hiring
charging parties. Additionally, the EEOC requested remedies for the 15 individual “terms and conditions” charging parties in
an amount totaling over $2.5 million. The EEOC also sought an additional $1 million in compensation to the “terms and
conditions” class members. The 15 individual charges could become individual lawsuits if the charging parties request and
receive Right to Sue letters; however, we cannot anticipate with any accuracy at this time if, indeed, there will be individual
lawsuits, and if so, how many of the 15 individual charging parties will file a lawsuit. The EEOC referred the matter to the
United States Department of Justice (“DOJ”) in February 1997. The DOJ conducted a further, lengthy investigation and stated
by letter dated January 2, 2001 that suit has been authorized against the City of Milwaukee and the FPC on the basis of the
information provided by the EEOC and upon further information compiled by the DOJ since the matter was referred to them.
DOJ alleges that between 1991 and 1996, African-Americans were discriminated against in terms of differential and less
favorable treatment in the hiring process (failing background investigations), and in terms and conditions of employment such
as discipline, discharge, and assignment. The City has begun, and will continue to communicate with DOJ in an effort to
explore possible settlement. It is presently unknown whether settlement can or will be effectuated. DOJ is presently
requesting $6.15 million in compensatory damages for a class of 100 victims of discriminatory terms and conditions of
employment and an unspecified sum in back pay for a group of approximately 39 African-Americans who failed background
investigations. Back pay cannot be estimated at this time.

U.S. Department of Justice Investigation of Firefighter Selection Procedures (Brotherhood of Firefighters v. FPC). The
EEOC concluded an investigation into hiring and employment practices for the Milwaukee Fire Department based upon
charges filed by the Brotherhood of Firefighters dated October 30, 1996 and February 26, 1997. The charges alleged
discrimination on the basis of race (African-American) with respect to: 1) hiring; 2) promotion; 3) terms and conditions of
employment and 4) discipline. On December 10, 1999 the EEOC issued a Reasonable Cause Determination finding reasonable
cause to believe that Title VII had been violated with respect to the following: a) that Blacks as a class were discriminated
against in recruitment of firefighters and cadets; b) that the 1993 and 1995 written examinations for entry level firefighter
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positions were not properly validated and resulted in an adverse impact on the hiring of Blacks as firefighters; c) that the 1995
written examination for promotion to Fire Lieutenant was not properly validated and resulted in adverse impact on Blacks as a
class; and d) that Black candidates for Battalion Chief in 1996 were victims of discrimination as a class because they were
given ratings in the subjective, not properly validated selection process, which resulted in the cloistering of Black candidates in
the lower half of the eligibility list and fewer than expected promotions of Blacks to that position. The EEOC determined that
there was probable cause to believe discrimination had occurred. On October 4, 2000, over the City’s objections, the EEOC
failed the conciliation and referred the matter to the United States Department of Justice. The Department of Justice conducted
its own investigation of the charges as well as a like and related matter: the 1999 entry-level examination for firefighter. In
October, 2001, after several months of negotiations, the Department of Justice, the Brotherhood of Firefighters and the City
entered into a settlement agreement concerning the recruitment and hiring charges for Cadet and entry level firefighters, and
the 1993, 1995 and 1999 examinations. The settlement does not cover the promotional charges. The proposed Supplemental
Order will, if approved and entered by the Court, obligate the City of pay a total of $1.8 million in back pay, payable in three
annual instaliments of $600,000 each commencing in 2002. In addition, the City will contribute the employer portion of
Medicare Tax on the back pay award, and will provide up to 40 priority appointments of African Americans who were the
victims of past discrimination to the position of Firefighter, with retroactive seniority and pension benefits. The cost of
providing such retroactive pension benefits is unknown, but is anticipated to be approximately $615,000. The proposed order
will be submitted to the United States District Court. The Court will be asked to set a fairness hearing and thereafter enter a
final order. Court approval of the settlement is anticipated, but not guaranteed.

Super Excavators, Inc., v. City of Milwaukee. An underground-utility contractor that installed a sewer for the City filed this case.
The plaintiff alleges that on July 10, 1998, while it was tunneling, a sudden surge of water entered the tunnel from a leaking City
sewer above. The contractor seeks in excess of $880,000 as compensation for additional work performed as a result of the wet
conditions. If successful it is possible that a court would also award pre-judgment interest, bringing the amount over $1 million.
The City is defending the case. It is the opinion of the City staff that the water was a result of natura! groundwater conditions that
were the responsibility of the contractor.

With regard to other pending or threatened litigation and unasserted claims, it is the opinion of the City Attorney that such
litigation and claims will not be finally determined so as to result individually or in the aggregate in a final judgment against the
City which would affect its financial position.

LEGAL OPINION

The legal opinion of Hawkins, Delafield & Wood, New York, New York, and Quarles & Brady LLP, Milwaukee, Wisconsin,
Bond Counsel, will be delivered to the purchasers of the Series 2001 Bonds. A draft of the legal opinion for the Series 2001
Bonds is included herein as Appendix C.

FINANCIAL GUARANTY INSURANCE

Payment Pursuant to Financial Guaranty Insurance Policy

Ambac Assurance has made a commitment to issue a financial guaranty insurance policy (the ‘Financial Guaranty Insurance
Policy”) relating to the Series 2001 Bonds effective as of the date of issuance of the Series 2001 Bonds. Under the terms of the
Insurance Policy, Ambac Assurance will pay to The Bank of New York, in New York, New York or any successor thereto (the
“Insurance Trustee™) that portion of the principal of and interest on the Series 2001 Bonds which shall become Due for Payment but
shall be unpaid by reason of Nonpayment by the Issuer (as such terms are defined in the Financial Guaranty Insurance Policy).
Ambac Assurance will make such payments to the Insurance Trustee on the later of the date on which such principal and interest
becomes Due for Payment or within one business day following the date on which Ambac Assurance shall have received notice of
Nonpayment from the Trustee/Paying Agent. The insurance will extend for the term of the Series 2001 Bonds and, once issued,
cannot be canceled by Ambac Assurance.

The Financial Guaranty Insurance Policy will insure payment only on stated maturity dates and on mandatory sinking fund
instaliment dates, in the case of principal, and on stated dates for payment, in the case of interest. If the Series 2001 Bonds become
subject to mandatory redemption and insufficient funds are available for redemption of all outstanding Series 2001 Bonds, Ambac
Assurance will remain obligated to pay principal of and interest on outstanding Series 2001 Bonds on the originally scheduled
interest and principal payment dates including mandatory sinking fund redemption dates. In the event of any acceleration of the
principal of the Series 2001 Bonds, the insured payments will be made at such times and in such amounts as would have been made
had there not been an acceleration.
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In the event the Trustee/Paying Agent has notice that any payment of principal of or interest on a Series 2001 Bond which has
become Due for Payment and which is made to a Bondholder by or on behalf of the Issuer has been deemed a preferential transfer
and theretofore recovered from its registered owner pursuant to the United States Bankruptcy Code in accordance with a final,
nonappealable order of a court of competent jurisdiction, such registered owner will be entitled to payment from Ambac Assurance
to the extent of such recovery if sufficient funds are not otherwise available.

The Financial Guaranty Insurance Policy does not insure any risk other than Nonpayment, as defined in the Policy. Specifically, the
Financial Guaranty Insurance Policy does not cover:

1. payment on acceleration, as a result of a call for redemption (other than mandatory sinking fund redemption) or as a result
of any other advancement of maturity.

2. payment of any redemption, prepayment or acceleration premium.
3. nonpayment of principal or interest caused by the insolvency or negligence of any Trustee or Paying Agent, if any.

If it becomes necessary to call upon the Financial Guaranty Insurance Policy, payment of principal requires surrender of Series 2001
Bonds to the Insurance Trustee together with an appropriate instrument of assignment so as to permit ownership of such Series 2001
Bonds to be registered in the name of Ambac Assurance to the extent of the payment under the Financial Guaranty Insurance
Policy. Payment of interest pursuant to the Financial Guaranty Insurance Policy requires proof of Bondholder entitlement to interest
payments and an appropriate assignment of the Bondholder’s right to payment to Ambac Assurance.

Upon payment of the insurance benefits, Ambac Assurance will become the owner of the Series 2001 Bond, appurtenant coupon, if
any, or right to payment of principal or interest on such Series 2001 Bond and will be fully subrogated to the surrendering
Bondholder’s rights to payment.

Ambac Assurance Corporation

Ambac Assurance Corporation (“Ambac Assurance™) is a Wisconsin-domiciled stock insurance corporation regulated by the
Office of the Commissioner of Insurance of the State of Wisconsin and licensed to do business in 50 states, the District of
Columbia, the Territory of Guam and the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, with admitted assets of approximately
$4,988,000,000 (unaudited) and statutory capital of approximately $2,963,000,000 (unaudited) as of September 30, 2001.
Statutory capital consists of Ambac Assurance’s policyholders’ surplus and statutory contingency reserve. Standard & Poor’s
Ratings Services, a Division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Moody’s Investors Service and Fitch IBCA, Inc. have each
assigned a triple-A financial strength rating to Ambac Assurance.

Ambac Assurance has obtained a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service to the effect that the insuring of an obligation by Ambac
Assurance will not affect the treatment for federal income tax purposes of interest on such obligation and that insurance proceeds
representing maturing interest paid by Ambac Assurance under policy provisions substantially identical to those contained in its
financial guaranty insurance policy shall be treated for federal income tax purposes in the same manner as if such payments were
made by the issuer of the Series 2001 Bonds.

Ambac Assurance makes no representation regarding the Series 2001 Bonds or the advisability of investing in the Series 2001
Bonds and makes no representation regarding, nor has it participated in the preparation of, the Official Statement other than the
information supplied by Ambac Assurance and presented under the heading ‘Financial Guaranty Insurance”.

Available Information

The parent company of Ambac Assurance, Ambac Financial Group, Inc. (the “Company”™), is subject to the informational
requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and in accordance therewith files reports,
proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Commission™). Such reports, proxy
statements and other information may be inspected and copied at the public reference facilities maintained by the Commission at 450
Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549 and at the Commission’s regional offices at Northwestern Atrium Center, 500 West
Madison Street, Suite 1400, Chicago, Illinois 60661. Copies of such material can be obtained from the public reference section of the -
Commission at 450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20549 at prescribed rates. In addition, the aforementioned material may also
be inspected at the offices of the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. (the “NYSE”) at 20 Broad Street, New York, New York 10005.
The Company’s Common Stock is listed on the NYSE.
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Copies of Ambac Assurance’s financial statements prepared in accordance with statutory accounting standards are available from Ambac
Assurance. The address of Ambac Assurance’s administrative offices and its telephone number are One State Street Plaza, 17th Floor,
New York, New York, 10004 and (212) 668-0340.

Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference

The following documents filed by the Company with the Commission (File No. 1-10777) are incorporated by reference in this
Official Statement:

1) The Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated January 24, 2001 and filed on January 24, 2001;

2) The Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated March 19, 2001 and filed on March 19, 2001;

3) The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2000 and filed on March 28,
2001;

4) The Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarterly period ended March 31, 2001 and filed on
May 15, 2001;

5) The Company’s Annual Report on Form 8-K dated July 18, 2001 and filed on July 23, 2001;

6) The Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarterly period ended June 30, 2001 and filed on
August 10, 2001;

7) The Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated and filed on September 17, 2001;
8) The Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated and filed on September 19, 2001;
9) The Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K dated and filed on October 22, 2001;
10) The Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarterly period ended September 30, 2001 and filed on
November 14, 2001; and

All documents subsequently filed by the Company pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Act after the date of this Official
Statement will be available for inspection in the same manner as described above in “Available Information”.

RATINGS

Moody’s Investors Service has assigned its municipal bond rating of “Aaa” to this issue of Series 2001 Bonds with the
understanding that upon delivery of the Series 2001 Bonds, a policy insuring the payment when due of the principal of and interest
on the Series 2001 Bonds will be issued by Ambac Assurance Corporation.

Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group has assigned its municipal bond rating of "AAA" to this issue of Series 2001 Bonds with the
understanding that upon delivery of the Series 2001 Bonds, a policy insuring the payment when due of the principal of and interest
on the Series 2001 Bonds will be issued by Ambac Assurance Corporation.

Fitch IBCA, Inc. has assigned its municipal bond rating of "AAA" to this issue of Series 2001 Bonds with the understanding that
upon delivery of the Series 2001 Bonds, a policy insuring the payment when due of the principal of and interest on the Series 2001
Bonds will be issued by Ambac Assurance Corporation.

In addition, the City has requested underlying ratings on the Series 2001 Bonds from Fitch IBCA, Inc., Moody’s Investors
Service, Inc. and from Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group. Fitch IBCA, Inc. has assigned a rating of “AA” on the Series 2001
Bonds, Moody’s Investors Service has assigned a rating of “Aa3” on the Series 2001 Bonds and Standard & Poor’s Rating
Group has assigned a rating of “AA-", on the Series 2001 Bonds.

30



The ratings, when issued, reflect only the views of the respective ratings agencies, and an explanation of the significance of
such rating may be obtained therefrom. There is no assurance that the ratings will remain in effect for any given period of time
or that they will not be revised, either upward or downward, or withdrawn entirely, by the respective agencies, if, in their
judgment, circumstances so warrant. A revision or withdrawal of the credit rating could have an effect on the market price of
the Series 2001 Bonds.

FINANCIAL ADVISOR

Robert W. Baird & Co. has been retained as Financial Advisor to the City in connection with the issuance of the Series 2001
Bonds.

UNDERWRITING

The Series 2001 Bonds have been purchased by Siebert Brandford Shank & Co., LLC (the “Underwriter”). The Underwriter
purchased the Series 2001 Bonds at a price of $29,753,678.45 (which includes an original issuance premium of $756,474.00)
less underwriter’s discount of $109,106.25, plus accrued interest on the Series 2001 Bonds to December 4, 2001.

The Underwriter may offer and sell the Series 2001 Bonds to certain dealers (including depositing the Series 2001 Bonds into

Investment Trusts) and others at prices lower than the public offering prices stated on the inside front cover page of this
Official Statement. The initial offering prices may be changed from time to time by the Underwriter.

LEGISLATION

The City is not aware of any pending legislation that would cause significant adverse consequences to either the Series 2001
Bonds or the financial condition of the City’s Sewerage System.

CLOSING DOCUMENTS AND CERTIFICATES

Simultaneously with the delivery of and payment for the Series 2001 Bonds by the Underwriter thereof, the City will furnish to
the Underwriter the following closing documents, in form satisfactory to Bond Counsel:

(1) asignature and no litigation certificate;

(2) atax certificate;

(3) acertificate of delivery and payment;

(4) the opinion as to the legality of the Series 2001 Bonds under Wisconsin law and as to the tax-exempt status of the
interest thereon for federal income tax purposes with respect to the Series 2001 Bonds, rendered by Hawkins,
Delafield & Wood, New York, New York and Quarles & Brady LLP, Milwaukee, Wisconsin, Bond Counsel, in

substantially the form as set forth in Appendix C;

(5) copies of this Official Statement issued in conjunction with the Series 2001 Bonds within seven business days
after the sale of the Series 2001 Bonds in accordance with SEC Rule 15¢2-12(b)(3);

(6) a Continuing Disclosure Certificate; and
(7) a statement to the effect that this Official Statement, to the best of its knowledge and belief as of the date of sale
and the date of delivery, is true and correct in all material respects and does not contain any untrue statement ofa

material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made herein, in light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.
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REPRESENTATIONS OF THE CITY

To the best of its knowledge, the information in this Official Statement does not include any untrue statement of a material fact,
nor does the information omit the statement of any material fact required to be stated therein, or necessary to make the
statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Additional information may be obtained from the undersigned City Comptroller upon request.

W. MARTIN MORICS, City Comptroller and Secretary
City of Milwaukee, Public Debt Commission
City Hali - Room 404, 200 East Wells Street
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202

(414) 286-2301 / 22y
. y
SIW.

Comptroller
City of Milwaukee, Wisconsin

November 16, 2001
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THE CITY

LOCATION, ORGANIZATION AND GOVERNMENT

GENERAL

The City of Milwaukee is located on the western shore of Lake Michigan in southeastern Wisconsin. The City is the hub of the
metropolitan area and a thriving place to live and work. Milwaukee is Wisconsin’s largest city with a population of 606,000
and is the principal trade, service and financial center of southeastern Wisconsin. The surrounding Standard Metropolitan
Statistical Area (SMSA) consisting of Milwaukee, Waukesha, Washington and Ozaukee Counties, has a population of over 1.5
million. This SMSA is the 24th largest metropolitan area in the United States.

The Port of Milwaukee provides excellent access to the sea lanes of the world. General Mitchell International Airport is served
by domestic and international airlines. Five rail lines serve the City and provide transportation links throughout the United
States. The City is tied into the interstate highway network through newly resurfaced expressways.

Milwaukee was incorporated as a city on January 31, 1846 pursuant to the laws of the territory of Wisconsin. Wisconsin
gained statehood in 1848. The City, in operation under a Home Rule Charter since 1874, provides for a council-mayor form of
government.

ELECTED OFFICIALS
The Mayor, City Attorney, Comptroller, Treasurer and Common Council members are elected officials of the City. Local
elections are non-partisan. The Mayor, City Attorney, Comptroller and Treasurer are elected at-large for identical four-year

terms.

At present, 17 Alderpersons comprise the Common Council. Each Alderperson represents, and is elected from, an aldermanic
district with a population of approximately 36,000.

CiTY OFFICIALS
(initial year in office follows name)
Mayor John O. Norquist (1988)
City Attorney Grant F. Langley (1984)
City Comptroller W. Martin Morics (1992)
City Treasurer Wayne F. Whittow (1976)
CoMMON COUNCIL
Marvin E. Pratt (1987) Rosa Cameron (2000)
Terrance Herron (2000) Annette E. Scherbert (1984)
Michael S. D’ Amato (1996) Angel Sanchez (2000)
Paul A. Henningsen (1983) Jeffrey A. Pawlinski (1996)
James A. Bohl, Jr. (2000) Suzanne M. Breier (1992)
Marlene E. Johnson-Odom (1980) Thomas G. Nardelli (1986)
Fredrick G. Gordon (1992) Michael J. Murphy (1989)
Robert G. Donovan (2000) Willie L. Hines, Jr. (1996)
Donald F. Richards (1988)

The terms of all the above elected positions expire in April, 2004.



PUBLIC SERVICES AND FACILITIES

The City, employing approximately 8,700 people (some in a seasonal capacity), is charged with primary responsibility for
. public safety (via its police, fire and health departments); public works (including refuse removal and a City owned water
utility); various cultural and recreational services including a library system; and, general municipal administration. General
obligation and revenue backed debt issuance is available to the City. City government also participates in housing and
neighborhood programs through separate Housing and Redevelopment Authorities. These two latter Authorities have the
ability to borrow using revenue backed financings.

Other major local governmental units and their related government services are the Milwaukee Public Schools (education);
Milwaukee County (parks, airport/mass transithighways, social services and court system); Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage
District (wastewater treatment); and, the Milwaukee Area Technical College (higher education). Wisconsin Statutes require
Milwaukee Public School purpose debt to be issued by the City. The remaining governmental units cited each retain the
statutory authority to issue general obligation debt.

Two special purpose governments exist with the ability to issue debt and tax on a limited revenue basis. The first is the
Southeastern Wisconsin Professional Baseball District (the “District™), a public entity created by State legislation
encompassing five southeastern Wisconsin counties, to finance construction/operations of a new baseball facility (“Miller
Park”) for the National League Milwaukee Brewers baseball club. Miller Park successfully opened in March, 2001. The
District has issued $199 million of revenue bonds supported by a five county, one-tenth of one percent sales tax and other
ancillary revenue streams. In addition, $45 million of lease certificates of participation have been sold to finance acquisition
and installation of facility equipment, scoreboards, etc. (See “DEBT STRUCTURE - FUTURE FINANCING” for additional
information).

The second special purpose government is the Wisconsin Center District which oversees construction/operation of the Midwest
Express Center, Milwaukee’s new major convention complex. This complex also includes the existing Arena and Auditorium
facilities, formerly known as “MECCA”. The Midwest Express Center is being financed by $215 million of revenue bonds
backed by dedicated sales tax revenues from the lodging, restaurant, and vehicle rental areas. Phase one of the Midwest
Express Center was completed during 1998. Phase two was completed in 2000.

In addition to the facilities noted above, Milwaukee is home to a modern 17,000+ seat indoor sports and concert venue, the
Bradley Center, located in the heart of downtown. This facility serves the National Basketball Association Milwaukee Bucks,
the Marquette University Golden Eagles basketball team, the Milwaukee Admirals International Hockey League club, and the
Milwaukee Wave professional soccer team. Milwaukee also boasts a Lakefront Art Center as well as major symphony, ballet
companices, theatre and other performing arts.

May 4, 2001, marked the unveiling of phase one of Milwaukee Art Museum'’s new expansion and renovation, which combines
art, dramatic architecture and landscape design. The new Quadracci Pavilion, the first Santiago Calatrava-designed building in
the United States, features a 90-foot high glass-walled reception hall to be enclosed by the Burke Brise Soleil, a sunscreen that
can be raised or lowered creating a unique moving sculpture.

Finally, the Milwaukee area is the site of a number of higher education institutions, including Marquette University, the
University of Wisconsin — Milwaukee, Alverno College; Mount Mary College and the Milwaukee School of Engineering.

EMPLOYEE RELATIONS
Approximately 6,750 of the City’s 8,000 full-time employees are members of bargaining units represented by 19 unions. The
City is currently negotiating with 19 bargaining units for contracts to be effective January 1, 2001. These negotiations have not

yet been concluded. For the years 1999-2000, 18 bargaining units settled voluntarily with the exception of the Milwaukee
Police Association (MPA) which was decided using interest arbitration.
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GENERAL, DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC INFORMATION

GENERAL

The City, with a population of 606,000, represents about 40 percent of the population of the greater metropolitan area.
Population in the four county retail trade area surrounding Milwaukee is 1,509,600 and represents 28% of the population of the
State of Wisconsin. Based on the last U.S. Census, over 60 percent of metropolitan Milwaukee's population is comprised of
residents within the working ages of 18 to 64. Forty-nine percent of the Milwaukee SMSA (Milwaukee, Washington,
Waukesha and Ozaukee Counties) residents are under the age of 35.

The City of Milwaukee’s effective buying income is approximately $8.4 billion, 30 percent of the total effective buying income
in the four county metro Milwaukee area. In Milwaukee, 24 percent of City households earn between $20,000 and $35,000 per
year; 18 percent earn between $35,000 and $50,000 per year and 24 percent earn over $50,000 per year. The age distribution
of the population of the City of Milwaukee is 11 percent between 18 and 24 years old; 16 percent between 25 and 34 years old;
20 percent between 35 and 49 years old and 26 percent are 50 years or older.

CITY OF MILWAUKEE
SELECTED ECONOMIC DATA
Per Capita Per Capita Per Capita
Average Household Equalized
Pogulation(” Income Income Value
1996 620,609 $12,800 $33,300 $24,736
1997 612,740 13,219 34,271 25,315
1998 610,654 13,436 34,839 26,575
1999 608,150 13,780 35,830 27,462
2000 605,572 N/A N/A 28,641

O The population figures are derived through estimates from the Wisconsin Department of Revenue for use in the distribution of State

Shared Revenues.

Sources: Derived from data contained in Sales and Marketing Management magazine as reported for the appropriate year. Data for 2000
is currently unavailable. Other sources include the Bureau of Census; Wisconsin Department of Revenue; Metropolitan
Milwaukee Association of Commerce and the City of Milwaukee Division of Economic Development.

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.)



BUILDING PERMITS

Another indicator of economic growth is the activity in the building industry. The following table indicates building permit
activity during the period 1996 through September of 2001.

General Total
Year Value Permits Issued
1996 169,138,769 2,363
1997 319,410,366 2,318
1998 246,033,955 2,408
1999 332,184,632 2,429
2000 281,978,437 2,448
2001* 286,384,566* 2,171*
Residential Building
Single Family Multi-Family Total Permits
Year Value # Of Units Value # Of Units Value # Of Units Issued
1996 6,234,953 65 5,887,200 118 12,122,153 183 88
1997 8,292,100 80 19,219,402 265 27,511,502 345 112
1998 6,781,406 67 38,475,720 522 45,257,126 589 97
1999 9,489,837 84 10,951,700 119 20,441,537 203 109
2000 13,501,445 113 21,682,808 239 35,184,253 352 137
2001* 14,519,003* 116* 53,633,896* 241* 68,152,989* 357* 136*
Commercial Building
Year Value Permits Issued
1996 37,779,942 77
1997 161,478,796 86
1998 68,042,140 79
1999 128,343,915 95
2000 99,967,923 88
2001* 66,080,229* 67*
Public Building
Year Value Permits Issued
1996 26,684,674 291
1997 46,502,536 170
1998 25,046,871 191
1999 30,726,416 145
2000 43,153,279 181
2001* 60,469,315* 381*
Alterations And Additions
Year _Valve Permits Issued
1996 92,552,000 1,907
1997 83,917,532 1,950
1998 107,687,818 2,041
1999 152,672,764 2,080
2000 103,672,982 2,042
2001* 91,682,033* 1,587*
* As of September 2001.
M Includes Midwest Express Center.
Note: Miller Park, the City's new major league baseball venue, was completed in March 2001. This $350 + million project is not incorporated within the
above schedules.

Sources: Development Center, Department of City Development. Data accumulated from monthly reports submitted to U.S. Department of Commerce,
Bureau of the Census, Construction Statistics Division, Washington D.C.



BANK DEPOSITS

The following table illustrates a five year history of bank deposits for the largest banks in the City. (In Thousands of Dollars)

)

@
3)
@
&)

Source:

1996 1997 1998
Bank One, Milwaukee, N.A. $5,949,652%  $5,816,324Y  $5,297,707
Firstar Bank, Milwaukee, N.A. @ 4,991,700 4,735,862 5,730,006
M & I Marshall & Ilsley Bank 3,043,161 5,520,720 6,206,362
Wells Fargo Bank Wisconsin, N.A. 1,490,844 1,513,210 1,673,894
Associated Bank Milwaukee 611,374 611,250 698,472
TCF National Bank Wisconsin - 485,644® 484,226
First Bank (N.A.)® 603,522 - -
Park Bank 324,103 365,924 400,758

1999
34,262,523
5,245,384
1,667,542
1,929,558
439,957

390,147

2000
$4,397,409
8,623,224
1,803,846
1,918,455

452,798

445,397

Total deposits for Bank One, Wisconsin. As of December 7, 1996, all 14 of the Bank One charters in Wisconsin merged into one
charter. Bank deposits for all Bank One offices in the state are combined and reported as one amount under the name Bank One,
Wisconsin. As a result, bank deposits for Bank One offices in the City of Milwaukee are not available for year-end 1996 and later.
Firstar Bank, Milwaukee, N.A. was purchased in 1999 by Star Banc of Cincinnati, Ohio.
TCF, formerly known as TCF Bank Wisconsin, FSB, received its charter as a national bank on April 7, 1997.
First Bank, Milwaukee, N.A. merged into U.S. Bank National Association, Minneapolis, Minnesota as of June 1, 1997.

TCF National Bank Wisconsin data as of December, 2000. TCF National Bank Wisconsin merged with TCF National Bank,

Minneapolis, Minnesota during 2000.

State of Wisconsin Office of Commissioner of

Banking, May 2001.

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.)



LEADING
BUSINESS AND INDUSTRIAL FIRMS
LOCATED WITHIN MILWAUKEE COUNTY

The listing of large employers in Milwaukee County which follows, reveals the diversity of Milwaukee County’s economic
base. The largest of these are shown in the following list, which includes only employers with the majority or all of their
employment in Milwaukee County.

Employer

Milwaukee Public Schools
Aurora Health Care
City of Milwaukee

Milwaukee County

)

U.S. Government (Excludes V.A.
Medical Center)

Covenant Health Care

Wisconsin Electric Power Company

M&I Marshall & Ilsley

Columbia-St. Mary’s

Northwestern Mutual Life

Medical College of Wisconsin

Firstar Corporation

Harley Davidson, Inc.

Rockwell Automation (formerly Allen-

Bradley)

Briggs and Stratton

SBC Communications (Ameritech

Corporation)

University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee

Marcus Corporation

Froedtert Memorial Hospital

Tower Automotive (formerly A.O.
Smith Automotive Products Co.)

Journal Communications

Marquette University

Delphi Automotive Systems
(General Motors)

Carson Pirie Scott & Co.
Clement Zablocki Veterans Medical Center

Note:

(¢))

Data reflects full-time equivalent employees.

this time.

Source:

2000

Employment

11,352
10,566
7,700
7,310

6,353
5,552
5,372
4,957
4,200
3,948
3,806
3,241
3,141
3,103

3,066
3,015

2,830
2,394
2,383

2,116
2,042
2,035

1,978

1,960
1,960

Type of Business or Service

Education

Health Care
Government
Government

Government

Health Care

Electric utility

Holding company banking/finance and data services
Health Care

Insurance

Medical school/academic/health care

Finance, banking

Manufacturer, motorcycles

Manufacturer, electrical/electronic products

Manufacturer, small engines, automotive locks and
keys
Communications

Education
Hotels, motels, restaurants and theatres
Health Care

Manufacturer, automobile and truck frames

Publishing, printing and broadcasting

Education

Manufacturer, automotive electronic engine control
modules, catalytic converters, and automotive
electronic chassis control modules

Retail

Health care

The value for Milwaukee County is authorized full-time equivalents. Information on the actual full-time equivalent is not available at

Milwaukee County Department of Administration January 2001 survey. Wisconsin Department of Workforce Development

quarterly report, “Employment and Wages”.



EMPLOYMENT AND INDUSTRY

During the first eight months of 2001, the City’s unemployment rate averaged 7.5%. Presented below are annual unadjusted
unemployment rates for the City of Milwaukee, as compared to the State of Wisconsin and the United States for the period
1996 through August, 2001.

City of Milwaukee State of Wisconsin United States
2001 7.5% 4.4% 4.4%
2000 59 33 4.0
1999 49 3.1 4.2
1998 4.8 32 4.5
1997 5.2 35 49
1996 51 35 54
Source: Wisconsin Department of Workforce Development and U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics.

(1) January through August averages.

Milwaukee’s economic structure reveals a diversified economy with strong service and manufacturing sectors. The service
sector (service, finance, insurance, real estate and retail trade) employs over 65 percent of the workforce. Manufacturing firms
employ 20 percent of the work force. The area is not dominated by any large employers. Less than two percent of the
manufacturers have employment levels greater than 500. Less than one percent of the employers in finance, insurance and
services have more than 500 employees.

CITY OF MILWAUKEE
ESTABLISHMENTS AND EMPLOYMENT BY INDUSTRY GROUP
1996 - 2000
Number of Establishments Employment

Industry Group 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 @
Agriculture 101 111 109 109 101 557 670 746 750 935
Construction 831 831 828 822 827 7,624 8,224 8,035 8,134 8,840
Manufacturing 1,079 1,075 1,060 1,041 1,015 61,575 61,913 59,536 56,591 55,645
Transportation &

Communications 572 601 588 580 567 18,167 18,533 18,645 16,456 16,164
Wholesale Trade 1,297 1,280 1,238 1,173 1,115 19,852 20,216 20,201 20,551 19,827
Retail Trade 2,848 2,748 2,636 2,626 2,621 44,520 43,319 42,856 43,661 42,417
Finance, Insurance

& Real Estate 1,378 1,361 1,377 1,290 1,212 33,026 34,006 33,344 35,370 32,874
Services 6,268 6412 _6533 6,107 5.798 118,067 123.166 127.280 140,006 142618
Totals 14374 14419 14369 13748 13256 303388 310047 310643 321519  319.320

@ Second quarter, 2000.
Source: Wisconsin Department of Workforce Development.
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TEN LARGEST TAXPAYERS WITH 2000 ASSESSED VALUATIONS

First Security Bank $197,382,680
Northwestern Mutual Life Insurance Company (Insurance) 167,947,300
Teachers Insurance & Annuity Association of America (Real Estate Investment) 103,438,000
Towne Realty (Real Estate) 88,919,750
Miller Brewing Company (Brewing) 69,844,300
Great Lakes REIT (Real Estate Investment) 68,746,760
Marcus Corp. (Hotels, Motels, Restaurants) 66,632,270
Metropolitan Associates (Real Estate Investment) 64,308,370
Allen Bradley (Manufacturing) 55,941,700
100 East Wisconsin Joint Venture (Real Estate Investment) 55,171,140

M The above assessed values represent an equalization ratio of 101.4% to full value as determined by the Wisconsin Department of

Revenue. (2000 Assessments for 2001 Purposes.)

Source:  City of Milwaukee, Assessor's Office.

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.)
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DEBT STRUCTURE

The City of Milwaukee has never defaulted in the payment of the principal or interest on its debt obligations, nor has the City
issued any refunding securities for the purpose of preventing default in principal or interest on its debt obligations.

LEGAL DEBT LIMITATIONS

Section 67.03 of the Wisconsin Statutes limits direct general obligation borrowing to an amount equivalent to five percent of
the equalized valuation of taxable property. Section 119.49 of the Wisconsin Statutes further authorizes referendum approved
bonding in an additional amount equivalent to two percent of the equalized taxable property for school capital purposes. Such
debt margins, as of September 30, 2001, are calculated upon the 2000 City equalized valuation for 2001 purposes of
$17.344,251,400. The available five percent debt margin for City borrowing is $227,444,923 or 26.2% remaining for future
debt issuance. The available two percent debt margin for school capital purposes is $346,885,028, or 100% remaining for
future debt issuance. Together, as detailed below, “Total Debt Margin” equals $574,329,951 or 47.3%.

DEBT MARGIN

2000 Equalized Value of Taxable Property in the City $17,344,251,400
Legal Debt Limitation

5% of Equalized Value for City Borrowing $ 867,212,570

2% of Equalized Value for School Borrowing $346,885,028

$1,214,097,598

General Obligation Debt Outstanding as of

September 30, 2001 $666,331,216
Less: Provision for Remaining 2001 Maturities $26,563,569
Net General Obligation Debt Qutstanding as of

September 30, 2001 $639,767,647
Total Debt Margin (In Dollars) $ 574,329,951
(As a Percentage) 47.3%

DEBT REFUNDED

The City issued $43,065,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series of 1992 dated February 1, 1992 for the purpose of
refunding portions of four general obligation bond issues. In addition, the City issued $65,525,000 General Obligation
Refunding Bonds, Series of 1993 dated April 1, 1993 for the purpose of refunding portions of nine general obligation bond
issues. The City has also issued $75,460,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series of 1996, dated February 1, 1996 for
the purpose of refunding additional portions of thirteen general obligation bond issues. Finally, the City issued $30,725,000
General Obligation Refunding Bonds (Series of 2001-A and Series of 2001-B) dated July 1, 2001 for the purpose of refunding
additional portions of five general obligation bond issues. The City has entered into Escrow Agreements with Bank One
Wisconsin Trust Company related to the Series of 1992 Bonds; U.S. Bank Trust, N.A. (formerly First Trust, N.A.), related to
the Series of 1993 Bonds; Wells Fargo Bank Wisconsin, N.A. (formerly Norwest Bank Wisconsin, N.A.), related to the Series
of 1996 Bonds; and Associated Trust Company, N.A. related to the Series of 2001 Bonds all for the purpose of securing the
payment of principal and interest on the refunded issues. None of the refunded debt is reflected in the “Debt Margin”
presentation above.
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ANALYSIS OF GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT
OUTSTANDING AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2001

SERIAL BONDS

Schools 391,316,794
Tax Increment Districts 88,328,596
Street Improvements 83,730,477
Sewers 79,719,084
Public Buildings 53,827,641
Water Improvements 50,047,208
Police Facilities 38,358,818
Blight Elimination, Slum Clearance and Urban Renewal 28,332,789
Special Assessment Financing 25,926,457
Parking Facilities 21,278,998
Bridges 13,592,930
Playgrounds and Recreational Facilities 9,202,621
Library 6,541,904
Fire Engine Houses 6,113,198
Harbor Improvements 3,635,772
Economic Development 1,114,008
Industrial Land Bank 480,425
Resource Recovery Project 156,443
Convention Complex 144,224
Lakefront Development 66,332
City Hall and Annex Renovation 29,454
Bridges and Buildings Field Headquarters 6,003
Municipal Garage 5,848
Forestry/Sanitation Field Headquarters 5,262
Sanitation 2,909
Safety Academy 805
TOTAL BONDS OUTSTANDING $601,965,000
SERIAL NOTES

Finance Real & Personal Property Tax Receivables $22.430,000
FMIS Replacement Project 15,409,746
Schools 13,277,230
Parking Facilities 5,817,839
Municipal Expenses 4,355,485
Public Buildings 2,241,988
Grant & Aid Projects 634,334
Blight Elimination, Slum Clearance and Urban Renewal 199,594
TOTAL NOTES OUTSTANDING $64,366,216
TOTAL GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT OUTSTANDING

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2001 $666,331,216
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GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS

The following indicates the annual requirements of principal and interest on outstanding City of Milwaukee general obligation
debt as of September 30, 2001.

TOTAL ANNUAL REQUIREMENTS

Principal Interest
Requirements Requirements Total
As At As At As At
09/30/01 09/30/01 09/30/01

2001 $26,563,569 $9,407,387 $35,970,956
2002 78,509,045 31,673,936 110,182,981
2003 65,984,456 28,203,110 94,187,566
2004 62,516,994 25,097,470 87,614,464
2005 59,886,953 21,919,091 81,806,044
2006 52,630,199 18,787,979 71,418,178
2007 48,605,000 16,083,534 64,688,534
2008 45,820,000 13,652,993 59,472,993
2009 41,245,000 11,377,562 52,622,562
2010 37,875,000 9,294,141 47,169,141
2011 34,280,000 7,395,091 41,675,091
2012 30,210,000 5,652,793 35,862,793
2013 26,140,000 4,043,297 30,183,297
2014 21,925,000 2,775,781 24,700,781
2015 16,530,000 1,752,561 18,282,561
2016 9,320,000 881,361 10,201,361
2017 4,315,000 414,187 4,729,187
2018 3,780,000 195,802 3,975,802
2019 195,000 4,875 199,875

$666,331,216 $208,612,951 $874,944,167

A-13



TRENDS OF GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT

The following table indicates the general obligation debt of the City outstanding on December 31st of the year shown.

Allocated General Obligation
General Obligation To Specific Debt Less
Dec. 31 Debt Qutstanding™ Issues®™ Unallocated® Debt Service Balance
1996 $428,839,903 $9,202,481 $15,760,338 $403,877,084
1997 459,797,806 8,336,613 13,901,387 437,559,806
1998 518,401,459 9,691,634 15,249,366 493,460,459
1999 559,098,751 11,253,948 20,068,052 527,776,751
2000 605,239,921 9,623,007 20,812,993 574,803,921
2001 @ 663,331,216 9,263,836 20,036,164 637,031,216

Debt Service Fund Balance®

" Includes amounts borrowed for Tax Incremental District Program, Parking Program, financing of special assessments, delinquent taxes
and water purposes. See “TRENDS OF SELF SUSTAINING GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT” on the following page for additional
information.

@ The allocation of the Debt Service Fund balances to specific issues is based upon the debt service due for Tax Incremental Districts,
Parking, Special Assessment, Water and Delinquent Tax borrowings as a portion of total debt service. (For further information
regarding debt service due for Tax Increment Districts, please see “TAX INCREMENT DISTRICT FINANCING.™)

® " From Provision for Future Maturities - Principal and Interest.
“  From Debt Service Fund Revenues.
©®  Estimated at September 30, 2001.
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Dec. 31

1996

1997

1998

1999

2000

2001
)

)
@)

@
®
©)

Q)]

TRENDS OF SELF-SUSTAINING GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT

Self-Sustaining General Obligation Debt"

General Obligation Total Self Net General Obligation
Debt Less Debt TID Parking Special Delinquent Sustaining Debt Less Self-
Service Balance © Program® Program Assessments” Taxes” Water Debt Sustaining Debt'”

$413,079,565 $51,151,636  $18,827,480 $25,893,023 $23,950,000 $36,954,850 $156,776,989 $256,302,576
445,896,419 55,188,023 16,973,337 27,609,606 23,855,000 47,343,043 170,969,009 274,927,410
503,152,093 64,899,209 21,532,010 27,912,744 23,195,000 61,981,967 199,520,930 303,631,163
539,030,699 66,836,574 25,399,711 28,560,056 21,950,000 57,373,821 200,120,162 338,910,537
584,426,928 66,078,454 26,981,616 26,299,555 21,225,000 52,611,050 193,195,675 391,231,253
646,295,052 88,328,596 27,096,837 25,926,457 22,430,000 50,047,208 213,829,098 432,465,954

The City defines “Self-Sustaining General Obligation Debt” to include any general obligation debt previously issued whose debt service requirements is currently met with
current non-Citywide property tax revenues.

See “TAX INCREMENT DISTRICT FINANCING" herein for additional information.

The Public Debt Commission, as one of its statutory mandates, oversees the portion of the Public Debt Amortization Fund used annually to prepay outstanding debt. The
Commissioners of the Public Debt have reserved a portion of this Fund sufficient to make principal and interest payments for all outstanding special assessments purpose
debt service to maturity.

Debt service on securities used to fund delinquent tax is offset completely by remitted delinquent tax payments.

Unallocated portion only. Allocated Debt Service Fund Balance relates to “Self-Sustaining” Debt categories detailed above.

General Obligation Debt less unallocated Debt Service Balance and less Self-Sustaining Debt on a per capita basis is as follows:

December 31 Decbt Per Capita

1996 $412.99
1997 448.69
1998 497.22
1999 557.28
2000 646.05

Estimated at September 30, 2001.
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Year

12/31)

1996
1997
1998
1999
2000

[¢))

@

3)

@

Population(')

Net Equalized
Valuation”

620,609
612,740
610,654
608,150
605,572

$15,041,199,500
15,511,857,400
16,228,218,000
16,701,225,300
17,344,251,400

To Equalized And Assessed Values And To Per Capita
And Per Capita Incomes For The Years 1996 Through 2000

RATIO OF GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT

General
General Long-Term Long-Term
Assessed Obligation Debt/Equalized Debt/Assessed

Valuation Debt®™ Valuation®” Valuation

$14,850,606,600 $403,877,084 2.69% 2.712%
14,914,137,234 437,559,806 2.82 293
16,072,114,035 493,460,459 3.04 3.07
15,774,873,167 521,776,751 3.16 3.35
17,582,994,597 574,803,921 3.31 3.27

General
Long-Term General Per Long-Term
Debt Per Capita Debt/Per
Capita(") Income Capita Income

$650.78 $12,800 5.08%
714.10 13,219 5.40
808.09 13,436 6.01
867.84 13,870 6.30
949.19 N/A N/A

The population figures are derived through estimates from the Wisconsin Department of Revenue population used in the distribution of State Shared Revenues.

Per Wisconsin Department of Revenue, Bureau of Property and Utility Tax.

See - “TRENDS OF GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT” herein (page 29).

The Public Debt Amortization Fund may be used to acquire debt prior to maturity. Assuming the ycar-cnd unsegregated fund balance had been applied in this manner to
debt in 1996 through 2000, the following results would have occurred:

Dec. 31

1996
1997
1998
1999
2000

Debt Percentage
Of Equalized

Value
2.39%

2.48
2.7t
2.89
3.06

Direct

Capita

$604.47

627.43
721.84
793.76
877.44

Debt Per



COMPUTATION OF NET DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING DEBT

SEPTEMBER 30, 2001
Debt Approximate Milwaukee’s
Outstanding Percentage Share of
Governmental Unit As of 9/30/01 Applicable Debt
City of Milwaukee $637,031,216 100.00% $637,031,216
Area Board of Vocational, Technical
and Adult Education, District No. 9 81,605,000 36.95 30,153,048
County of Milwaukee 485,313,760 4531 219,895,665
Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District @ 503,580,011 46.42 233,761,841
TOTAL NET DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING DEBT $1,120,841,769

® Net of Debt Service Fund Balance. Excludes $73,342,064 of Industrial Revenue Bonds. Excludes $16,772,867 of City of Milwaukee
Water Revenue Bonds, Series of 1998. Includes $104,594,024 outstanding, which financed Milwaukee Public Schools improvements.

@ Includes $218.705.011 of low interest loans from the State of Wisconsin Clean Water Fund, supported by the full faith and credit of the
District.

FUTURE FINANCING

The City anticipates no further general obligation or revenue anticipation offerings during the remainder of 2001. The City’s
general fund “cash flow” financing for Fiscal Year 2002 is expected to be marketed in February 2002. This offering is
expected to be in the $110-$120 million range. Financing of delinquent tax receivables as general obligation notes will also
occur in February 2002. This offering is expected to be in the $10-$12 million range.

General obligation capital financings are anticipated for June 2002. These offerings, possibly a taxable bond issue as well as
tax-exempt are expected to be in the $45-$60 million range. Finally, revenue anticipation notes for the Milwaukee Public
Schools are expected to be again marketed in August 2002.

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.)
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777 East Wisconsin Avenue
Milwaukee, W1 53202

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Honorable Members
of the Common Council
of the City of Milwaukee

We have audited the accompanying general purpose financial statements of the City of Milwaukee
(a2 municipality incorporated under the laws of the State of Wisconsin) as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2000, as listed in the table of contents. These general purpose financial
statements are the responsibility of the City's Comptroller. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these general purpose financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the general purpose financial statements are free of matenal
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basts, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the general purpose financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

In our opinion, the general purpose financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the City of Milwaukee as of December 31, 2000, and
results of its operations and the cash flows of its proprietary fund types for the year then ended in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Our audit was made for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the general purpose financial
statements taken as a whole. The selected combining and individual fund and account group
financial statements and schedules listed in the table of contents are presented for purposes of
additional analysis and are not a required part of the general purpose financial statements of the
City of Milwaukee. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in our
audit of the general purpose financial statements and, in our opinion, is fairly stated in all material
respects in relation to the general purpose financial statements taken as 2 whole.

KPMe P

Milwaukee, Wisconsin
May 25, 2001 ’
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CITY OF MILWAUKEE Exhibit 1
COMBINED BALANCE SHEET -
ALL FUND TYPES, ACCOUNT GROUPS AND DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS
DECEMBER 31, 2000
WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR DECEMBER 31, 1999
(Thousands of Dollars)

Governmental Fund Types
Special Debt Capital
General Revenue Service Projects

ASSETS AND OTHER DEBITS

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents S 9240 $ 19,024 $ 34,531 $ 41,912
Investments 67,985
Receivables (net):

Taxes 23,152 8,335
Accounts 18,918 1.511 3,202 1,647
Unbilled accounts 989
Special assessments 13.233
Notes and loans 768 6,291 18,866
Accrued interest 961 178
Due from other funds 11,917 253 387
Due from primary govemment
Due from component units 4,892 24 - 12,354
Due from other governmental agencies 1,383 12,984 7,155
Other receivables 12,694
inventory of materiats and supplies 5,988 199
inventory of property for resaie 26
Prepaid items 366 34 1
Deferred charges
Other assets
Restricted Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
investments 281
Loans receivables
Land
Buildings
improvements other than buildings
Machinery and equipment
Fumiture and fumishings
Construction work in progress
Nonutility property
Accumulated depreciation

Other Debits:

Resources available in Governmental Funds

Resources to be Provided for:
Retirement of general obligation debt
Pension contribution payable from subsequent year's budget ................
Unfunded compensated absences
Unfunded claims and judgments

Total Assets and Other Debits $ 91,575 $ 48,456 $ 137,503 $ 64,147

LIABILITIES, FUND EQUITY AND OTHER CREDITS

Liabilties:
Accounts payable $ 23,180 $ 6461 S $ 12,739

Accrued wages 27,277 245 220
Accrued expenses




Exhibit 1 (Continued)

Fiduciary Totals Totals

Fund Type Account Groups (Memorandum {(Memorandum Only)

Proprietary Trust General General Only) Reporting Entity

Fund Type and Fixed Long-Term Primary Component 1999

Enterprise Agency Assets Obligations Government Units 2000 {Restated)

$ 20,02 $ 217,108 $ $ $ 341,838 $ 31,963 $ 373801 $ 416,403

4,000 6,006 77,991 13,765 91,756 80,931

141,378 172,865 172,865 127,392

22,112 47,390 8,703 56,093 34,448

10,047 11,036 11,036 10,790

13,233 13,233 13,583

468 26,393 56,007 82,400 76,875

28 1,168 467 1,635 1,425

614 13,171 13.171 15,586

- 2112 2,112 18

17,270 - 17.270 13,751

21,522 18,088 40,620 23,421

12,684 12.6%4 13,283

2,183 8,370 8,370 9,887

26 10.828 10,954 13,591

106 507 1,666 2173 2,367

2 2 2 -

983 983 405 1,388 1,564

- 3.037 3,037 1,418

387,461 387,742 15.030 402,772 415,990

- 40 40 45

19,719 39.694 59,413 38.718 98,132 98,650

78,323 132,870 211,193 253270 464,463 478,601

271,681 271,681 271,681 265,635

192,747 93,534 286,281 4,657 290,978 285,429
189 189 122 311 174

9,827 63,088 72815 44748 117,663 70,585

540 540 540 564
(153,435) (153,436) (125.165) (278.601) (261,731)
117.488 117,488 117,488 118.686

405,015 405,015 405,015 354,403

- - 1,835

- 30,534 30,534 30,534 26,308

43,520 43,520 43,520 58,661

$ 479,688 $ 75242 $ 329,186 $ 596,557 $ 2,499,534 $ 379,612 $ 2,879,146 $ 2,770,648
$ 13,138 $ 1730 S S $ 57,245 $ 10726 3 67,971 $ 45,061
3.236 30,978 18 30,99 28,907
- 6,505 6,505 4,882



CITY OF MILWAUKEE Exhibit 1 (Continued)
COMBINED BALANCE SHEET -
ALL FUND TYPES, ACCOUNT GROUPS AND DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS
DECEMBER 31, 2000
WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR DECEMBER 31, 1899
(Thousands of Dollars)

Governmental Fund Types
Special Debt Capital
General Revenue Service Projects

Liabilities (Continued):
Due to other funds $ 253 $ 6220 $ 1,840 $
Due to primary government
Due to component units 2,112
Due to other govemmental agencies 850 2,553
Bonds and notes payable - current
General obligation debt payabie - current
Deferred revenue 1,971 11,560 31,220 13,208
Bond anticipation notes payable
Bonds and notes payable
General obligation debt
Unfunded pension costs
Unfunded compensated absences
Unfunded claims and judgments
Revenue bonds payable -
Other payables 12,654
Advances from other governmental agencies
Other liabilities

Total Liabilities $ 52,681 $ 27,448 $_33.060 $ 41,415

Fund Equity and Other Credits:
Contributed capital $ $ $ $
Investment in general fixed assets
Retained Earnings:
Unreserved
Fund Balances:
Reserved for debt service - 2001 (2000) 13,045 30,436
Reserved for future retirement of general obligation debt ..........c............. 74,007
Reserved for delinquent taxes receivabie : 7.963
Reserved for encumbrances, prepaids, and canyovers ..........cocooceo..... 8,886 34,278
Reserved for inventory 6,014 199
Reserved for mortgage trust 281
Reserved for environmental remediation 304
Reserved for deferred compensation
Reserved for tax stabilization - 2001 (2000) 5,500
Reserved for tax stabilization - 2002 (2001) and subsequent years'
budgets 17,909
Unreserved: N
Special assessment (deficit) " (11,745)
Undesignated

Total Fund Equity and Other Credits S 38.894 $ 21,008 $ 104,443 S 22732

Total Liabilities, Fund Equity and Other Credits vceeeeeeececeeeeee.. . $ 91,575 $ 48,456 $ 137,503 $ 64,147

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.



Exhibit 1 (Continued)

Fiduciary Totals Totals

Fund Type Account Groups (Memorandum {(Memorandum Only)

Proprietary Trust General General Onty) Reporting Entity
Fund Type and Fixed Long-Term Primary Component 1999
Enterprise Agency Assets Obligations Govemment Units 2000 {Restated)
$ 4733 $ 125 $ $ $ 13,171 $ $ 13,171 $ 15,596
- 17,270 17,270 13,751

2,112 2,112 18

52476 55,879 12292 68.171 93375

- 2,454 2,454 2,163

8,496 9,496 9,496 8,848

51 181,536 249,547 10,978 260,525 215,894

6,258 6.258 6,258 -
110,000 110,000 642 110,642 100,963

74,070 522,503 596,573 596,573 551,031

- - 1,835

30,534 30,534 30,534 26,308

43,520 43,520 43,520 58,661

16,029 16,029 12,422 28,451 36,886
12,694 12,694 13,253

- 1,358 1,358 2,186

- 3,871 3,871 5,060

$ 127,008 $355867 $ -  $596557 $123403 $ 78536 §$ 1312572 § 1.225.778
$ 123,743 $ $ $ $ 123,743 $ 289,516 S 413,259 $ 375806
329,186 329,186 329,185 307,032

228,937 228,937 11,560 240,497 264,809
43,481 43,481 43,673

74,007 74,007 75,013

7,963 7.963 7.716

43,164 43,164 47,765

6,213 6,213 6.667

281 281 281

304 304 291

387,461 387,461 387,461 389,544

5,500 5,500 11250

17,909 17,909 18,137
(11,745) (11,745) (12,384)

9.084 9,094 9,034 9,170

$ 352,680 $ 396.555 $ 329,186 S - $ 1,265,498 $ 301,076 $ 1,566,574 $ 1,544,870
$ 479,688 $ 752,422 $ 329,186 $ 596,557 $ 2,499,534 $ 379,612 $ 2,879,145 $ 2,770,648




CITY OF MILWAUKEE Exhibit 2
COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -
ALL GOVERNMENTAL FUND TYPES AND EXPENDABLE TRUST FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000
WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1999

(Thousands of Dollars)
Special
General Revenue
Revenues:
Property taxes $ 98456 S
Other taxes 12,808
Special assessments
Licenses and pemits 10,154
intergovernmenta! 278,434 61,404
Charges for services 45,383
Fines and forfeits 18,036
Other 14,358 1,152
Total Revenues 3 477628 $ 62,556
Expenditures:
Current:
General government $ 157615 $ 1488
Public safety A 220,878 14,278
Public works 100,696 4,678
Heailth 11,363 12,205
Culture and recreation 17,584 2,180
Conservation and development 7,502 26,572
Other
Capital outlay
Debt Service:
Principal retirement
Interest
Total Expenditures $ 515639 $ 61,401
Excess of Revenues over (under) Expenditures  .....cooeececcieincnenaccenn $ (38.010) $ 1,155
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Proceeds of bonds and notes $ 1312 $ 10,975
Operating transfers in 11,213
Operating transfers out (338) (12,351)
Operating transfers to component units (150)
Contributions received 536
Contributions used (685)
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) $ 11,888 $ (1.376)
Excess of Revenues and Other Sources over (under) Expenditures
and Other Uses $ (26,122) $ @1
Fund Balances - January 1 65,023 21,231
Residual Equity Transfers from Other Funds 2
Residual Equity Transfers to Other Funds . (9) (2)
Fund Balances - December 31 $ 38,8% $ 21,008

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Governmental Fund Types
Debt Capital
Service Projects
$ 57675 $ 2587
1,051
3,930
8,319
31.164 1.947
$ 89.8%0 S 16,783
S S
77,629
70,143
23,733
$ 93876 $ 77,628
S (3.980) $ (60.846)
$ S 78,840
26,584
(20.387) (1.885)
$ 6197 $ 77.055
$ 2211 S 16,208
105,170 6,985
462
(3.400) (462)
$ 104,443 $ 22,732
A A

Fiduciary

Fund Type

Trust

20.841

S 20,841

23,054

$ 23,054

$ (2213

$ (2.168)

398,714

Exhibit 2 (Continued)

Totals

(Memorandum Onty)

Reporting Entity

2000 1999

$ 158,718 $ 160,926
13,859 11,118
3,930 3,362
10,154 8.996
348,157 342,725
45,383 37.588
18,036 17.684
69.462 121,890

S 667.699 $ 704,309
$ 158,103 $ 133,691
235,157 215,569
105,374 95,868
23,568 25,353
19,764 18,643
34,074 34,891
23,054 22427
77628 100,822
70,143 66,925
23.733 22,640

S 771599 $ 736.929
$ (103,900) $ (32.620)
$ 91227 $ 83312
37.842 37,875
(34.961) (35,320)
(150) (150)

536 651

(685) 612

S 93,808 $ 85.856
$ (10,081) $ 53236
597,123 546,789
473 7679
(3.873) (10,581)
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CITY OF MILWAUKEE

Exhibit 3
COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -
BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL AND BUDGETED SPECIAL REVENUE FUND TYPES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000
(Thousands of Dollars)
General Fund
Actisal on Variance -
_ Amended Budgetary Favorable
Budget Basis (Unfavorable)
Revenues:
Property taxes $ 98,456 $ 98456 $
Other taxes 10,905 12,808 1,903
Licenses and permits 8,759 10,154 1.395
Intergovernmental 279,056 278,434 (622)
Charges for services 43,824 45,383 1,559
Fines and forfeits 19.306 18,036 (1,270)
Other 12,891 14,358 1.467
Total Revenues $ 473,197 S 477,629 $ 4432
Expenditures:
Current .
General govemment $ 160,893 $ 157,615 $ 3278
Public safety 220,732 220,879 (147)
Public works 96,835 100,696 (3.861)
Health 11,688 11,363 325
Cutture and recreation 17,519 17,584 (65)
Conservation and development 8.025 7,502 523
Tota! Expenditures $ 515,692 $ 515,639 $ 53
Excess of Revenues over {(under) Expenditures S (42,495) $ (38.010) $ 4485
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Proceeds of bonds and notes $ $ 8,071 $ 8,071
Operating transfers in 11,213 11,213
Operating transfers out (365) (338) 27
Operating transfers to component units  _._.....ccoccceeceevcanncs (150) (150)
Contributions lece!ved 675 536 (139)
Contributions used (826) (685) 141
Use of fund batance - reserved for tax stabilization ........... 11.250 11,250
Total Other Financing Sources (USS) .....ccecevceccenanenen $ 21.797 $ 29,897 S 8,100
Excess of Revenues and Other Sources over (under)
Expenditures and Other Uses $ (20,698) s (8,113) - $12585
Fund Balances - January 1 (Excludes Reserved for Tax
Stabilization) 55,085 55,085
Residual Equity Transfers from Other Funds 3% 2 34)
Residual Equity Transfers to Other FURAS  .........cceccemmevnnna. (61) () 52
Fund Balances (Deficits) - December31 oo, $ 34,362 $ 46,965 $ 12,603

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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Exhibit 3 (Continued)

Totals
{(Memorandum Only)
Special Revenue Funds Reporting Entity
Actual on Vanance - Actual on Variance -
Amended Budgetary Favorable Amended Budgetary Favorable
Budget Basis {Unfavorabie) Budget Basis (Unfavorable)
S S $ - $ 98,45 $ 9845 S -
- 10,905 12,808 1,803
- 8,759 10,154 1,395
62.082 61,404 (678) 341,138 339,838 (1,300)
- 43,824 45,383 1,559
- 19,306 18,036 (1,270)
- 12.891 14,358 1.467
$ 62,082 $ 61404 $ (678) $ 535,279 $ 535,033 $ 3754
$ 1,488 S 1488 $ - $ 162,381 T $ 159,103 $ 3278
14,424 14,278 146 235,156 235,157 Q)]
4678 4678 - 101,513 105,374 (3.861)
12,692 12,205 487 24,380 23,568 812
2,217 2,180 37 19,736 19,764 (28)
26.583 26,572 11 34,608 34,074 534
$ 62.082 $ 61,401 $ 681 $ 577,774 $ 577.040 $ 734
S - S 3 S 3 $ (42.495) S (38.007) S 4488
$ S $ - S - $ 8,07 S 8,071
- 11213 11,213 -
- (365) (338) 27
- (150) (150) -
- 675 536 (139)
- (826) (685) 141
- 11,250 11.250 -
$ - $ - $ - $ 21797 $ 29.897 S 8,100
$ - $ 3 3 3 $ (20.698) $ (8.110) $ 12,588
n ¢} - 55,084 55,084 -
- 36 2 (34)
@) (2) 61) an 50
$ (1) S - . $ 1 $ 34,361 $ 46,965 $ 12,604

B-11



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK



CITY OF MILWAUKEE Exhibit 4
COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN RETAINED EARNINGS -
ALL PROPRIETARY FUND TYPES AND DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000
WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1999
(Thousands of Dollars)
Totals
(Memorandum Only)
Enterprise Reporting Entity
Primary Component 1999
Government Units 2000 (Restated)
Operating Revenues:
Charges for services $ 126,357 $ 20,925 $ 147,282 $ 140,688
Operating Expenses:
Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District charges ...... $ 26,211 $ $ 26,211 $ 27,144
Employee services 11,483 748 12,231 11,646
Administrative and general 4,745 20,570 25,316 26,015
Housing assistance payments 17,016 17,016 16,819
Depreciation 11,786 17.404 29,190 35,5689
Transmission and distribution 16,212 16,212 15,662
Maintenance and utilities 13,333 13,333 12,520
Services, supplies and materials 20,329 132 20,461 12,873
Payment in lieu of taxes 9,087 9,087 7.852
Water treatment 7.642 7,642 7,443
Water pumping 4,969 4,969 5,346
Billing and coliection 3,460 3,460 3,527
Bad debts 859 859 221)
interest expense and subsidies 88 88 102
Cost of goods disbursed - 643
Rehabilitation costs (COSt recovenes) ........coemeccnnneen. 4,135 4,135 4,178
Show expenses 198 198 181
Other operating expenses 1,095 1.220 2.315 517
Total Operating Expenses $ 117.020 $ 75,703 $ 192,723 $ 187.916
Operating Income (Loss) $ 9,337 $(54.778) $ (45,441) $ (47.,228)
Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses):
Federal grants and subsidies $ $ 35,150 $ 35,150 $ 34,687
Interest income 1,132 5,297 6,429 6,423
interest expense (4,943) (2,145) (7,088) (6,487)
Loss on early repayments of Tax Incremental Districts . - (4,119)
Net gain (loss) on sale of fixed assets ........ccceceeveeenene (439) (11.724) (12,163) (348)
Contributions 139 139 516
Other 402 891 1.283 (4.547)
Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) ................ S (3.848) $ 27,608 $ 23,760 $ 26,125
income (Loss) before Operating Transfers ................ S 5,489 $(27,170) $ (21,681) $ (21,103)
Operating Transfers In : 9,457 9,467 9,228
Operating Transfers Out (12,348) (12,348) (11,883)
Operating Transfers from Primary Government ............... 150 150 150
Net income (Loss) S 2608 $(27.,020) $ (24.412) $ (23,608)
Retained Eamings - January 1 226,329 38,580 ' 264,909 288,525
~~~idual Equity Transfer to Other Funds .......ccceeeceemerences - (8)
aned Eamings - December 31 $ 228,937 $ 11,560 $ 240,497 $ 264,909

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF MILWAUKEE
COMBINED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS -

Exhibit 5

ALL PROPRIETARY FUND TYPES AND DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Operating income (loss)

Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income (Loss) to Cash
Provided by (Used for) Operating Activities:

Depreciation

Bad debt expense

(Gain) loss on properties
Other nonoperating revenues (expenses)
(Increase) decrease in receivables
(Increase) decrease in due from other funds ..
(Increase) decrease in due from primary govemment
(Increase) decrease in due from other govemmental agencies
(Increase) decrease in inventory of materials and suppiies
(Increase) decrease in inventory of property for resale
(Increase) decrease in prepaid items
(Increase) decrease in deferred charges
(Increase) decrease in other assets
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable
Increase (decrease) in accrued wages
Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses
Increase (decrease) in due to other funds
Increase (decrease) in due to primary government
Increase (decrease) in due to other governmental agencies
increase (decrease) in deferred revenue
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities

Net Cash Provided by (Used for) Operating Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTMITIES:

Operating transfers to other funds
Other nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Increase (decrease) in due to other funds

Contributions

Proceeds from bonds and notes payable
Retirement of bonds, notes and revenue bonds
Net increase (decrease) in due to primary government
Loss on early repayment of Tax Incremental Districts

Operating transfer from primary govermnment

Net Cash Provided by (Used for) Noncapital Financing Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Capital contributions

Proceeds from bond anticipation notes
Proceeds from sale of bonds and notes
Proceeds from sale of revenue bonds

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Retirement of bonds, notes and revenue bonds
Retirement of general obligation debt
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000
WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,1999
(Thousands of Dolfars)

Enterprise
Primary Component
Government Units

$ 9337 $(54.778)

11,786 17,404
859
11,724
425
(2,377 (10,149)
(158)
{2.094)
(8.077)
522 541
4,220
19 - (145)
@
528 (352)
2,128 4315
50 3
1,623
(2.288)
1,502
(5.233)
(36) 6,236
2,386

Totals
(Memorandum Only)
Repoﬂigg Entity

1999
2000 (Restated)

S(45441) S (47.228)

29,180 35,569
859 (221)
11,724 368
425 192
(12,526) (S08)
(158) (182)
(2,094) 359
(9.077) (780)
1,063 (256)
4,220 (4.489)
(126) 1,876
@
176 (474)
6,443 (5.756)
53 a1
1,623 727
(2.298) (6.463)
1,502 90
(5.233) 4,581
6,200 (257)
2.386 951

$ 19.924 $ (31.015)

$(11.081) S (22270)

$ (3152) S
4,079

31,066

1,765
(930)

150

$ GB152) § (2882)

4,079 (651)
- (1.045)
31,066 30,076
1,765 351
(930) (693)
296 (1,391)
- (4,119)
150 150

$ (3.152) S 36426

S 33274 S 19815

$ 3450 $ 32,120
6,258
4,891

(14509)  (43.721)
(8.556)
(8.850) ‘

$ 35570 ° $ 18,006

6,258
4,891 8,133
- 12,685
(58.230)
(8.556)
(8.950) o)



CITY OF MILWAUKEE Exhibit 5 (Continued)
COMBINED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS -
ALL PROPRIETARY FUND TYPES AND DISCRETELY PRESENTED COMPONENT UNITS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000
WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1999
(Thousands of Dollars)
Totals
(Memorandum Only)
Primary Component 1999
Govermnment Units 2000 (Restated)
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES (Continued):
Interest paid $ (4953) §$ (1,1200 §$ (68.073) S (5.456)
Sale of tand and other assets 26 26
Payment of obligation for capital lease - 44)
Retum of contributions - (155)
Operating transfers to other funds 271 271 203
Residual equity transfer to other funds - ®)
Repairs and restorations 422) 422) (1,295)
(Increase) decrease in fiscal agent funds 11,135 11,135 4,651
Net proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment (1.271) (1.271) 546
Net Cash Provided by (Used for) Capital and Related Financing Activities ... $ (13,938) $(11.413) $(25.351) (23,584)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: )
interest income $ 1103 $ 5297 $ 6400 $ 6423
Purchases of investments (4.000) {13.243) (17,243) (12,664)
Proceeds from the sale and maturity of investments 13,661 13,661 18,847
New loans made ........ (11,916) (11,916) (6.401)
Loan payments received 6,511 6,511 12,653
(Increase) decrease in accrued interest (31) 31) (122)
Capital expenditures on properties (2.,460) (2,460) (1,523)
Proceeds from the saie of properties 877 877 769
Other 977 977 361
Net Cash Provided by (Used for) Investing Activities $ (2897) S (3270 S (3.224) S 18443
Net Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 63) $ (6329) $ (6,3%2) $ (7.606)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at January 1 20.085 41,329 61,414 69,020
Cash and Cash Equivalents at December 31 $ 20,022 $ 35,000 $ 55,022 $ 61,414
Cash and Cash Equivalents at December 31 Consist of:
Unrestricted cash $ 20,022 $ 31,963 $ 51,985 $ 59,996
Restricted cash - 3.037 3.037 1.418
$ 20,022 $ 35,000 $ 55,022 S 61414

Non-cash Activities:
Enterprise Funds:
“The Port of Milwaukee disposed of fixed assets with a net value of $13 during the year.

During the year, water mains and related property, installed by others were deeded to the Water Works in the amount of $33.
During the year, various fumniture, furnishings, machinery and equipment of $372 were donated to the Sewer Maintenance Fund from.

general fund departments.

Component Units:
“heater recorded equipment purchases of $902 paid directly by the City of Milwaukee.

:l"he.notestomeﬁnancia! statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF MILWAUKEE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accompanying general purpose financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America. The following is a summary of the significant accounting policies.

A. Reporting Entity

The City of Milwaukee (the “City”) was incorporated on January 31, 1845, and operates under a Council-Mayor form of govemment. These
financial statements present the City (the primary govemment) and other organizations, including component units, for which the nature and
significance of their relationship with the primary government are such that their exclusion would cause the reporting entity’s financial
statements to be misleading or incomplete. The component units discussed below are legally separate organizations for which the elected
officials of the City are accountable. The City is considered financially accountable if it appoints a voting majority of the organization’s
goveming body and is able to impose its will on the organization, or there is a potential for the organization to provide specific financial

benefits to or burdens on the City. The City may be financially accountable if an organization is fiscally dependent on the primary
govemment.

Blended Component Units

The City does not have any component units that are considered “blended.”
Discretely Presented Component Units

The component units columns in the general purpose financial statements include the financial data of the City’s component units. They are
reported in a separate column to emphasize that they are legally separate from the City. -

COMPONENT UNITS ENTERPRISE FUNDS

Housing Authority - This entity is used to account for the Federal and State grants relating primarily to low income housing and rental
assistance programs. The entire goveming board is appointed by the Mayor of the City. The daily operations of the Housing Authority of the
City of Milwaukee (HACM) are managed by City employees.

Milwaukee Economic Development Corporation - The Milwaukee Economic Development Comporation (MEDC) is a nonstock, nonprofit
organization formed to promote economic development within the City. The principal objective of the Corporation is to benefit the community
by fostering increased employment through expansion of business and industry within the metropolitan Milwaukee area, MEDC's primary
source of funds is interest on loans originally granted through the City.

Neighbortiood Improvement Development Corporation - The Neighborhood Improvement Development Corporation (NIDC) is a nonprofit
corporation established to promote reinvestment in both housing and commercial structures within the City. NIDC programs encourage
private lending institutions and property owners to make improvements to the community’s homes and businesses. Corporate officers of
NIDC are provided by the City and daily operations are managed by City employees.

Pabst Theater - The City established the Pabst Theater as a municipal theater pursuant to Wisconsin Statutes. A separate board (Pabst
Theater Board) is responsiie for the maintenance, supetvision and operation of the theater. The City issued debt to finance building repairs
ang annually provides significant subsidies to the Pabst Theater.

Redevelopment Authority - The Redevelopment Authority of the City of Miwaukee (RACM) is responsibie for activities related to the
prevention and efimination of blight and slum conditions in the City. The City appoints all members of the Board and approves the budget.

Fmnancial statements of the individual component units can be obtained from their respective administrative offices.

The general purpese financial statements exclude the accounts of the Wisconsin Center District, Miwaukee Public Schools, the Milwaukee
Metropolitan Sewerage District, World Festivals Inc. ("Summerfest™) and the Employes’ Retirement System of the City of Milwaukee, because
these entities operate with separate governing boards and do not meet the criteria established by the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board (GASB) Statement 14 as component units of the City. The Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District (MMSD) s a joint venture
created to provide sewerage treatment services in the Milwaukee metropolitan area. The City is responsible for paying usage charges within
its junisdiction. These amounts, in tum, are billed by the City to°its water customers. The City has no equity interest in MMSD. Financial
statements for MMSD can be obtained from its administrative office.

B. Fund Accounting
The accounts of the City are organized on the basis of funds and account groups. Each fund is a separate fiscal and accounting entity with

self-balancing set of accounts including assets, fiabilities, equities, revenues and expenditures or expenses, which are segregated for the
purpose of carrying on specific activities or attaining certain objectives in accordance with specific regulations, restrictions or limitations.
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CITY OF MILWAUKEE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000

Account groups are used to establish accounting control and accountability for the City's general fxed assets and general long-term
obligations. The various funds are grouped in the accompanying financial statements into eight generic fund types and three broad fund

categories as follows:

GOVERNMENTAL FUND TYPES

General Fund - The General Fund is used to account for all financial resources, except those required to be accounted for in another fund.
Special Revenue Funds - Special Revenue Funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources (other than special
assessments, expendable trust or major capital projects) requiring separate accounting because of legal or regulatory provisions or
administrative action.

Grant and Aid Projects - This Fund is used to account for Federal and State grants whose proceeds are legalty restricted to expenditures for
specific purposes and which are not accounted for in other special revenue funds.

Community Development Block Grant - The Community Development Block Grant Program receives annual grants pursuant to the Federal
Housing and Community Development Act of 1974. This fund aiso includes amounts received under the Section 108 Loan Program. The
City's Department of Administration is responsible for the pianning, execution and evaluation of the Program.

Delinquent Tax - This Fund was established as a reserve against uncollected definquent property taxes. Fund resources, consisting initialty
of bond proceeds, are used to purchase delinquent property taxes from the General Fund. Collections on these purchased receivabies and
related interest thereon are transferred to the General Obligation Debt Service Fund to provide for the related debt service requirements.

Debt Service Funds - Debt Service Funds are used to account for the accumulation of resources and the payment of principal and interest
on long-term general obligation debt and expenditures incummed in connection with administration of the Public Debt Amortization Fund.

General Obligation Debt - Principal and interest on the City's outstanding long-term general obligation debt are paid from this Fund.

Public Debt Amartization - The Public Debt Amortization Fund is govemed by Section 67.101 of the Wisconsin Statutes for the retirement of
the public debt. See Note 5 for further discussion.

Capital Projects Funds - Capital Projects Funds are used to account for the financial resources segregated for the acguisition or
construction of major capital facilities other than those financed by proprietary funds. Capital Projects Funds are Kientified as foliows:

Bridges — To account for the financing, construction and repair of bridges and viaducts.

Buildings and Grounds — To account for the financing, construction and repair of buildings and improvements to city-owned land and
playgrounds.

Sewers ~ To account for the financing and construction of new and replacement storm, sanitary and combined sewer projects.
Urban Renewal — To account for the financing and costs of activities undertaken to prevent and eliminate blight and slum conditions.

Streets — To account for the financing and construction of new and replacement streets, alleys and sidewalks; and for the cost of installation
of street lights, traffic lights, parking signs and communication equipment.

Tax Incremental Districts — To account for the financing and costs of redeveloping blighted areas which are eligible under the Wisconsin Tax
Incrememntal taw, Section 66.46 of the Wisconsin Statutes.

Special Assessments — To account for the financing and construction of the City’s assessable projects. Upon completion, owners of
benefited property are assessed for construction costs incurred.

PROPRIETARY FUND TYPES

Enterprise Funds - Enterprise Funds are used to account for operations that provide services which are financed primarily by user charges,
or activities where periodic measurement of net income is appropriate for capital maintenance, public poficy, management control or other
purposes.

Metropolitan Sewerage District User Charge — The Metropolitan Sewerage District User Charge Fund is used to account for sewerage
treatment charges by the Mitwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District to the City on a “wholesale” user charge basis and the subsequent billing
by the City to customers on a “retail” basis. The City adds administrative expense to the District’'s charges and includes the sewer user
charges on the quarterly water bills.
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CITY OF MILWAUKEE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000

Parking - The Parking Fund was established to account for revenues derived from parking meters, parking pemmits, rentals and leasing of
parking facilites and other revenues attributable to parking. The revenues are used to defray administrative and operationa! costs related to
parking operations, and to acquire, landscape and construct parking lots and structures.

Port of Milwaukee - All activities necessary to operate and maintain the Port of Milwaukee and other related harbor activities are accounted
for in this Fund.

Sewer Maintenance —~ The Sewer Maintenance Fund, in accordance with Wisconsin State Statutes Section 66.076, permits municipalities to
implement sewer fees to recover the costs of operation, maintenance, repair, and depreciation of sewer collection and transportation facilities.
Sewer maintenance costs are recovered through a user fee rather than through the property tax.

Water Works - All activities necessary to provide water services to residents of the City and outlying areas are accounted for in this Fund.
Fund activities include administration, billing and collection, operations, maintenance and financing.

FIDUCIARY FUND TYPES

Trust and Agency Funds - Trust and Agency Funds are used to account for assets held in trust or as an agent by the City for others.
Expendable trust funds are accounted for and reported in essentially the same manner as governmental funds. Agency funds are custodial in

nature and are used to account for assets held by the City as an agent for individuals, private organizations, other governmental units and
other funds.

Expendable Trust Funds
Property Tax Collection - This Fund is used to account for advance property tax collections for the subsequent year's budget.

Deposits and Other Trust Funds - This Fund is used to account for the receipt and disposition of performance deposits, and for deposits the
City holds in the capacity of trustee for various individuals, govemmental entities and nonpublic organizations.

Deferred Compensation - The City's deferred compensation plan for City employees is accounted for in this fund in accordance with GASB
No. 32, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Intemal Revenue Code Section 457 Deferred Compensation Plans.

Agency Fund - Monies collected by the City for other govemmental entities are reported in the Agency Funds.
ACCOUNT GROUPS

General Fixed Assets Account Group - General fixed assets of the City, other than those reported in the enterprise fund are reported in
this account group.

General Long-Term Obligations Account Group - General long-termn debt and certain unfunded liabilities of governmental funds are
accounted for in the General Long-Term Obligations Account Group.

C. Measurement Focus

The measurement focus of all govemmental and expendable trust funds is the flow of cumrent financial resources concept. Under this
measurement focus, sources and uses of financial resources, including capital outlays, bond proceeds and retirement are refiected in
operations. Resources not available to finance expenditures and commitments of the current period are recognized as defemred revenue or a
reservation of fund equity. Liabilities for ciams, judgments, compensated absences and pension contributions, which will not be currently
liquidated using expendable available financial resources, are shown in the General Long-Term Obligations Account Group. The related
expenditures are recognized when the fiabilities are liquidated.

The measurement focus of proprietary funds and component unit enterprise funds is on the determination of net income, finandial position
and cash flows. Under this measurement focus, revenues and expenses are matched using the accrual basis of accounting. All fixed assets
are capitalized at historical cost and depreciated over their usefu! lives.

D. Basis of Accounting

All govemmental, expendable trust, and assets and liabilities of agency funds utilize the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under this
method, revenues are recognized in the accounting period in which they become susceptible to accrual; that is, when they become both
measurabie and available to finance expenditures and commitments of the current period. Significant revenues susceptible to accrual include
most governmental revenues and charges for services. Licenses and pemmits, fines and forfeits generally are recorded as revenues wher

received in cash because they are not measurable until actually received. Special assessments are recognized as revenues when they ar.
due.
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CITY OF MILWAUKEE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000

Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, expenditures are recognized when the related liability is incurred, if measurable, except for

interest on general long-term debt and unfunded claims, judgments, compensated absences and pension contributions, which are recorded
when due.

The proprietary funds and component unit enterprise funds follow the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of accounting.
revenues are recognized in the accounting period in which they are eamed and expenses are recognized in the period they are incurred.

Cash and cash equivalents

For purposes of the statements of cash flows, all highly liquid investments (including restricted cash and investments) purchased with a
maturity of three months or iess are considered to be cash equivaients. The City manages a cash and investment pool to maximize return on
funds while providing liquidity to meet day to day obligations. Each fund’s equity in the City's investment pool is considered to be a cash
equivalent, since the funds can deposit or effectively withdraw cash at anytime without prior notice or penalty. The Housing Authority
considers amounts on deposit with fiscal agents to be investments and not cash equivalents due to their restrictive nature.

investments

investments, primarily consisting of fixed income securities, are reported at fair value. Fair value is the amount at which an investment could
be exchanged in a current transaction between wiliing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. Commercial paper, which is short-
term, defined as having an original maturity of one year or iess, and highty liquid is carried at amortzed cost.

Investment income, including changes in the fair value of investments, is recognized as revenue in the Statements of Revenues,
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances and the Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Retained Eamings. Realized
gains and losses, defined as the difference between the proceeds of the sale and the original cost of the investments soid, are also included
in investment income.

Accrued interest on investments is recorded as eamed, since i is both measurable and available. Investment transactions are recorded on
the trade date.

Wisconsin Statutes permit the City to invest funds not immediatety needed in any of the following:

. Time deposits maturing within three years in any credit union, bank, savings bank, trust company or savings and foan association which
are authorized to transact business in the State of Wisconsin.

. Bonds or securities issued or guaranteed by the Federal government.

. Bonds or securities of any county, city, drainage district, technical college district, village, town or school district of the State of
Wisconsin, as well as bonds issued by a tocal exposition district, a local professional baseball park district, or the University of
Wisconsin Hospitals and Clinics Authority.

. Loca! Government Pooled - Investment Fund of the State of Wisconsin.
Repurchase agreements with public depositories, if the agreement is secured by federal bonds or securities.

- Any Security which matures or which may be tendered for purchase at the option of the holder within not more than seven years of the
date on which it is acquired, if that security has a rating which is the highest or second highest rating category assigned by Standard &
Poor's Corporation, Moody's Investors Service, Inc. or other similar nationally recognized rating agency or if that security is senior to, or
on a parity with, a security of the same issuer which has such a rating.

Securities of open-end management investment companies or investment trusts (mutual funds) if the portfolic is limited to (a) bonds and
securities issued by the federal govemment or a commission, board or other instrumentality of the federal government, (b) bonds that
are guaranteed as to principal and interest by the federal government or a commission, board or other instrumentality of the federal
government, and (<) repurchase agreements that are fully collateralized by these bonds or securities.

Property taxes

Property taxes are recorded as receivables and deferred revenues in a trust fund in the year levied because the taxes are restricted to
funding the succeeding years budget appropriations. Property tax payments received prior to year end are also reflected in a trust fund.
Property taxes are recognized in the appropriate govemnmental funds as revenues in the succeeding year when they are collected and
available to finance City services. If not collected at year end, the delinquent property taxes are reflected as receivables and deferred
revenues. Delinquent propesty taxes and related interest are recognized as revenues when collected.
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The allowance for uncollectible property taxes is based on an analysis of the delinquent property taxes and, in management's judgment,
represents an amount adequate to provide for potential uncollectible taxes. The allowance is increased by provisions charged to revenues
and is reduced by taxes receivable written off.

Property taxes receivable purchased from other taxing authorities are presented in the accompanying financial statements net of an
allowance for estimated uncollectible amounts.

The City, through its Special Revenue Fund - Delinquent Tax, issues general obligation short-term promissory notes to finance the purchase
of the most recent delinquent taxes from its General Fund. Collections on these delinquencies are used for the associated debt service
requirements.

Unbilied services

Unbilled water and sewer services at year end are recognized as revenues and receivables in the accompanying financial statements.
Special assessments

Special assessments consist of capital projects constructed through non-special assessment debt. Special assessments are recorded as
receivables and deferred revenues when the related capital outiays are made and are recorded as revenues when due and payable. All
special assessments are due when billed and may be paid on an instaliment basis with interest. Special assessment receivables that

become delinquent are added to the general tax roll. The method of enforcing collections is the same as for general city taxes with like force
and effect.

Notes and loan receivables )

The General Fund, the Special Revenue Fund - Community Development Block Grant, and Neighborhood improvement Development
Corporation hold notes and ioans receivable from individuals, small businesses and corporations in the Milwaukee area which are secured by
primary or secondary security interests in real estate or other assets. The City periodically analyzes the collectibiiity of the notes and loans
that are not insured and provides allowances as considered necessary.

The City creates tax incremental districts (TID) to issue debt to fund redevelopment projects. Pursuant to a cooperation agreement between
the City, the Redevelopment Authority of the City of Milwaukee {Authority), and the Milwaukee Economic Development Corporation
(Corporation), the City provides the Authority and the Corporation with the funds necessary to carry out the loan to a private developer to
finance the redevelopment projects. Loan repayments to the Authority and the Corporation from the private developer, including interest
income as well as other project income, are transferred to the City until the City’s loan has been repaid or the TID expires. The City refiects
these loans as notes receivable and deferred revenue in an amount estimated to be repaid from the Authority and the Corporation.

Inventories

Inventories of materials and supplies are stated at moving average cost, based upon perpetual recordkeeping systems and periodic cycle
counts of quantiies on hand. Inventories are accounted for under the consumption method, whereby inventory acquisitions are recorded in
inventory accounts initially and charged as expenditures or expenses when requisitioned for use. Inventories in governmental funds are
reserved for in fund balance, because inventories are not expendabie avaitabie financial resoyrees.

Prepaid items

Cashpaymentsbeneﬁﬁngﬁxtureperiodshavebeenrecordedasprepaid items. They will be reflected as expenditures or expenses when
ncurred in the subsequent year.

Property, plant and equipment

General fixed assets are recorded as expenditures in the govemnmental funds when purchased or constructed. Subsequently, the general
fixed assets, except for infrastructures, are capitalized in the Genera! Fixed Assets Account Group. Infrastructure assets such as roads,
bridges, curbs, gutters, streets, sidewalks and drainage and lighting systems are not recorded in the General Fixed Assets Account Group.
Assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost. Assets received as gifts or donations are recorded at fair market vaiue at
time of receipt. Interest cost was not capitalized during construction for 2000.

Depreciation is not recorded on general fixed assets.

Fixed assets of the proprietary funds and component units are capitalized at cost when purchased or constructed. When the fixed assets 2
retired or soid, the related cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts, and the gain or loss on disposition is genera

reflected in operations. Maintenance and repair costs are charged to operations as incurred and renewals and improvements are added t.
the asset accounts.
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Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives using the straight-line method. The estimated depreciation lives in years are as
follows: :

Port of Water Sewer Component

Parking Milwaukee Works Maintenance Units

Buildings and improvements 20-40 10-50 45-58 7-80

Machinery and egquipment 10 340 6-56 37 3-20
Water transmission and distribution systems ........ccccccemnnnnccane. 64-110

Pension contributions

Pension contributions made on behalf of the employees are recorded in all funds as an expenditure when the liability is incured. The
employer's share of the annual contribution is recorded in the proprietary funds as an expense when the liability is incurred and in the
govemnmenta! funds as an expenditure when the liability is liquidated with expendable available financial resources. The annual pension
contribution requirement is recorded as a liability in the General Long-Term Obligations Account Group when incurred.

Compensated absences

Vacation pay is recorded as a liability in the General Long-Term Obligations Account Group as the benefits accrue to the employees.
Accrued vacation pay is recognized as an expenditure when liquidated with expendable available financial resources. At year end, accrued
vacation pay that will not be liquidated with expendable available financial resources is reported as a hability in the General Long-Term
Obligations Account Group. Vacation benefits are recorded as expenses in the proprietary funds over the periods the benefits accrue to the
employees.

City employees accrue sick leave in accordance with labor agréemems or Section 350-37 of the Code of Ordinances. Sick leave is recorded
as an expenditure or expense when paid. Upon retirement, employees are entitied to payment for a portion of accumulated sick leave as
terminal leave. The liability for terminal leave is described in Note 6.

Claims and judgments

Claims and judgments are recorded as liabilities when they are both probable and estimable. Claims and judgments that are expected to be
liquidated with expendable available financial resources are recorded during the year as expenditures in the govemmental funds. {f they are
not expected to be hiquidated with expendabie available financial resources, a liability is recorded in the General Long-Term Obligations
Account Group. The related expenditure is recognized when the liability is fiquidated. Claims and judgments are recorded in the proprietary
funds as expenses when the related liabilities are incumred.

The City accrues environmental remediation obligations when related liabilities are probable and reasonably estmable. These accruals
generally are recognized no later than completion of a remedial feasibility study and are adjusted as further information develops or
circumstances change. Costs of future expenditures for environmental remediation obligations are not discounted to their present value.

Encumbrances and cartyovers

Encumbrance accounting is employed in the govemmenta! funds. Encumbrances of purchase orders, contracts and other commitments for
the expenditure of funds are recorded as reservations of fund balance until expended. Encumbrances are not reflected as expenditures.
Expenditures are recorded and encumbrances are liquidated when the setvices or matenials are received. Appropriations nét encumbered
and not carried over by action of the Common Council iapse at year end. Unencumbered appropriations, authorized for carry-over, are
recorded as reservations of fund balance.

intergovernmental revenues

intergovernmental grants are recorded as revenues, if they are susceptible to accrual, in the govemnmental funds in the period the related
expenditures are incumred. State shared taxes are recognized as revenues in the governmental funds when the City is entitied to these funds.
intergovernmental grants received for proprietary fund operating pumoses, or which may be utilized for either operations or capital
expenditures at the discretion of the City, are recognized as nonoperating revenues in the accounting period in which they are eamed.

Intergovernmental grants restricted for the acquisition or construction of capital assets are recorded as contributed capital in the proprietary
funds.
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Interest on general obligation long-term and special assessment debt

Interest on general obligation long-terrn and special assessments debt is recorded as an expenditure when due and payable from the primary
govemment.

Interfund transactions

Transactions between funds are categorized as (1) quasiexternal, (2) reimbursements, (3) advances or loans and (4) operating and residual
equity transfers. )

accounted for as revenues and expenditures or expenses in the funds involved if they are similar to transactions with third parties.
Reimbursements for expenditures made on behalf of ancther fund are recorded as expenditures in the reimbursing fund and as reductions of
expenditures in the reimbursed fund. Advances or foans between funds are accounted for as short or long-temm interfund receivables and
payabies.

Budgets and budgetary accounting -

City departments are required to submit their annual budget requests for the ensuing year to the Mayor by the second Tuesday in May. The
Department of Administration, Division of Budget and Management Analysis, acting as staff for the Mayor, reviews the request in detail with
the departments during June and July. After all of the requests have been reviewed, the Mayor submits his proposed Executive Budget to

appropriations by a department, the legal level of contro! for each budget. During the year, various amendments were made to the budget
including carryovers of appropriations and encumbrances, and intemnal transfers.

Annual budgets are legally adopted by the Common Council for some but not afl govemmental funds. Annual budgets are not adopted for
Special Revenue Fund - Delinquent Tax, Debt Service Fund - Public Debt Amortization and Capital Projects Funds. The Debt Service Eund -
General Obligation Debt uses a non-appropriated budget Budgets for Capital Projects Funds are prepared for the project life, rather than for
the standard cumrent fiscal year. Therefore, project appropriations for these budgets lapse at the conclusion of the project. All other
appropriations lapse at the end of the current fisca! year. Governmental funds for which annual budgets have been adopted are included in
the accompanying Statemnent of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual.

As of December 31, 2000, the Debt Service Fund - General Obligation Debt has a fund balance of $30,435,000 reserved for 2001 debt
service.

All adopted budgets for the governmental funds are prepared in accordance with the modified accrual basis of accounting, except for the
treatment of the fund balance - reserved for mx stabilization. For budget purposes, the fund balance - reserved for tax stabilization is
mﬂe@edasomerﬁnandngsoumswheteasforaccounﬁng purposes, it is reflected as part of fund balance. The difference between the fund
balance on 3 GAAP basis compared to budget basis is $11,250,000 at January 1, 2000. Expenditures on 2 budgetary basis are financed by
pending notes receivabie of $8,071,000 at December 31, 2000.

For 2000, expenditures exceeded appropriations in the General Fund in the amount of $7.070,000. The Coundil has approved the issuance
of short-term promissory notes to fund these deficits in 2001.

GASB Pronouncements
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New Accounting Pronouncements

GASB recently issued Statements No. 33, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Nonexchange Transactions, No. 34, Basic Financial
Statements-and Management's Discussion and Analysis-for State and Local Governments, and No. 36, Recipient Reporting for Certain
Shared Nonexchange Revenues (an amendment of GASE Statement No. 33). The City intends to impiement GASE 33, 34, and 36 for the

year ended December 31, 2002. Management is cumently evaluating the impact of these statements on the results of operations and
financial condition.

Total columns on the Combined Statements - Overview

Total colurnns on the Combined Statements - Overview are captioned Memorandum Only and are presented for analysis purposes only.
Data in these columnns do not present financial position, results of operations or cash flows in conformity with generally accepted accounting

principles. Such data are not comparable to a consolidation because interfund eliminations have not been made in the aggregation of the
data.

Comparative memorandum tetal data for the prior year have been presented in the accompanying financial statements to provide an
understanding of changes in the City's financial position and operation.

2. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS

The City maintains a cash and investment pool that is available for use by all the funds, except for Debt Service Funds, Water Works
Enterprise Fund, and component entities. Under Wisconsin Statutes, one-third of all interest on pooled cash and investments is allocated to
the Public Debt Amortization Fund. The remaining two-thirds is credited to the General Fund. Each fund type’s portion of pooled cash and
investments is included in the cash and cash eguivalents line on the Combined Balance Sheet The Debt Service Funds, Water Works
Enterprise Fund, and component units maintain separate cash and investments. In addition, investments are separately held by several
other City funds. No violations of legal provisions for deposits and investments were committed during the year.

Deposits

At December 31, 2000, the reported amount of the City’s deposits and cash on hand for the primary government was $44,607,000 and the
related bank balance was $42.715,000. The carmrying amounts of the City’s deposits and cash on hand for the component units were
$14,584,000, and the related bank balance was $17,703,000. Bank batances of deposits for accounts maintained by the City Treasurer in the
amount of $1,956,000 are entirely insured and $3,003,000 are coliateralized by securities held in the pledging banks’ trust departments in the
City’s name. The remaining balance of $37,756,000 is neither insured nor coliateralized, nor was this amount significantly exceeded during
the year. Of the component units deposits not in the custody of the City Treasurer, $7,443,000 are entirely insured and $10,260,000 are
uninsured and uncollateralized at the end of the year.

Cash equivalents and investments

The City's primary governrnent and component units cash equivalents and investments are categorized as either (1) insured or registered or
securities held by the City or its agent in the City’s name, (2) uninsured and unregistered with securities held by the counterparty’s trust
department or agent in the City’s name or (3) uninsured or unregistered with securities hekd by the counterparty, or by its trust department or
agent but not in the City’s name.

Cash and investments with fiscal agents include $9,317,000 placed in trust for Housing Authority debt retirement, $5.843,000 for
Redevelopment Authority debt retirement and $2,166,000 for Milwaukee Economic Development Corporation.
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) Category Category Category Reported Fair
Primary Government 1) {2 3) Amount Value
(Thousands of Dollars)
U.S. Treasury Obligations 3 $ 68,584 $ $ 68594 S 68,594
Cornmercial Paper 67,985 67,985 67,985
U.S. Agency Securities 48,841 46,841 46,841
Municipal Bonds and Notes 11.045 11,045 11,045
S - $ 194,465 S - S 194465 S 194465
Cash and Investments with Fiscal Agents ............. 8,590 8,580
Local Government Pooled - Investment Fund ......... 132,305 132,305
Institutional Money Market Fund 40,143 40,143
Deferred Compensation investments _.................... 387.461 387.461
Total Cash Equivalents and investments ............. $ 762,964 $ 762,964
Category Category Category Reported Fair
Component Units: (1) 2 3) Amount Vaiue
(Thousands of Dotlars)
V. S. Treasury Obligations $ 432 $ $ 6,284 S 6716 S 6.716
Repurchase Agreements 2,580 2,580 2,580
Cash and Investments with Fiscal Agents .............. 18,346 18,346
Local Government Pooled - Investment Fund  ......... 21,569 21.569
Total Cash Equivalents and Investments ............. S 432 s - $ 8.864 $ 49,211 $ 49211

The pooled investments have not been categorized based on custodial risk because they are not securities. The relationship between the
City and the investment agent is a direct contractual relationship, and the investments are not supported by a transferable instrument that
evidences ownership or creditorship. The Local Govemment Pooled — Investment Fund is an external investment pool administered by the
State of Wisconsin. The fair value of the City’s investment in the fund is the sarne as the value of the pooled shares. Although not subject to
direct regulatory oversight, the fund is administered in accordance with the provisions of Section 25.50 of the Wisconsin Statutes.

= PROPERTY TAXES

The City’s property taxes are levied on or before December 31, on the assessed (taxable) value as of the prior January 1, for all general
property located in the City. Taxes become a lien against the property upon filing the roll in the Office of the City Clerk. This generally takes
place n December. The taxes are due January 31, but may be paid in ten monthly instaliments without interest from January through
October. Foreclosure can be commenced after one year from date of delinquency.

The City purchases property taxes receivable from other taxing authorities at the unpaid amounts to faciiitate the collection of the taxes. The
purchases are a financing arrangement and are not inciuded in property tax revenues. Also, delinquent water and sewer charges and special
assessment receivables are transferred to the General Fund at the unpaid amounts.

At December 31, 2000, delinquent property taxes include definquent sewer and water charges and special assessments by year levied, tax
deeded property, and allowance for uncollectible taxes. These delinquent property taxes are reported as part of taxes receivable in the
General Fund and Special Revenue Fund - Delinquent Tax and consist of the following:
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Purchased

City Taxes
Levy Receivable Total

(Thousands of Dollars)
1995 and prior $ 1499 $ 2684 § S 4,183
1996 435 753 1,188
1887 473 838 1,311
1998 1,308 2,397 3,705
1999 4,543 8.779 13.322
Total delinquent property taxes receivable $ 8258 $ 15451 $ 23,709
Property taxes receivable on foreciosed property  .......cccevmeeceenes 15,202
Less: Allowance for uncollectible taxes (11.332)

Net delinquent property taxes receivable, including tax deeded property $ 27.579

4. DEFERRED REVENUE

Deferred revenue is recorded in the governmental funds for amounts not yet available and for resources received prior to being eamed by the
City. Related revenue is recognized when these amounts become available or when eamed. The composition of the deferred revenue
balances in the govemmental funds is as follows:

Special Debt Capital
General Revenue Service Projects Total
(Thousands of Dollars)
Delinquent property taxes s 167 $ $ $ $ 167
Uneamed revenue 1,804 5,269 7.073
Long-term receivables 6,291 31220 4,110 41,621
Unbilled special assessments 9,099 9.098

$1.971 $ 11,560 $ 31,220 S 13,208 $ 57.960

S DEBT

General obligation long-term debt, which includes $28,560,000 designated for local improvement projects and special assessment use,
consisted of 44 separate issues from 1990 through 2000 with applicable interest rates ranging between 3.4% to 10% as of December 31,
2000. Trust and Agency Fund bonds and notes payable consists of revenue anticipation notes maturing in 2001 with split interest rates of
5.0-5.25%. Changes in debt for 2000 were as follows:
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Balance New Balance
01-01-00 issues  Repayments 12-31-00
(Thousands of Dollars)
General Obligation Bonds and Notes:
City $ 395,036 $ 91227 S 55574 $ 430,689
Milwaukee Public Schools 78,053 28,320 14,559 91,814
Enterprise - City (including current maturities) ..........cooooeovennnl. 86,010 4,890 8.163 82,737
Total $ 559,099 $ 124,437 S 78,296 $ 605,240
Deferred gain 93 - 8 85
Total General Obligation Debt $ 568,192 $ 124437 S 78.304 S 605.325
Sewer Maintenance
Bond anticipation note s - $ 6.258 S - S 6258
Water Works
Revenue Bonds $ 17560 S - S 787 $ 16773
Trust and Agency Funds:
Bonds and notes payable $ 100.000 S 110.000 $ 100.000 S 110.000
Component Units Long-Term Debt (including cusrent maturities):
Bonds and notes - other S 1401 $ 1765 S 930 S 2236
Revenue bonds - HACM 10,691 1.708 8,983
Revenue bonds - RACM 11,147 6.848 4,299
Total Component Units Long-Term Debt (including current
maturities) $ 23239 $ 1765 S 9486 $ 15518
Total Debt $ 689,991 $ 242,460 S 188.577 $ 753,874

The beginning balance for the component units has been restated to correspond with the proper classification reflected in the Combined
Balance Sheet.

Primary Government Long-Term Debt

General Obligation Bonds and Notes are secured by the full faith and unlimited taxing power of the City. The bonds and notes in the General
Long-Term Obligations Account Group will be retired by future property tax levies and other resources accumulated in the Debt Service
Funds. The bonds and notes in the Parking, Water Works, and Port of Milwaukee Enterprise Funds will be retired by revenues from these
operations or, if the revenues are not sufficient, by future tax levies.

General long-term obligations do not include $73,342.000 of City of Miwaukee Industrial Development Revenue Bonds issued in accordance
with the Wisconsin Statutes. These obligations are primarily secured by revenue agreements on the associated projects and, together with
the interest obligation, are payable solely by the developers, and do not constitute indebtedness of the City.

Use of Public Debt Amortization Fund for retirement of the public debt is govemed by the Wisconsin Statutes. The Statutes provide that
when total principal and accrued interest in the Public Debt Amortization Fund is substantially equal to the outstanding general obligation
bonds and notes, the resources in the fund shall be applied to make annual interest and principal payments on that debt to maturity. The
Statutes provide, in part, that “The Public Debt Commission may, however, at any time, apply the fund, not to exceed in any one year 4C
percent of the balance in said fund on the preceding December 31, to acquire for cancellation general obligation bonds or notes prior to thei
maturity dates at prices not to exceed principal plus accrued interest to date of maturity, but the fund shall not be decreased below
$2,000.000 as a result of such purchases and cancellations.” Principal sources of revenue are one-third of all interest on general City
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investments and interest on Fund investments. As authorized by the Statues, the Public Debt Amortization Fund may purchase for
investment or for cancellation, notes issued by the General Fund to fund operations.

Through 2000, $176,308,120 has been borrowed for thirty-three tax incremental districts (TID). Total debt service requirements associated
with this debt issues amount to $277.757,180. Tax increments received through 2000 total $177,725,636. In any year in which TID debt
service requirements for the ensuing year are greater than total tax increments received, the shortfall is funded by the property tax levy.

Under the Wisconsin Statutes, the City is required, if requested by the Board of Milwaukee Public Schools, and if approved by referendum, to
issue general obligation bonds to finance purchases of school sites and to construct or remode! schoot buildings. No such bonds are
currently outstanding. The $91,814,000 of Milwaukee Public School long-tern debt outstanding at December 31, 2000 consists of a portion of
the City’s general cbligation bonds and notes, which has been designated for school purposes.  Under the Wisconsin Statutes, the City has
title to the land and buildings of the Milwaukee Public Schools. However, the City does not control the use of the assets or receive the
proceeds upon disposition of the assats. At June 30, 2000, the historical costs of the iand and buildings as reported by Milwaukee Public
Schools was approximately $538,014,000. These assets are excluded from the financial statements of the City.

The Sewer Maintenance Fund Bond Anticipation Note was issued for the purpose of financing the cost of improvements to the City’s
sewerage system pending the issuance of sewerage system revenue bonds. Interest payments are based on the State of Wisconsin Local
Govermnment investment Pool! rate and are payable semiannually. Principal is payable upon maturity on December 15, 2001.

The Water Works Revenue Bonds were issued for the purpose of providing for the payment of the cost of constructing improvements to the
Water System of the Municipality, pursuant to Article X1, Section 3, of the Wisconsin Constitution, Section 66.066 Wisconsin Statutes, and is
payable only from the income and revenues derived from the operation of the Water System of the Municipality. This Bond issuance does
not constitute an indebtedness of the City of Miwaukee within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory debt limitation or provision.

Wisconsin Statutes limit direct general obligation borrowing in the amount equivaient to 7% of the equalized valuation of taxable property.
The Statutes further provide that within the 7% Emitation, borrowing for school construction purposes may not exceed 2% of the equalized
valuation and borrowing for general city purposes may not exceed 5% of the equalized valuation. At December 31, 2000, the City's iegal
debt margin was $6538,284,000. Of this amount, $346,885,000 was for school purposes and $292,409.000 was for City purposes. The ratio
of aggregate indebtedness of all taxing authorities located within the City's boundaries to the equalized value of the taxable property was
approximately 5.9%, including 3.3% related to direct City indebtedness at December 31, 2000.

The maturities of the outstanding principal and refated interest requirements are as follows:

Total

General Obligation Debt Revenue Bonds Payable Debt

Year ) Principal Interest Principal Interest Service
(Thousands of Dollars)

2001 $ 73647 $ 30449 $ 744 $ 433 $ 105,273

2002 62,634 26,971 764 413 90,782

2003 58,240 23,938 784 383 83,355

2004 55,982 21,065 805 372 78,224

2005 53,542 18,129 826 350 72,847

Thereafter 301,185 69,635 12,850 2,313 385,993

Totals $ 605,240 $ 180,187 $ 16,773 $ 4.274 $ 816474

During 2000, the City defeased $112.000.000 of Revenue Anticipation Notes which come due in the first half of 2007 by placing funds in an
irevocable trust with a financial institution. Accordingly, these obligations have been removed as liabilities of the General Fund.

At December 31, 2000, a total of $69,980,000 in outstanding general obligation bonds is considered defeased.
Component Units Long-Term Debt
The Housing Authority Bonds and Notes are secured by a lien on all revenues of the Housing Authority Low Income Housing Program. The

Housing Authority Bonds and Notes are not a general obligation of the City, nor are they guaranteed by the City. As such, they are not
backed by the general credit or taxing powers of the City.
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Approximately $4,705,000 of Redevelopment Authority bonds are payable from net revenues eamed from certain veterans housing projects
administered by the Housing Authority. Such revenues are pledged by the Housing Authority pursuant to a cooperation agreement entered
into by the Redevelopment Authority and the Housing Authority. Under the terms of the agreement, only those revenues eamed by the
specified projects are pledged to repay the debt. The Redevelopment Authority bonds are not general obligations of the City, nor are they
guaranteed by the City. As such, they are not backed by the general credit or taxing powers of the City.

The maturities of the outstanding principal and related interest requirements for the component units are as follows:

Bonds and Notes Payable Revenue Bonds Payable Total
Year Principal interest Principal interest  Debt Service
(Thousands of Dollars)

2001 $ 1593 S 48 $ 860 S 217 $ 2718
2002 167 36 900 179 1,282
2003 167 25 940 139 1,271
2004 167 15 980 95 1257
2005 142 4 619 49 814
Thereafter 8.983 8,983
Totals $ 2236 S 128 $ 13.282 S 679 S 16.325

6. RETIREMENT PLANS

Pension Benefits

Plan Description - The City makes contributions to the Employes’ Retiremnent System of the City of Miwaukee (the “System”), a cost-sharing
muttiple-employer defined benefit pension pian, on behalf of all eligible City employees. The System provides retirement, disabiiity, and
death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. The City Charter assigns the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions. The
System issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information for the System.
That report may be obtained by writing to the Employes’ Retirement System of the City of Milwaukee, 200 East Wells Street, Room 610,
Milwaukee, W1 53202.

Funding Policy - Plan members are required to contrbute, or have contributed on their behalf, a percentage of their annual eamable
compensation equal to 5.5%, 6%, 7%, and 7% for generat City employees, police officers, firefighters, and elected officials, respectively. The
City is required to contribute the actuarially determined amount. The City Charter assigns the authority to establish and amend contribution
requirements. The City's contributions to the System for the years ending December 31, 2000, 1999, and 1998 were $20,693,000,
$19,261,000, $19,265,000, respectively, equal to the required contributions on behalf of the plan members for each year. (See Note 11)

Other Postemployment Benefits

The City provides medical insurance benefits for substantially all retirees in accordance with terms set forth in labor contracts or by Common

Council resolution. Retirees are eligible to enroll in any of the group plans offered by the City. Aside from the Basic Plan, this includes any of
the Health Maintenance Organizations (HMO) plans currently offered to active employees.

The City provides full heatth insurance coverage to general City employees who retire at age 55, but less than age 65, with 30 years of
creditable service or age 60, but less than age 65, with 15 years of creditable service until the age of 65. In accordance with a “percentage
formula® as provided in labor agreements, the City provides between 65% and 100% of the cost of the Basic Plan coverage for firefighters
and police officers who retire with 25 years of creditable service and having attained at least the age of 52 but less than 60. Upon reaching
the age of 60 but prior to the age of 65, the City provides full health insurance coverage for firefighters with single enroliment status and
police officers with single enroliment status. The City contribution for firefighters between the ages of 60 and 65 with family enroliment status
is the greater of 100% of the cost of single enroliment in the Basic Plan or an amount determined using the “percentage formuta.”™ The

“percentage formula® used to determine the City contribution in the labor agreements is based on the amount of unused sick leave at
retirement. :

After attaining the age of 65 and having compieted a minimum of 15 years of creditable service, all retirees are efigible to enroil in a
“subsidized plan” for medical insurance. Under this plan, the.City contributes 25% of the base rate toward retirees enrolled in the Basic Plan
while the retiree pays 75% of the base rate and 100% of the major medical rate. For those retirees enrolied in an HMO, the City contributes :

25% subsidy of the applicable HMO premium.
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Medical insurance for retirees is financed on a pay-as-you-go basis. Approximately 7,000 empioyees are efigible to receive these benefits.
For 2000, the City paid approximately $14,630,000 toward medical insurance for its retirees.

in addition to medical insurance, the City allows its employees to continue life insurance coverage under the Group Life Insurance Plan
offered to active employees in accordance with Section 350-25 of the Code of Ordinances. The base amount of coverage for general City
employees is equal to the empioyee’s annual basic salary to the next higher thousand dollars. The base amount of coverage for firefighters
and police officers is equal to one and one-half the empioyee’s annual basic salary to the next higher thousand dollars.

General City employees retiring at age 55 or older with 30 years of service or at age 60 regardless of years of service and covered under the
group life insurance plan at retirement are eligible to continue coverage at the level on the date prior to their date of retirement. Firefighters
and police officers retiring at age 52 or older with 25 years of service or at age 57 regardless of years of service and covered under the group
fife insurance plan at retirement are eligible to continue coverage up to their base amount of coverage on the date prior to their date of
retirement  Prior to age 65, all refirees are required to pay the full premium rates as established by the insurance carrier, less an adjustment
for estimated dividends. The rates established are group rates applied consistently to all employees, without regard to age or health. Upon
reaching the age of 65, those retirees still part of the group life plan have their coverage reduced in accordance with the reduction schedule in
effect on their last day physically at work, with the City assuming all future premiums.

For 2000, the groups rate for life insurance for the City population as a whole was approximately fifty-one cents per month per $1,000 of
coverage after estmated dividends. The effect on this rate as a result of including retirees in the pool is not determinable. Group life
insurance for retirees age 65 or older are financed on a pay-as-you-go basis and cannot be readity separated from amounts paid on behalf of
active employees. The City estimates $837,000 out of a tatal $3,258,000 for group iife insurance for 2000 is attributadie to approximately
4,850 retirees on the basis of the common group fife rate.

Terminal Leave Payments -

Upon retirement, employees receive a portion of their unused sick leave as terminal leave, in accordance with labor contracts and Section
350-38 of the Code of Ordinances. Firefighters whose normal hours of work exceed 40 hours per week receive between $45 and $65 for
each work shift equivalent of unused sick leave. Firefighters whose nommal hours of work average 40 hours per week receive between $21
and $30 for each work shift equivalent of unused sick leave. Police officers receive payment for up to 55 days of unused sick leave at base
pay. Management pay plan empioyees are entitied to payment of 30% of unused sick leave (maximum 850 hours) plus one-half of the sick
leave days accumulated during the last twelve months of service for up to six additional days for a total maximum of 42 days at the rate of
pay at retirement.  Substantially all remaining City employees receive up to 30 days for unused sick leave as terminal leave, although some
bargaining units receive slightly different benefits in accordance with related labor agreements. in 2000, approximately $8,196,000 was paid
for sick leave from all funds. At December 31, 2000, accumulated sick leave eamed but not taken totaled approximately $122,213,000
determined on the basis of current salary rates.

Terminal leave pay i funded on a pay-as-you-go basis and provided for in the salary budgets of the respective departments annually. In
2000 terminal leave payments totaled $2,255,000 to employees retifing during the year. As of December 31, 2000, the City has accrued
approximately $16,646,000 in the General Long-Term Obligations Account Group for future terminal leave payments. This amount is
included under the unfunded compensated absences of $30,534,000, with the remainder accrued vacation leave of $13,889,000.

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION FOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS AND COMPONENT UNITS
The City maintains five enterprise funds within its primary govemment as foliows:

Metropolitan Sewerage District User Charge Fund (MSDUC)

Parking Fund

Port of Milwaukee (Port)

Sewer Maintenance
Water Works Fund (Water)

Selected information for 2000 with respect to these enterprises was as follows:
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Sewer

MSDUC Parking Port Maintenance Water Total
(Thousands of Dollars)

Operating revenues .........coooecemeen... $ 30,516 $ 16,227 $ 1,976 $ 15,582 S 62,056 $ 126,357
Depreciation (1,903) {751) (1786) (8,956) (11,786)
Other operating expense ................... (30,176) (12,141) (2,219) (18,652) (42,045) (105,234)
Operating income (10SS) .....cceeeveeeemne. 340 2,183 (994) (3,246) 11,054 9,337
Other nonoperating revenues

{expenses) (1.625) (399) (124) (1,700) (3,848)
Operating transfers - ..cooucueeueeeee.... 1,406 453 7,608 9,467
Operating transfers out .................... 4.851) (7.497) (12,348)
Net income (losS) ...cooueeeneee. 340 (2,887) (940) (3,370) 8,485 2,608
Current capital contributions 3,058 1,869 372 33 5,333
Property, Plant and Equipment

Additions 3,776 1,977 951 10,077 16,781

Disposals 371) (253) (624)
Total assets 9,575 57,649 21,308 7.754 383,402 479,688
Working capital 1,132 6,123 443 2,711 18,046 28,515
General long-term debt

General obligation 27,008 3,150 - 52663 82,822

Revenue bonds 16,773 16,773
Fund equity 1,132 29,420 17,933 (2.672) 306,867 352,680

The discretely presented component units include five enterprise funds as follows:

Pabst Theater (Pabst)

Milwaukee Economic Development Corporation (MEDC)
Housing Authority (HACM)

Redevelopment Authority (RACM)

Neighborhood Improvement Development Corporation (NIDC)

Component unit disclosures for the 2000 Balance Sheets are as follows:
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Pabst MEDC HACM RACM NIDC Total
(Thousands of Dollars)

Assets:
Due from primary government ... - 3 3 $ $ $ 2,112 $ 2112
Other CUMTENt aSSES ...cccoceeevecrscscncncnnsenses 2,3%6 14,838 40,703 12,468 16,592 86,998
Property, plant and equipment (net) ........ 4678 12 204,903 6,757 41 216,391
Other long-term assets .c..c.coeveeevecmvennnens 35,210 10,347 28,554 74,111
Total assets $ 7.074 $ 50,061 $ 255,953 S 47,779 $ 18.745 $ 379.612

Liabilities:

Current liabilities $ 8 $ 893 $ 11561 $ 1,312 S 4,359 $ 18,207
Bonds and notes payable - long term ........ 642 8,983 3,439 13.064
Due to the primary govemment 1,596 2,597 10,757 2,320 17,270
Other long-term liabilities ....cceeoeeeemeeeeeee 13.554 16,441 29.995
Totatl liabilities $ 82 $ 3,131 $ 36,695 S 31,849 $ 6,679 $ 78.536

Equity:
Contributed capital $ 9,946 $ 5453 $ 248398 $ 12,304 $ 13415 $ 289,516
Retained eamings (deficlt) .....ccoeecncccnnnes (2.954) 41,477 {29,140) 3.526 (1.349) 11,560
Total equity $ 6,992 S 45.930 $ 218,258 $ 15,830 $ 12.066 $ 301.076
Total abilities and equIty ....cccecceeceecene $ 7.074 $ 50.061 S 255.953 $ 47.779 $ 18,745 $ 379,612

Component unit disciosures for the 2000 Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Equity are as follows:

Pabst MEDC HACM RACM NIDC Total
(Thousands of Dollars)

Operating revenues $ 581 $ 2823 $ 15,087 $ 2,681 $ (247) $ 20,825
Operating expenses:

Depreciation 179 18 17,042 155 10 17,404

Other 768 (1.025) 45,599 9,832 5.857 61.132
Operating income (0SS)  .coveeremvemenieceeenencees (367) 3.830 (47,554) (7.406) (6.114) (57.611)
Other nonoperating revenue (expense) ....... 10 1,168 25,378 (3.439) 4,501 27,608
Operating transfers 150 150
Net income (loss) for the year ........cooeeeeeeee. (207) 4,988 (22,176) (10,845) (1,613) (29,853)
Retained eamings (deficit) - beginning

(restated) (2.747) 36,489 (6.964) 11.538 264 38,580
Retained eamings (defict) - ending ............ $(2,954) $ 41477 $ (25.140) $ 693 $ (1,349) $ 8727

The retained eamings balance for the Miwaukee Economic Development Corporation of the City of Milwaukee, the Neighborhood
Improvement Development Corporation of the City of Milwaukee, the Redevelopment Authority of the City of Milwaukee and the Housing
Authority of the City of Milwaukee have been restated as of January 1, 2000 by $700,000, $119,000, $256,000 and $660,000 respectively,
due to miscellaneous adjustments recorded to the 1939 component unit financial statements subsequent 1o the issuance of the City's
December 31, 1999 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report.

8. FUND EQUITY

Reserved for tax stabilization

“The Reserved for Tax Stabilization, $23,403,000 at December 31, 2000, is govemed by the City's Code of Ordinances. Al General Fund
appropriation balances not encumbered or caried over are reserved for tax stabilization in subsequent years. The total amount that can be
withdrawn from the Resetved for Tax Stabilization in any one year is an amount that prevents an increase of more than three percent in the
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pity’s property tax rate, as defined, and is anticipated to be available as of April 15 of the year covered by the budget. Such amount must be
included in the adopted budget, which requires a majority affimative vote of the Common Council. Fund withdrawals not needed to stabilize
the tax rate can be made for up to 50% of the available balance, but require a three-fourths affirmative vote of the Common Council.

Fund deficit

The Capital Projects Fund - Special Assessments fund deficit of

$11.745,000 is the result of expending funds for construction in advance of
collecting assessmments from the property owners. Upon project

completion, the properties are assessed, thus reducing this deficit
Retained deficit

Current and prior years’ losses in the foliowing proprietary funds have resulted in cumulative retained deficits with a fund equity (deficit), net

of retained deficits, as indicated beiow. The City provides needed capital to the Enterprise Fund - Port of Milwaukee and Pabst Theater
component unit.
Fund Equity
Net Loss Cumulative (Deficit) Net of
from Retained Retained
Operations Deficit Deficit
Enterprise Fund - Port of Milwaukee S (840) $(11,210) $ 17,933
Enterprise Fund - Sewer Maintenance (3.370) (3.119) (2.672)
Pabst Theater Component Unit (207) - (2.954) 6.992
Housing Authority of the City of Milwaukee Component Unit (22,176) (29,140) 219,258

Neighborhood Improvement Development Corporation Component Unit ........ccoeevveeeee.... (1,613) (1,349) 12,066

Contributed capital
The changes in the City’s contributed capital accounts for its propnetary funds and component units were as foliows:

Enterprise Component

Funds Units Total
Beginning balance $ 118410 $257,396 $ 375,806
Additions 5,755 32,120 37.875
Deletions (422) (422)
Ending balance S 123.743 $289,516 $413.259

The beginning balance for the Component Units has been restated as of January 1, zooomteﬂectadeaea_se of $660,000 du{:to
miscellaneous adjustments recorded to the 1999 component units financial statements subsequent to the issuance of the City’s

December 31, 1999 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report.
8. INTERFUND RECEIVABLE AND PAYABLE BALANCES AND NET TRANSFERS

The individual interfund receivable and payable balances at December 31, 2000, and the net contributions, residual and operating transfers
for 2000 were as follows:
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Net Net
Interfund interfund Net Residual Operating
Fund Receivables Payables Contributions Transfers Transfers
(Thousands of Dollars)
General Fund $ 119817 S (253) $ S ) $ 10,725
Special Revenue Funds:

Grant and Aid Projects (6.220) (2)

Community Development Block Grant ............ 253

Delinquent Tax (12,351)
Debt Service:

General Obiigation Debt 387 (1,840) (2.938) 6,197
Capital Projects Funds (462) (1,885)
Enterprise Funds:

Metropolitan Sewerage District User Charge ... 402

Parking (387) 3,059 (3.445)

Sewer Maintenance 212 (1,897

Port of Milwaukee 341 453

Water Works (2.449) 111
Trust and Agency Funds (125) 8 45
Component Units: )

Pabst Theater 150

Totals $ 13,171 $ (13.171) $ 3.400 S (3.400) S -
10. GENERAL FIXED ASSETS

Changes in General Fixed Assets for the year ended December 31, 2000, were as follows:
Balance Balance
01-01-00 Additions Deletions 12-31-00

(Thousands of Dollars})

Land $ 39223 s 4an S $ 39,684
Buildings 129,877 2.993 132,870
Machinery and equipment 92,353 3.788 2,608 93,534
Construction work in progress 45,579 24,229 6.720 63,088
Totals ) $ 307,032 S 31482 $ 9,328 $ 329.186

1. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Ctaims and other lega! proceedings

The City is involved in numerous lawsuits arising in the normal course of business, including claims for property damage, personal injury and
personnel practices, disputes over contract awards and property condemnation proceedings, and suits contesting the legality of certain taxes.
Under the Wisconsin Statutes, the amount recoverable by any person for any damages, injuries or death in any action founded on fact
against the City, agencies, officials, officers or employees cannot exceed $50,000, with certain exceptions. in addition, the City is subject to
environmental remediation liabilities. The amount of such liabilities is not known. In the opinion of management, any additional lawsuits not
provided for in the General Long-Term Obligations Account Group and environmental remediation liabilities will not have 2 material adverse
effect on the City’s financial position as of December 31, 2000.

The City is seff-insured for workers' compensation, employee Basic Plan health and dental insurance, uninsured motorist motor vehicie

coverage for City employees, and general liability claims. Liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount
of that loss can be reasonably estimated. These losses inciude an estimate of claims that have been incurred but not reported. Liabilities are
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_At December 31, 2000, the amount of unfunded claims and judgment Gabilities is $43,520,231 and is included in unfunded claims and
judgments in the General Long-Term Obli_gaﬁons Account Group and consists of legal $28.490,000, environmental $3,200,000,

(Thousands of Doflars)
Batance December 31, 1998 $ 61,020
Claims and changes in estimates 13,071
Claim payments (15.430)
Balance December 31, 1999 $ 58,661
Claims and changes in estimates 31,825
Claim payments (46,966)
Balance December 31, 2000 $ 43,520

The Milwaukee Police Association filed suit against the City and the Miwaukee Employes’ Retirement System as a resutt of a City Ordinance
passed in 1935 that merged the Retirement Fund with the Duty Disability Fund. Actuarial reports indicated that if the separate funds were
merged, there were sufficient assets within the Employes’ Retirement System to fund all retirement and disability liabilities without currently
requiring additional contributions. In 1996, the Circuit Court granted summary judgment to the plaintiff declaring the merger to be
unconstitutional. The coutt stayed enforcement of its order, insofar as any additional contribution of the City was concerned, to give the City
the opportunity to appeal. In 1998, the Court of Appeals modified the Circuit Court's judgment; and the City’s petition to the Wisconsin
Supreme Court to accept a discretionary appeal of the Court of Appeals’ decision was denied. As a result, the City was required to make
contributions to fund an unfunded liability in the Special Disability Fund.

Approximately 80 plaintiff police officers brought action against the City alleging changes in the Employes’ Retirement Act requires officers
receiving a duty disability allowance upon attaining eligibility for normal retirement violates the contractual rights of members of the Empioyes’
Retirement System. In 1996, the Circuit Court entered summary judgment in favor of the plaintiffs. The Court of Appeals affirms the Circuit

Court's decision. The Supreme Court declined review of the decision of the Court of Appeals. An ordinance implementing the decision was
approved in the lower court.

On August 18, 1998 an action was filed on behalf of 92 retired police officer plaintiffs seeking to declare an ordinance implementing a
judgment in an eartier case involving duty disability conversion invaiid. Eighty-six of the plaintiffs were parties to the earlier case. The
plaintiffs sought a declaration that they were entitled to the highest conversion age in effect during their career. The plaintiffs’ motion for a
prefiminary injunction was denied and a briefing schedule was completed on motions for summary judgment. On July 28, 1939 the Circuit
Court granted the City’s motion for summary judgment.

On October 7, 1998 an actionwasﬁledonbehalfofssleﬁredﬁreﬁghterplainﬁﬁsseekingtodedare an ordinance implementing a judgment in
an earlier case involving duty disability conversion invalid. The plaintiffs sought a declaration that they were entitled to the highest conversion
age in effect during their career. The answer was fied.

On January 19, 2001, the Global Pension Settlement became effective. In anticipation of and as a precondition to the Global Pension
Settlement becoming effective, the above claims and judgments were vacated and dismissed prior to December 31, 2000. As a result, the
City has decreased its reserve in the Geperal Long-Term Obligations Account Group at December 31, 2000.

The City has been noftified of an Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) investigation conducted of the Fire and Police
Commission and the Milwaukee Police Department. The investigation resulted in a finding of probable cause of discrimination based on race,
in the areas of hiring, discipline, retaliation and terms and conditions of empioyment. The EEOC sought $5,000,000 in total remedies for the
class claims and approximately $2,000,000 to the individual hiring charging parties. Additionally, the EEOC requested remedies for the
individuai charging parties totaling approximately $2,500,000 and an additional $1 000,000 in compensation to the class members.

The EEOC referred the matter to the United States Department of Justice who conducted a further investigation and stated by letter dated
January 2, 2001 that suit has been authorized against the City of Milwaukee and the Fire and Police Commission on the basis of th-
information provided by the EEOC and upon the further information obtained from the investigation perfonmed by the Department of Justic

The City has begun, and will continue to communicate with the Department of Justice in an effort to explore possibie settlement, however it 1.

presently unknown whether settlement can or will be effectuated. The Department of Justice has requested $6,150,000 in compensatory
damages for a class of victims.
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The City has aiso been notified of a second EEQC investigation conducted of the hiring and employment practices for the Milwaukee Fire
Department based upon charges filed by the Brotherhood of Firefighters which allege discrimination on the basis of race with respect to
hiring, promotion, terms and conditions of empioyment and discipline. On December 10, 1999 the EEOC issued a Reasonable Cause
Determination filing in respect to this investigation, resulting in a demand from the EEOC for a class-wide back-pay claims of $12,700,000
with respect to the alleged victims. As of December 31, 2000, the City has recorded a reserve in the General Long-Term Obligations Account
Group related to the above two cases.

Environmental Liabilities

The City is exposed to numerous environmental kabilities, the most significant of which relate to seven landfills. Two of the seven landfills
have been closed. Of the remaining four landfilis that are no longer accepting waste, the Wisconsin Departrnent of Natural Resources has
imposed closure requirements on the North College Avenue Site, which the City substantially ciosed during 2000. The Hartung landfill, which
is used exclusively for clean fill, is expected 1o be closed within three years. The City has accrued $3,200,000 in the General Long-Term
Obligations Account Group for landfill closure related to the four sites. These amounts are based upon what it would cost to perform all
dlosure activities in 2000. Actual costs may be higher due to infiation, changes in technology, or changes in regulations.

GASB Statement No. 18 “Accounting for Municipal Solid Waste Landfill Closure and Postclosure Care Costs” establishes requirements for
disclosure of closure and postclosure requirements for all municipal solid waste landfills receiving solid waste after October 9, 1991. The

City's landfills have not accepted waste of this type since 1976 and is therefore not required to accrue for closure and postclosure care in
accordance with GASB Statement No. 18.

Intergovernmental grants

Intergovernmental awards received by the City are subject to audit and adjustment by the funding agency or their representatives. If grant
revenues are received for expenditures, which are subsequently disallowed, the City may be required to repay the revenues to the funding
agency. In the opinion of management, liabilities resulting from such disaliowed expenditures, if any, will not be matenal to the accompanying
financia! statements at December 31, 2000.

Conduit Debt Obligations

From time to time, the City, as well as the Housing Authority and the Redevelopment Authority, has issued revenue bonds in order to provide
financing to private sector entities for the purpose of acquiring, constructing, or rehabilitating housing units and for retiring the existing debt
associated with housing units. These obligations are primarily secured by mortgage or revenue agreements on the associated projects and,
together with the interest obligation, is payable solely by the developers from leased rentals and other funds or revenues. In addition, these
obligations do not constitute indebtedness of the City, as the City has no responsiility for the debt beyond the resources provided by related
leases or loans. Accordingly, the bonds are not reported as liabilities in the accompanying financial statements. The aggregate amount of all
revenue bonds outstanding at December 31, 2000 is $73,849,830, $55,276,924, and $230,000,000 for the City, Housing Authority, and
Redevelopment Authority, respectively.

Job Opportunity Bond Program

“The Redevelopment Authority of the City of Milwaukee has issued certain Economic Development Bonds under the Job Opportunity Bond
Program. Additional bonds may aiso be issued under this Program. These bonds are payabie from a revenue fund to which the Authority
has pledged and appropriated revenues to be received by the Authority from revenue agreements. In the event of an insufficiency of such
revenues, these bonds are payable out of a program reserve fund and 2 common reserve fund maintained with respect to the program. In
the event amounts avaitable in these reserve funds fall below specified levels, the City has agreed, pursuant to the terms of the first
amendment to the cooperation and pledge agreement, to consider making loans to the Authority to assist the Authority in maintaining the
reserve funds at required levels. To date, the City has not loaned any funds for this p . This obligation is not enforceable by the
Authority, the Trustee or the owners of the bonds against the City or the Common Council of the City or against any individual of the Council
of the City or any officer or agent of the City.

During 2000, the Authority made the required principal and interest payments of $5,948,000 relating to one panicipam. in the Job Opportunity
Bond Program, which defaulted. Subsequent to year-end, the Authority received $2,833.000 from foreciosure proceeds of the participant’s
assets, which reduced the Authority’s loss to $3,115,000 in 2000.

12 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In February of 2001, the City issued $13,585,000 in general obligation short-term promissory notes for the purpose of financing 2000 real and
personal property tax receivables and $102,000,000 of Revenue Anticipation Notes for the purpose of financing the City’s operating budget
on an interim basis pending receipt of state shared revenue payments due in November, 2001.
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ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents

CITY OF MILWAUKEE
GENERAL FUND
COMPARATIVE BALANCE SHEET
DECEMBER 31, 2000 AND 1989
(Thousands of Dollars)

Receivables (net):
Taxes

Accounts

Unbilled accounts

Notes and loans

Accrued interest

Due from other funds

Due from component units

Due from other govemmental agencies

Other recetvables

inventory of materials and supplies

fnventory of property for resale

Prepaid items

Restricted Assets:
Investments

Total Assets

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE

Liabilities:
Accounts payable

Accrued wages

Due to other funds

Deferred revenue

Tota! Liabilities

Fund Balance:

Reserved for encumbrances, prepaids, and camryovers

Reserved for inventory

Reserved for mortgage trust

Reserved for environmental remediation

Reserved for tax stabilization - 2001 (2000)

Reserved for tax stabilization - 2002 (2001) and subsequent years’ budgets

Total Fund Balance

Total Liabilites and Fund Balance

2000

$ 9240

23,152
18,918
989
768
961
11,917
4,882
1,383
12,694
5988
26
366

281

$ 91,575

$ 23180
27217
253

1.971

$ 52681

$ 81,575

Exhibit A

1999

$ 34662

21,280
9,376
1,170

31
564

14,092

3,251

13,253
6,428
26

721

281

$ 106,035

$ 14,606
25,180

527

§ 41,012

$ 28610
6.454

281

291
11,250
18,137

s 65023

- $ 106,035
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GENERAL FUND
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000
WITH COMPARATIVE ACTUAL AMOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1998

{Thousands of Dollars)
2000 1999
Revenues:
Property taxes $ 98,456 $ 89,250
Other taxes 12,808 10,283
Licenses and permits 10,154 8,996
Intergovernmentat 278,434 277,884
Charges for services 45,383 37,598
Fines and forfeits 18,036 17,694
Other 14,358 8,032
Total Revenues S 477.629 $ 450,737
Expenditures:
Current
General govemment $ 157,615 $ 132,231
Public safety 220,879 205,717
Public works 100,696 91,817
Heatlth 11,363 11,401
Culture and recreation . 17,584 16,627
Conservation and development 7.502 7271
Total Expenditures . $ 515,638 $ 465,064
Excess of Revenues over (under) Expenditures S (38,010) $ (14.327)
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Proceeds of bonds and notes $ 1,312 S
Operating transfers in 11,213 7.632
Operating transfers out (338) 73)
Operating transfers to component units (150) (150)
Contributions received 536 651
Contributions used (685) (612)
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) $ 11.888 $ 7448
Excess of Revenues and Other Sources over (under)
Expenditures and Other Uses $ (26.122) $ (6,879
Fund Balance - January 1 (Exciudes Reserved for Tax Stabization) ...............o.ceo....... 65,023 71,776
Residual Equity Transfers from Other Funds 2 163
Residual Equity Transfers to Other Funds (€)] 37)
Fund Balance - December 31 $ 38,894 $ 65,023




CITY OF MILWAUKEE Exhibit C
GENERAL FUND
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000
WITH COMPARATIVE ACTUAL AMOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1999
(Thousands of Dollars) :
1999
Actual on Variance - Actual on
Amended Budgetary Favorable Budgetary
Budget Basis (Unfavorable) Basis
Revenues:
Property taxes $ 98,456 $ 98456 S $ 89,250
Other taxes 10,805 12,808 1,903 10,283
Licenses and permits 8,758 10,154 1,395 8,996
Intergovernmental 279,056 278,434 622) 277,884
Charges for services 43,824 45,383 1,559 37,588
Fines and forfeits 19,306 18,036 (1,270) 17,694
Other 12.891 14,358 1.467 9,032
Total Revenues $ 473,197 S 477,629 S 4432 $ 450,737
Expenditures:
Current:
General government $ 160.893 $ 157,615 $ 3278 $ 132231
Public safety 220,732 220,879 (147) 205,717
Public works 96,835 100,696 (3.861) 91,817
Heatth 11,688 11,363 325 11.401
Culture and recreation 17,519 17,584 (65) 16,627
Conservation and deveiopment 8,025 7.502 523 7271
Total Expenditures $ 515,692 S 515,639 $ 53 $ 465,064
Excess of Revenues over (under) Expenditures ......coeceeeeeeeeee $ (42,495) $ (38,010) $ 4485 S (14.327)
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Proceeds of bonds and notes $ $ 8071 $ 8,071 s 1312
Operating transfers in 11,213 11,213 7,632
Operating transfers out (365) (338) 27 3
Operating transfers to component units (150) (150) (150)
Contributions received 675 536 (139) 651
Contributions used (826) (685) 141 (612)
Use of fund balance - reserved for tax stabilzation .....cecoeveeeeeeeeeees 11,250 11.250 12,820
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) $ 21,797 $ 29,897 $ 8,100 $ 21,580
Excess of Revenues and Other Sources over (under)
Expenditures and Other Uses $ (20,698) $ (8.113) $ 12,585 $ 7253
Fund Balance - January 1 (Excludes Reserved for
Tax Stabilization) 55,085 55,085 58,956
Residual Equity Transfers from Other Funds 36 2 (34) 163
Residual Equity Transfers to Other Funds (61) (9) 52 (37)
Fund Balance - December 31 $ 34,362 $ 46,965 $ 12,603 $ 66,335




€Y OF MILWAUKEE Exhibit D
GENERAL FUND
SCHEDULE OF REVENUES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000

(Thousands of Dollars)
Varniance -
Amended Favorable
Budget Actial  (Unfavorable)
Property Taxes:
General $ 61,785 $ 61,785 S -
Provision for Employees’ Retirement 36.671 36,671 -
Total Property Taxes S 988456 S 98456 $ -
Other Taxes:
Payment in lieu of taxes $ 10,180 $ 10758 $ 588
Interest on city tax certificates and other taxes 745 2,050 1,305
Total Other Taxes $ 10,905 $ 12,808 $ 1,903
Licenses and Permits:
Licenses:
Business and occupational S 2964 S 3,115 S 151
Other 33 30 3)
Permits:
Building 4911 5732 821
Zoning 175 241 66
Other 67€ 1,036 3560
Total Licenses and Permits S 8758 S 10,154 $ 1,385
Intergovemmental:
State Shares Revenues:
State shared taxes $ 244 869 S 244,525 S (349)
Local street aids . 27.700 27.752 52
Payment for municipal services 1,830 1,753 on
Other 4 657 4,404 (253)
Total intergovernmental $ 279.056 $ 278.434 $ (622)
Charges for Services:
General government . $ 26,398 S 24917 $(1.481)
Public safety 6.170 6,270 100
Public works 7674 10,688 3,024
Heatth 929 780 {(149)
Culture and recreation 2,188 2,321 123
Conservation and development 455 397 (58)
Total Charges for Services S 43.824 $ 45383 $ 1,559
Fines and Forfeits:
Municipal Court $ 5,506 S 4,965 S (541)
Police Department - 13,800 13,071 (729)
Total Fines and Forfeits $ 18.306 S 18,036 $(1.270)
Other:
interest on temporary investments S 7,200 $ 8,825 S 1,625
Miscellaneous 5.691 5,533 (158)
Total Other $ 12,891 $ 14358 S 1467
Total $ 473,197 $ 477,629 -



CITY OF MILWAUKEE Exhibit E
GENERAL FUND
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000
(Thousands of Dollars)
2000 Actual
Salaries Other Variance -
Amended and Operating Favorable
Budget Wages Costs Equipment Total (Unfavorable)
General Governrnent:
Deferred Compensation .......ccceceeeeneen $ 1319 3 145 $ 565 S 3 $ 713 S 606
Zoning Appeals 23 172 51 23
Intern Program 42 42 42
Mayor 838 883 48 7 938
Common Council - City Clerk ............. 6,689 4,726 1,697 177 6.600 89
Municipal Court 3,237 1,785 1,445 2 3,232 5
City Attomey 8,052 3,896 4,083 76 8,055 @)
Administration 8,236 4,491 3427 125 8,043 193
Employee Relations .......cooceeeeeeieees 52,285 3,069 50,096 23 53,188 (803)
Election COMMISSION  .ccccceeeearcceeecccecnns 1,389 985 381 10 1,386 3
Comptrolier 26,685 2,406 24221 31 26,658 27
City Treasurer 4,980 1,500 1.806 3 3,309 1,671
Assessor's Office  ....ooveeccencccenieninns 3,522 3,118 3988 3,516 6
Public Debt Commission ....ccecocceeeee-. 481 102 "~ 364 466 15
Employee Retirement Administration .. 31495 1,141 28,852 40 - 30,033 1462
interest EXPense ...cccoeeerereeecnenns 11,213 11,213 11,213
Miscellaneous 107 - 107
Total Genera! Government .............. $ 160,893 $ 28,471 $ 128.647 $ 497 $ 157615 $ 3278
Public Safety:
Fire and Police Commission  ............... S 805 $ 618 $ 179 $ 5 S 802 S 3
Fire Department 64,554 58,332 3,885 2,537 64,754 (200)
Police Department .......cccoeeecmivecnnnns 142,748 131,170 9,843 1613 142,726 22
Neighborhood Services 12,625 7,283 5,241 73 12,597 28
Total Public Safety ...cccceeecervvevinnens $ 220,732 $ 197,403 $ 19248 $ 4,228 $ 220,879 $ (147)
Public Works:
General Office $ 8,560 $ 2691 $ 5851 S 9 S 8,551 S 9
infrastructure 19.585 13,078 6.432 47 19,557 28
Support SEIVICES  ...ccceovnvireienneenencanes 30,241 17,638 10,990 4,662 33,290 (3.049)
Sanitation 30,482 15,795 14612 934 31.341 {859)
Forestry 7.967 6.982 828 147 7.957 10
Total Public WOrkS  ..ococceccccececanns $ 96,835 $ 56,184 $ 38713 $ 579 $ 100.696 S (3.861)
Health $ 11,688 $ 8,077 $ 2242 $ 44 S 11,363 $ 325
Cutture and Recreation:
Public Library $ 17.519 $ 11,697 $ 3186 $ 2701 S 17,584 $ (65)
Conservation and Development:
Department of City Development ....... $ 8,025 $ 2804 $ 4698 $ - $ 7.502 $ 523
Total $ 515,692 $ 305,636 $ 196,734 $ 13,269 $ 515,639 $ 53




CITY OF MILWAUKEE ) Exhibit F
DEBT SERVICE FUNDS
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
DECEMBER 31, 2000
WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR DECEMBER 31, 1998

{Thousands of Dollars)
General
Obligation  Public Debt Totals
Debt Amortization 2000 1999
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents S 28,687 $ 5844 S 34,531 $ 40205
Investments 67,985 67.985 65,630
Receivables (net):
Accounts 3,202 3.202
Notes and loans 18,866 18,866 20,169
Accrued interest 178 178 425
Due from other funds 387 387 1,036
Due from component units 12,354 12,354 10.500
Total Assets $ 63,496 $ 74,007 $ 137,503 $ 137,965
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:
Due to other funds S 1,840 $ $ 1,840 $ 2121
Due to other governmental agencies - 5
Deferred revenue 31,220 31,220 30.669
Tota! Liabilities . $ 33,060 $ - S 33,060 $ 3R.795
Fund Balances:
Reserved for debt service - 2001 (2000) $ 30435 $ $ 30436 $ 31,32
Reserved for future retirement of general obligation debt ................. 74,007 74,007 73.848
Total Fund Balances $ 30436 $ 74,007 $ 104,443 $ 105,170
Total Liabilities and Fund Balances $ 63,496 $ 74,007 $ 137,503 $ 137,965




CITY OF MILWAUKEE Exhibit G
DEBT SERVICE FUNDS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000
WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1993
(Thousands of Dollars)
General
Obligation  Public Debt Totals
Debt Amortization 2000 1999
Revenues:
Property Taxes:
General property taxes $ 48,973 $ $ 48,973 $ 50,443
Tax increments 8,702 8,702 7.442
Total Property Taxes $ 57.675 S - $ 57.675 $ 57,885
Other Taxes:
Interest on delinquent taxes S $ 1.051 S 1054 S 835
Other:
Interest on fund investments $ 2,711 $ 8671 $ 11382 $ 1259
interest on general investments 4,128 4,128 2731
Interest on special assessments 347 347 393
Deferred sewer assessments - bonds funds prior years ................. - 14
Premium and accrued interest on bonds and notes sold ................. 6,306 - 6,306 4,156
Capitalized interest 442 442 824
Revenue from other agencies 8,558 8,559 4777
Total Other $ 18,018 $ 13.146 $ 31,164 S 14214
Total Revenues $ 75,693 $ 14,197 S 89,890 $ 72934
Expenditures:
General Govemment:
Public Debt Commission $ $ $ - $ 3
Debt Service:
Principal retirement 57,683 12.460 70,143 66.925
Interest 22.155 1,578 23.733 22,640
Total Expenditures $ 79,838 $ 14,038 $ 93.876 $ 89.568
Excess of Revenues over (under) Expenditures ... $ (4,145) $ 159 $ (3.986) $ (16,634)
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Operating transfers in $ 26,584 $ $ 26584 $ 26,044
Operating transfers out (20.387) {20,387) (16,702)
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) $ 6,197 $ - $ 6,197 $ 9,342
Excess of Revenues and Other Sources over (under)
Expenditures and Other Uses $ 2,052 $ 158 $ 2211 $ (7.282)
Fund Balances - January 1 31.322 73,848 105,170 107,996
Residual Equity Transfers from Other Funds 462 452 7,505
Residual Equity Transfers to Other Funds . (3.400) (3.400) (3.039)
Fund Balances - December 31 $ 30,436 $ 74,007 $ 104,443 $ 105,470




CITY OF MILWAUKEE Exhibit H
CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
DECEMBER 31, 2000
WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR DECEMBER 31, 1999

(Thousands of Dollars)
Buildings
and
Bridges Grounds Sewers
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents S 2,266 $ 24440 $ 7,325
Receivables (net):
Accounts 900
Special assessments
Due from other funds
Due from other governmental agencies 2,641 318
Inventory of materials and supplies 199
Prepaid items
Total Assets $ 4,907 $ 24,440 $ 8742
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities: )
Accounts payable $ 45 $ 8857 $ 1688
Accrued wages 17 49 15
Due to other funds
Due to other governmental agencies 1,546
Deferred revenue 437 354
Other payables
Total Liabilities $ 2,045 S 8906 $ 2057
Fund Balances:
Reserved for encumbrances, prepaids and camyovers ................ $ 2,862 $ 15534 $ 6485
Reserved for mventory 199
Unreserved:
Special assessment {(deficit)
Total Fund Balances (Deficit) . S 2,862 $ 15,534 $ 6685
Total Liabilities and Fund Balance $ 4,907 $ 24440 $ 8,742



Exhibit H (Continued)

Tax

Urban Incremental Special Totals
Renewal Streets Districts Assessments 2000 1999
$ 3,985 $ 2976 $ 9510 S $ 41,912 $ 24,976
747 1,647 519
13233 13,233 13,583
- 12
342 3,556 298 7,155 3,547
199 213

— —_— —_ —1
$ 4,338 $ 7279 $ 910 $ 13,531 $ 64,147 $ 42,850
S 616 $ 1,086 $ 290 $ 177 $ 12,739 $ 6483
1 126 12 220 273
- 2,242
3 761 243 2,553 1,133
256 12,162 13,209 12,481
12,694 12,694 13,253
$ 620 $ 2203 $ 302 $ 25276 $ 41,415 $ 35,865
$ 3718 $ 5070 $ 608 $ $ 34,278 $ 19,156
199 213
_11.745) _(11.745) _(12.384)
$ 3718 $ 5070 $ 608 $(11.745) $ 22,732 $ 6,985
$ 4,338 $ 7219 $ 910 $ 13,531 $ 64,147 $ 42,850




CITY OF MILWAUKEE
CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000
WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1999

(Thousands of Dollars})
Buildings
and
Bridges Grounds
Revenues:
Property taxes 3 $ 2309
Special assessments
Intergovemmental 2,205 974
Other
Total Revenues $ 2,205 $ 3283
Expenditures:
Capital outiay 3.250 31.115
Excess of Revenues over (under) Expenditures ....................... $(1.045) $(27,832)
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Proceeds of bonds and notes $ 4,045 $ 31,149
Operating transfers in
Operating transfers out
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) : $ 4,045 $ 31,149
Excess of Revenues and Other Sources over (under)

Expenditures and Other Uses $ 3,000 $ 3,317
Fund Batances (Deficits) - January 1 (138) 12,217
Residual Equity Transfers to Other Funds
Fund Balances (Deficits) - December 31 $ 2,862 $ 15534
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Exhibit | (Continued)

Totals

2000 1993

$ 2,587 $ 13,791
3,930 3,362
8,319 5,889
1.947 8,515

$ 16,783 $ 31,557
77.629 100,822
$(60.845) $(69.365)
S 78,840 $ 74,222
- 4,230

(1.885) (7.225)

S 77.055 S 71.227
$ 16.209 $ 1,882
©.985 12,628
(462) (7,505)

$ 22,732 $ 6,985



CITY OF MILWAUKEE

Exhibit J
GENERAL LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS ACCOUNT GROUP
STATEMENT OF GENERAL LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000
(Thousands of Doljars)
Debt
Service
Balance  Obligations Obligations Funds Balance
01-01-00 Incurred Retired Operations 12-31-00
RESOURCES AVAILABLE AND TO BE PROVIDED FOR THE
PAYMENT OF GENERAL LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS
Resources avaitable in Debt Service Funds ... S 118,686 S $ $(1,198) $ 117,488
Resources to be Provided for-
Retirement of general obligationdebt ... 354,403 119,547 70,133 1,198 405,015
Pension contribution payable from subsequent year's
budget 1,835 1,835 -
Unfunded compensated absences 26,308 6,481 2,255 30,534
Unfunded claims and judgments 58,661 31.825 46,966 43,520
Total Resources Available and to be Provided ... $ 559,893 $ 157,853 $ 121,189 s - $ 596.557
GENERAL LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS PAYABLE
General obligation debt $ 473,089 $ 119,547 S 70,133 S $ 522,503
Unfunded pension costs 1,835 1,835 -
Unfunded compensated absences 26,308 6,481 2,255 30,534
Unfunded claims and judgments 58,661 31,825 45,966 43,520
Total General Long-Term Obligations Payable __ $ 559,893 $ 157,853 $ 121,189 $ - $ 596,557




APPENDIX C

DRAFT FORM OF LEGAL OPINION

C-1



Upon delivery of the Series 2001 Bonds, a legal opinion substantially in the form set forth below, will be delivered 1o the Underwriter
by Bond Counsel, dated the date of delivery of the Series 2001 Bonds.

Mr. W. Martin Morics

City Comptroller of the
City of Milwaukee

Milwaukee, Wisconsin

Dear Sir:

CITY OF MILWAUKEE, WISCONSIN
SEWERAGE SYSTEM REVENUE BONDS,
SERIES 2001, $29,095,000

At your request we have examined into the validity of an issue of $29,095,000 principal
amount of Sewerage System Revenue Bonds, Series 2001 (the "2001 Bonds"), of the City of Milwaukee,
Wisconsin (the "City"). The 2001 Bonds are dated December 1, 2001, and are issued as fully registered bonds
which when issued will be available for individual purchasers in book-entry form only in the denominations of
$5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. The 2001 Bonds mature on June 1 in each of the years and in the
principal amounts set forth below, bearing interest from their dated date payable on June 1, 2002 and
semiannually thereafter on December 1 and June 1 of each year, at the rate per annum stated opposite such
year, as follows:

Interest Interest
Year Amount Rate Year Amount Rate
2003 $1,000,000 3.50% 2013 $1,520,000 5.25%
2004 1,035,000 3.50 2014 1,600,000 5.25
2005 1,080,000 5.00 2015 1,685,000 5.25
2006 1,135,000 5.00 2016 1,775,000 5.25
2007 1,190,000 3.75 2017 1,875,000 5.375
2008 1,235,000 4.00 2018 1,970,000 4.70
2009 1,285,000 4.00 2019 2,070,000 4.875
2010 1,340,000 4.00 2020 2,170,000 5.00
2011 1,395,000 4.00 2021 2,285,000 5.00
2012 1,450,000 4.00

The 2001 Bonds maturing on and after June 1, 2013 are subject to optional redemption prior
to their stated maturities on any interest payment date on and after June 1, 2012 upon the terms and conditions
and at the prices set forth therein.

The 2001 Bonds recite that they are issued for the purpose of financing improvements to the
Sewerage System and pursuant to resolutions adopted by the Common Council of the City on August 2, 2001
and September 25, 2001, respectively (hereinafter referred to collectively as the "Resolution"), the provisions
of Chapter 66 of the Wisconsin Statutes and acts supplementary thereto, the Charter of the City, and
resolutions duly passed by the Commissioners of the Public Debt of the City. The 2001 Bonds further recite
that they are payable solely from and equally and ratably secured solely by the net revenues derived by the City
through the ownership and operation of the Sewerage System of the City which, by the terms of the Resolution,
are pledged to the payment thereof, subject to the provisions of the Resolution permitting the application of
such revenues to the purposes and on the terms and conditions set forth in the Resolution.
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We have examined (i) the Constitution and statutes of the State of Wisconsin; (ii) the Charter
of the City; (iii) certified copies of the Resolution and a certified transcript of proceedings relating to
authorizing the issuance of the 2001 Bonds; (iv) such other papers, instruments, documents and proceedings as
we have deemed necessary or advisable; and (v) a specimen 2001 Bond.

We have relied upon such transcript of proceedings as to the matters of facts stated therein
without independent verification. We have not been engaged nor have undertaken to review the accuracy,
completeness or sufficiency of the Official Statement or other offering material relating to the 2001 Bonds, and
express no opinion relating thereto.

In our opinion, the 2001 Bonds have been duly authorized and issued in accordance with the
Constitution and laws of the State of Wisconsin and the Charter of the City and constitute valid and legally
binding special obligations of the City, payable solely from and secured solely by the net revenues of the
Sewerage System of the City pledged to the payment thereof by the Resolution subject to the prior payment
from such revenues of the expenses of operation and maintenance of such Sewerage System and on a parity
with other Bonds hereafter issued under the Resolution by the City, payable from the net revenues of the
Sewerage System.

It is to be understood that the rights of the holders of the 2001 Bonds under the 2001 Bonds
and under the Resolution and the enforceability thereof may be subject to judicial discretion, to the valid
exercise of the sovereign police powers of the State of Wisconsin and to valid bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, moratorium or other laws affecting creditor’s rights.

It is also our opinion that, under existing statutes and court decisions and assuming continuing
compliance with certain tax covenants as described herein, interest on the 2001 Bonds is excluded from gross
income for Federal income tax purposes pursuant to Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the "Code"), and is not treated as a preference item in calculating the alternative minimum tax
imposed on individuals and corporations under the Code; such interest, however, is included in the adjusted
current earnings of certain corporations for purposes of calculating the alternative minimum tax imposed on
such corporations. In rendering this opinion, we have relied on certain representations, certifications of fact,
and statements of reasonable expectations made by the City and others in connection with the 2001 Bonds and
have assumed compliance by the City with certain ongoing covenants to comply with applicable requirements
of the Code to assure the exclusion of interest on the 2001 Bonds from gross income under Section 103 of the
Code.

We express no opinion regarding any other Federal or state tax consequences with respect to
the 2001 Bonds. We have rendered this opinion under existing statutes and court decisions as of the issue date,
and assume no obligation to update this opinion after the issue date to reflect any future action, fact or
circumstance, or change in law or interpretation, or otherwise. We express no opinion on the effect of any
action hereafter taken or not taken in reliance upon an opinion of other counsel on the exclusion from gross
income for Federal income tax purposes of interest on the 2001 Bonds.

Very truly yours,
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APPENDIX D
SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE BOND RESOLUTION

The Bond Resolution contains terms and conditions relating to the issuance of the Bonds, including the Series
2001 Bonds, including various covenants and security provisions, certain of which are summarized below. This sunmumary
does not purport to be comprehensive or definitive, and is subject to all of the provisions of the Bond Resolution, to
which reference is hereby made. This summary uses various terms defined in the Bond Resolution. Capitalized terms
used in this "SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF THE BOND RESOLUTION" are as set forth in the Bond Resolution.

Pledge Made in the Bond Resolution

The Bonds are limited special obligations of the City payable solely from and secured by the funds pledged
therefor pursuant to the Bond Resolution. The City has pledged as security for the payment of the principal and
Redemption Price (if any) of, and interest on, the Bonds in accordance with their terms and the provisions of the Bond
Resolution, subject only to the provisions of the Bond Resolution permitting the application thereof for the purposes and
on the terms and conditions set forth in the Bond Resolution: (i) the proceeds of sale of the Bonds pending application
thereof in accordance with the provisions of the Bond Resolution or of a Series Resolution, (ii) the Net Revenues, and
(iii) all Funds and Accounts held under the Bond Resolution other than (a) the Rebate Fund, and (b) the Subordinate
Obligation Fund, including the investments, if any, in such Funds and Accounts; and the Bondholders shall have a lien
on, and a security interest in, such proceeds, Net Revenues, and Funds and Accounts for such purpose and subject to such
provisions of the Bond Resolution. Such lien and security interest for the payment of Bonds shall be prior and superior to
the lien and security interest for the payment of Subordinate Obligations. The Bonds are additionally secured by a
mortgage lien upon the Sewerage System which shall be perfected by the recording of the Bond Resolution in the records
of the City.

The pledge of, and lien on, and security interest in, the proceeds of the Bonds and the Net Revenues as received
by the City and the Funds and Accounts in the Bond Resolution, other than the Rebate Fund and the Subordinate
Obligation Fund, shall be valid and irrevocable: (i) from and after the time that, if required by State law, a financing
statement is filed with respect to such pledge, lien and security interest as required by State law, and, upon such filing; or
(ii), if no financing statement is so required by State law, upon delivery of the proceeds of a Series of Bonds, and all the
Net Revenues as received by the City and the Funds and Accounts of the Bond Resolution, other than the Rebate Fund
and the Subordinate Obligation Fund, shall immediately be subject to the lien of the pledge without any physical delivery
thereof or further act, and the lien of the pledge shall be valid as against, and prior to the lien of, all parties having claims
of any kind in tort, contract or otherwise against the City irrespective of whether such parties have notice thereof.

Additional Bonds

One or more Series of Bonds (exclusive of Refunding Bonds), may be issued at any time and from time to time
for any lawful use or purpose relating to the Sewerage System, including, without limitation, payment of all or a portion
of the Costs of Improvements, but only upon compliance as to each such Series with the provisions as set forth in the
Bond Resolution, including providing, among other things, the following documents or moneys or securities:

Either (I) a Written Certificate of an Authorized Officer of the City based: (i) on audited figures or (ii) to the
extent audited figures are not available, on figures taken by an independent certified public accountant from the
City’s books and records, showing that the Net Revenues for: (a) the most recent Fiscal Year, or (b) any
consecutive twelve (12) months’ period out of twenty-four (24) months immediately preceding the month in
which such Bonds are issued were not less than the greater of: (x) the sum of (1) the maximum Aggregate Debt
Service on all Bonds then Outstanding and on the proposed Series of Bonds in any Fiscal Year and the twelve
(12) month period selected, and (2) the Required Deposits for such Fiscal Year or the twelve (12) month period
selected; and (y) 1.20 times the maximum Aggregate Debt Service on all Bonds then Outstanding and on the
proposed Series of Bonds in any Fiscal Year and the twelve (12) month period selected, plus 1.20 times the
aggregate Support Facility Reimbursement Obligations outstanding as of the date of the Written Certificate of
the City, or (II) a Written Certificate of an Authorized Officer of the City or Certificate of the Consulting
Engineer that the Net Revenues to be derived in each of the five (5) Fiscal Years following the earlier of: (i) the
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end of the period during which interest is capitalized or, if no interest is to be capitalized, the Fiscal Year in
which the proposed Series of Bonds are issued, and (ii) the date on which substantially all Improvements to be
financed with the proceeds of the proposed Series of Bonds are expected to commence operations, or, if the
proceeds of such Series of Bonds will not be used to fund the Costs of Improvements, the Fiscal Year in which
the proposed Series of Bonds are issued, are estimated to be not less than the greater of: (x) the sum of (1) the
maximum Aggregate Debt Service on all Bonds then Outstanding and on the proposed Series of Bonds in any
such Fiscal Year, and (2) the Required Deposits for any such Fiscal Year; and (y) 1.20 times the maximum
Aggregate Debt Service on all Bonds then Qutstanding and on the proposed Series of Bonds in any such Fiscal
Year, plus 1.20 times the aggregate Support Facility Reimbursement Obligations outstanding as of the date of
such Written Certificate of the City or certificate of the Consulting Engineer, as the case may be.

The provisions of the Bond Resolution described immediately above do not apply to the Series 2001 Bonds.
Certain Adjustments

In determining Debt Service on Variable Rate Bonds then Outstanding and Variable Rate Bonds then proposed
to be issued for purposes of the Additional Bonds Requirement, the interest rate shall be calculated as: (i) if any Variable
Rate Bonds are then Outstanding and have been Outstanding for at least twenty-four (24) months, the highest average
interest rate borne by such Variable Rate Bonds for any thirty (30) day period, or (ii) if no such Variable Rate Bonds are
then Outstanding, the Revenue Bond Index at the time of calculation.

Refunding Bonds

The City by means of a Series Resolution adopted in compliance with the provisions of the Bond Resolution
may issue a Series of Refunding Bonds at any time for the purpose of refunding (including by purchase) at any time all or
any portion of Bonds Outstanding, including amounts to pay principal, redemption premium and interest to the date of
maturity or redemption (or purchase) and the expense of issuing the Refunding Bonds and of effecting such refunding;
provided, however, that the provisions of the Bond Resolution are complied with upon the issuance of such Series,
including all of the conditions described in "Additional Bonds" described above, except that the certificate described in
" Additional Bonds" above need not be complied with if the Refunding Bonds proposed to be issued do not mature later
than the Bonds to be refunded and Debt Service in any Fiscal Year on the Refunding Bonds proposed to be issued does
not exceed Debt Service in any Fiscal Year on the Bonds to be refunded by more than ten percent (10%).

Separate Utility Systems

Nothing contained in the Bond Resolution shall prevent the City from authorizing and issuing bonds, notes,
warrants, certificates or other obligations or evidences of indebtedness, other than Bonds, to acquire or construct facilities
for the collection, treatment or disposal of sewage, and any incidental properties to be constructed or acquired in
connection therewith, which facilities shall be a separate utility system and which bonds or other obligations or evidences
of indebtedness shall be payable solely from the revenues or other income derived from the ownership or operation of
such separate system; provided, however, that the City will not issue bonds, notes, warrants, certificates or other
obligations or evidences of indebtedness for the purpose of acquiring or constructing such a separate utility system unless
and until a report of the Consulting Engineer shall be delivered to the Comptroller to the effect that: (i) the plan for
developing the separate utility system is consistent with sound planning, and the separate utility system is of such
character that it would be useful to the City; (ii) the separate utility system can be economically and effectively utilized by
the City; (iii) the cost of the services of the separate utility system is reasonable in comparison to alternative sources; and
(iv) in the opinion of the Consulting Engineer, the acquisition, construction or operation of such separate utility system
will not result in a reduction of the Revenues below the amounts covenanted by the Bond Resolution to be maintained.



Service to the City

The reasonable cost and value of services rendered to the City by the Sewerage System by furnishing sewer
services for public purposes, shall be charged against the City and shall be paid by it in quarterly installments as the
service accrues, out of the current revenues of the City collected or in the process of collection, exclusive of the revenues
derived from the Sewerage System and out of the tax levy of the City made by it to raise money to meet its necessary
current expenses. The reasonable cost and value of such service to the City in each Fiscal Year shall be the amount
necessary in the Fiscal Year which, together with the other revenues of the Sewerage System, will produce Net Revenues
in each Fiscal Year equal to not less than 1.00 times the maximum aggregate Debt Service on the Bonds then Outstanding
plus 1.00 times the aggregate Support Facility Reimbursement Obligations then Outstanding. However, such payment out
of the tax levy shall be subject to (a) approval of the Public Service Commission, or successors to its function, if
necessary, (b) yearly appropriations therefor and (c) applicable levy limitations, if any; but neither the Bond Resolution
nor such payment shall be construed as constituting an obligation of the City to make any such appropriation over and
above the reasonable cost and value of services rendered to the City and its inhabitants or make any subsequent payment
over and above such reasonable cost and value. Such compensation for such service rendered to the City shall, in the
manner described above and in the Bond Resolution, be paid into the Revenue Fund created by such Bond Resolution.

Funds and Accounts

The City has created a Revenue Fund into which all Revenues collected by the City have been and shall be
deposited, from which the Revenues shall be appropriated and expended for operating expenses of the Sewerage System,
other purposes of the Sewerage System, and in which certain working capital and operating reserves for purposes of the
Sewerage System have been and shall be maintained. The Revenue Fund shall be considered to be a fund held under the
Bond Resolution for purposes of the pledge made in the Bond Resolution.

The Bond Resolution also creates and establishes the following additional funds of the City to be maintained so
long as any Bonds are Outstanding:

Operation and Maintenance Fund;

Rebate Fund;

Special Redemption Fund and Reserve Account therein;
Subordinate Obligation Fund; and

Surplus Fund.

The Operation and Maintenance Fund, the Special Redemption Fund and Reserve Account therein and the
Surplus Fund shall be considered to be funds held under the Bond Resolution for purposes of the pledge made in the
Bond Resolution.

The Bond Resolution also creates a Construction Fund into which the proceeds of revenue bonds of the City
issued to pay the costs of Improvements specified to be expended from such Construction Fund. The Construction Fund
shall be considered to be a fund held under the Bond Resolution for purposes of the pledge made thereunder.

Revenue Fund

From and after the time of delivery of the first Bond executed and delivered under the Bond Resolution,
Revenues shall be collected by the City and deposited, as soon as practicable, into the Revenue Fund. From the amounts
deposited in the Revenue Fund, the City shall transfer to the Operation and Maintenance Fund sufficient moneys to pay
the current Operation and Maintenance Expenses of the Sewerage System, transfer to the Rebate Fund such amount as is
necessary to pay the rebate amount due the United States Treasury Department under Section 148 of the Code or to set
aside as a reserve for such payment and make the transfers to other Funds and Accounts as provided in the Bond
Resolution.
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In each month, the City, after making the transfer, if any, to the Operating and Maintenance Expenses for such
month and setting aside an amount sufficient to pay the Operating and Maintenance Expenses expected to be incurred for
the balance of such month and making the transfer, if any, to the Rebate Fund as provided in the Bond Resolution, shall
retain, apply or transfer on the fifth (5th) day prior to the end of each month, unless otherwise provided below, a
sufficient amount of moneys in the Revenue Fund in the following order of priority:

¢y To the Special Redemption Fund, if and to the extent required so that the balance therein shall equal
the Accrued Debt Service for all Bonds Outstanding and the interest accrued on all Bond Anticipation Notes
outstanding on said date;

2 To the Reserve Account in the Special Redemption Fund, if and to the extent required by a Series
Resolution either (i) an amount such that the balance in the Reserve Account shall equal the Reserve Account
Requirement on said date, or (ii) an amount such that if the same amount were deposited in each month the
amount of any deficiency in the Reserve Account shall be eliminated at the end of the twelfth (12th) month
following the first credit;

3 In the Revenue Fund, a reasonable and necessary amount for working capital and operating reserves;

4 To the Subordinate Obligation Fund, the amount, if any, required to be deposited in such Fund
pursuant to the resolution authorizing issuance of the Subordinate Obligations payable from such Fund; and

()] To the Surplus Fund, such amounts as shall remain in the Revenue Fund.

All reasonable and necessary Operation and Maintenance Expenses shall be paid from the Operation and
Maintenance Fund as the same become due and payable and, except for the Rebate Fund, prior to any transfer or payment
to other funds and accounts set forth therein.

The City may, if provided in a Series Resolution authorizing the Bonds of a Series, directly pay out of the
Revenue Fund reimbursements to Support Facility Providers whose Support Facilities have been drawn upon, after
payments have been made to the Special Redemption Fund.

Special Redemption Fund

The City shall pay out of the Special Redemption Fund to each Paying Agent: (i) on or before each interest
payment date for any of the Bonds or Bond Anticipation Notes the amount required for the interest payable on such date;
(ii) on or before each principal payment date, an amount equal to the principal, if any, due on such date by reason of
maturity or by reason of the payment of any Sinking Fund Installment: and (iii) on or before any redemption date for the
Bonds, the amount required for the payment of the Redemption Price of and interest on the Bonds then to be redeemed.
Such amounts shall be applied by each Paying Agent on and after the due dates thereof. The City shall also pay out of the
Special Redemption Fund the accrued interest included in the purchase price of Bonds purchased for retirement.

Amounts accumulated in the Special Redemption Fund by reason of the payment of any Sinking Fund
Installment may be applied by the City, on or prior to the sixtieth (60th) day preceding the due date of such Sinking Fund
Installment, to: (i) the purchase of Bonds of the maturity for which such Sinking Fund Installment was established, or
(ii) the redemption of such Bonds at the applicable Redemption Price, if then redeemable by their terms. All such
purchases of Bonds shall: (i) be made at prices not exceeding the applicable Redemption Price of such Bonds plus
accrued interest; (ii) be made as arranged by the City in such manner and from such sellers or brokers at such prices as
the City shall determine; and (iii) be made to insure that delivery of the Bonds so purchased shall not occur later than the
sixtieth (60th) day next preceding the redemption date to which the Sinking Fund Instaliment is to be applied. The
applicable Redemption Price of any Bonds (or principal amount of maturing Bonds) so purchased or redeemed shall be
deemed to constitute part of the Special Redemption Fund until such Sinking Fund Installment date, for the purpose of
calculating the amount of such Account. As soon as practicable after the sixtieth (60th) day preceding the due date of any
such Sinking Fund Installment, the City shall proceed to call for redemption on such due date Bonds of the maturity for
which such Sinking Fund Installment was established (except in the case of Bonds maturing on a Sinking Fund
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Installment date) in such amount as shall be necessary to complete the retirement of the unsatisfied balance of such
Sinking Fund Installment after making allowance for any Bonds purchased or redeemed pursuant to the Bond Resolution
which the City has applied as a credit against such Sinking Fund Installment as provided in the Bond Resolution and as
described above. The City shall pay out of the Special Redemption Fund to the appropriate Paying Agents, on or before
the redemption date, the amount required for the redemption of the Bonds so called for redemption, and such amount
shall be applied by such Paying Agents to such redemption.

The amount, if any, credited to the Special Redemption Fund from a Series Interest Account (as hereafter
defined) in the Construction Fund shall be applied to the payment of interest on the Bonds as the same becomes due and
payable as provided in the Bond Resolution.

Upon any purchase or redemption as provided in the Bond Resolution and as described above of Bonds of any
Series and maturity for which Sinking Fund Installments shall have been established: (1) if the principal amount of the
Bonds so purchased is less than or equal to the next succeeding Sinking Fund Installment for such Series there shall be
credited to the next such Sinking Fund Installment an amount equal to the principal amount of the Bonds of such Series
so purchased; and (ii) if the principal amount of the Bonds so purchased is greater than the next succeeding Sinking Fund
Installment, there shall be credited toward each such Sinking Fund Installment thereafter to become due an amount
bearing the same ratio to such Sinking Fund Installment as the total principal amount of such Bonds so purchased or
redeemed bears to the total principal amount of all such Sinking Fund Installments to be so credited or, at the option of
the City, an amount equal to the next succeeding Sinking Fund Installment. The portion of any such Sinking Fund
Installment remaining after the deduction of any such amounts credited toward the same (or the original amount of any
such Sinking Fund Installment if no such amounts shall have been credited toward the same) shall constitute the
unsatisfied balance of such Sinking Fund Installment for the purpose of calculation of Sinking Fund Installments due on a
future date.

Moneys set aside from time to time with any Paying Agent for the purpose of paying the principal and
Redemption Price (if any) of, and interest on, the Bonds shall be held in trust for the Holders of the Bonds in respect of
which the same shall have been so set aside. Until so set aside, all moneys in the Special Redemption Fund shall be held
in trust for the benefit of the Holders of all Bonds at the time outstanding, equally and ratably.

When Bonds of a Series are refunded in whole or in part or are otherwise paid in accordance with the Bond
Resolution, moneys may be withdrawn from the Special Redemption Fund to pay or provide for the payment of such
Bonds or refunded Bonds, as the case may be; provided that immediately after such withdrawal or transfer there shall be
on credit to the Special Redemption Fund an amount equal to the Accrued Debt Service for the Bonds then Outstanding
after taking into account such refunding or payment.

Reserve Account

If on the day preceding any principal or interest payment date, the amount in the Special Redemption Fund shall
be less than Accrued Debt Service for all Bonds then Outstanding, the City shall pay out of the Reserve Account, to the
extent moneys are required to be on deposit therein, to each Paying Agent for such Bonds the amount necessary to satisfy
the deficiency for payment to the holders of such Bonds. Amounts so applied shall be derived first, from cash or
Investments Securities on credit to the Reserve Account and second, from draws or demands on Support Facilities held as
a part thereof, such draws or demands to be made pro rata among all such Support Facilities based on the respective
available amounts thereunder and upon the terms and conditions set forth in such Support Facilities.

Whenever the amounts on deposit in the Reserve Account shall exceed the Reserve Account Requirement, if

any, the City shall withdraw the amount of such excess and deposit such excess to the credit of the Special Redemption
Fund or the Revenue Fund, as the City shall determine.

D-6



Whenever the amount (exclusive of Support Facilities) in the Reserve Account, if any, together with the amount
in the Special Redemption Fund, is sufficient to pay in full the principal or Redemption Price, if any, of and interest on all
such Outstanding Bonds in accordance with their terms, the funds on credit to the Reserve Account shall be transferred to
the Special Redemption Fund. Prior to said transfer, all Investment Securities held in the Reserve Account shall be
liquidated by the City to the extent necessary to provide for timely payment of the principal or Redemption Price, if any,
of and interest on such Bonds.

When Bonds of a Series are refunded in whole or in part or are otherwise paid in accordance with the Bond
Resolution, moneys may be withdrawn from the Reserve Account to pay or provide for the payment of such Bonds or
refunded Bonds, as the case may be; provided that immediately after such withdrawal or transfer there shall be on credit
to the Reserve Account an amount equal to the Reserve Account Requirement, if any, for the Bonds then Outstanding
after taking into account such refunding or payment.

Surplus Fund

The City shall transfer from the Surplus Fund: (i) to the Special Redemption Fund and the Reserve Account
therein the amount necessary (or all the moneys in the Surplus Fund if less than the amount necessary) to satisfy any
deficiencies in payments to such Funds required by the Bond Resolution; (i) in the event of any transfer of moneys from
the Reserve Account to the Special Redemption Fund or to the Reserve Account the amount of any resulting deficiency in
such Fund or Account; (iii) such amount as the City may, in its discretion, determine to set aside in reserve for meeting
the deficiencies referred to in clauses (i) through (ii) of this paragraph; and (iv) provided that all transfers and reserves
therefor referred to in clauses (i) through (iii) of this paragraph shall have heretofore been made, to the Subordinate
Obligation Fund the amount, if any, necessary to satisfy any deficiency therein.

Amounts in the Surplus Fund not required to meet a deficiency referred to in the Bond Resolution and as
described above shall be applied to any of the following purposes:

the Costs of Improvements, or the provision of one or more reserves therefor;

the purchase at such price or prices as the City may deem advisable or redemption of any Bonds and expenses
of such purchase or redemption at any time; or

for any other purpose authorized by the laws of the State of Wisconsin in connection with the Sewerage System,
including reimbursement to the City of advances made by the City to the Sewerage System.

Construction Fund

As soon as practicable on the date of delivery of the Bonds of a Series, there shall be deposited in the
Construction Fund the amount required to be deposited therein pursuant to the Series Resolution. In addition, the City
shall deposit in the Construction Fund such moneys other than proceeds of the Bonds as the City shall determine to be
proper or appropriate to pay the Costs of Improvements.

The Series Resolution authorizing the issuance of any Series of Bonds (exclusive of Refunding Bonds) may
create and establish one or more separate special Series Accounts in the Construction Fund, with such designation as may
be appropriate. In the event any interest on such Bonds is to be capitalized from the proceeds of such Bonds, there shall
be created in the Construction Fund a special Series Interest Account with such designation as may be appropriate.

Moneys, including proceeds of the Bonds of a Series, which are credited to the Construction Fund or Series
Account shall be applied to the payment of the Costs as shall be specified in the applicable Series Resolution. Any
balance remaining in the Construction Fund or such Series Account upon completion of payment of such Costs may be
used for any lawful purpose of the City; provided that the City shall have obtained an Opinion of Counsel that any such
application will not impair the exemption from Federal income taxation of interest on any of the Tax-exempt Bonds.
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. Moneys credited to a Series Interest Account shall be used for the purpose of paying interest on the Bonds of
designated Series. On or before the fifth (5th) day preceding the end of the month next preceding the maturity of an
installment of interest on the Bonds for the payment of which moneys have been credited to a Series Interest Account, the
City shall transfer from a Series Interest Account for credit to the Special Redemption Fund an amount which, together
with any moneys theretofore held in the Special Redemption Fund, shall be sufficient to pay such next maturing
installment of interest on such Bonds.

Payments from the Construction Fund shall be as specified in the Series Resolution authorizing the issuance of a
Series of Bonds.

Moneys, including proceeds of the Bonds, in the Construction Fund, pending their application as provided in the
Bond Resolution and Series Resolution shall be subject to a prior and paramount lien and charge in favor of the Holders
of the Bonds, and the Holders of the Bonds shall have a valid claim on such moneys for the further security of the Bonds
until paid out or transferred as provided in the Bond Resolution. In the event that there is an insufficiency in the Special
Redemption Fund to pay Debt Service after all transfers, have been made pursuant to and in accordance with the Bond
Resolution, the City shall transfer from the Construction Fund such amount (or all remaining amounts in such
Construction Fund) as is deemed necessary by the Comptroller of the City for deposit in the Special Redemption Fund,
which, together with the amounts then on credit to the Special Redemption Fund, is sufficient to pay Debt Service.

Operation and Maintenance Fund

Amounts in the Operation and Maintenance Fund and any subaccount therein, pending their application, shall be
subject to a prior and paramount lien and charge in favor of the Holders of the Bonds, and the Holders of the Bonds shall
have a valid claim on such moneys for the further security of the Bonds until paid out or transferred as provided in the
Bond Resolution. In the event that there is an insufficiency in the Special Redemption Fund to pay Debt Service after all
transfers have been made pursuant to and in accordance with the Bond Resolution, the City shall transfer from the
Operation and Maintenance Fund such amount as is deemed necessary by the Comptroller of the City for deposit in the
Special Redemption Fund, which, together with the amounts then on deposit in the Special Redemption Fund, is
sufficient to pay Debt Service.

Amounts in the Operation and Maintenance Fund shall be used to pay Operation and Maintenance Expenses.
Investment of Funds

Moneys in the Special Redemption Fund shall, to the fullest extent practicable and reasonable, be invested and
reinvested solely in noncallable Investment Securities which shall mature or be subject to redemption at the option of the
holder thereof on or prior to the respective dates when the moneys in the Special Redemption Fund will be required for
the purposes intended. Moneys in the Reserve Account not required for immediate disbursement for the purpose for
which the Reserve Account is created shall, to the fullest extent practicable and reasonable, be invested and reinvested
solely in, and obligations deposited in the Reserve Account shall be, noncallable Investment Securities which shall
mature or be available at par at or prior to three (3) years from the date of investment thereof.

Moneys in the Revenue Fund not required for immediate disbursement for the purpose for which such Fund is
created shall, to the fullest extent practicable and reasonable, be invested and reinvested to the extent allowed by law,
solely in, and obligations deposited in such Fund shall be, Investment Securities which shall mature or be subject to
redemption or payment at the option of the holder thereof, not later than such times as shall be necessary to provide
moneys when needed to provide payments from such Fund.

Moneys in the Construction Fund not required for immediate disbursement for the purposes for which said Fund
is created shall, to the fullest extent practicable and reasonable, be invested and reinvested to the extent allowed by law,
solely in, and obligations deposited in such Fund shall be, Investment Securities which shall mature or be subject to
redemption or payment at par at the option of the holder thereof not later than such times as shall be necessary to provide
moneys when needed to provide payments from such Fund or Account.
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To the extent permitted in the Bond Resolution, all income received from the investment or reinvestment of
moneys in the Funds and Accounts established thereunder shall be deposited in the respective Fund and Account from
which such investments are made and applied as a credit against the next succeeding deposit or credit required to be
made pursuant to the Bond Resolution; provided, however, that, except as to the Subordinate Obligation Fund, all or a
portion of the income received from the investment or reinvestment of moneys in any such Fund and Account may be
deposited in the Revenue Fund or the Construction Fund, including a Series Interest Account therein; and provided,
further, however, that all income received from the investment or reinvestment of moneys in any Series Interest Account
shall be credited to the Special Redemption Fund.

Nothing in the Bond Resolution shall prevent any Investment Securities acquired as investments of funds held
under the Bond Resolution from being issued or held in book-entry form.

Neither the Comptroller of the City nor any Paying Agent shall be liable for any depreciation in value of any
investments made by the City.

COVENANTS

The City has covenanted and agreed in the Bond Resolution with the holders of all Bonds issued pursuant to the
Bond Resolution as follows:

Maintenance of the Properties of the Sewerage System; Keeping the Sewerage System in Good Repair. The
City will: (i) maintain, preserve and keep, or cause to be maintained, preserved and kept, the properties of the Sewerage
System and all additions and betterments thereto and extensions thereof, and every part and parcel thereof in good repair,
working order and condition; (ii) from time to time make, or cause to be made, all necessary and proper repairs, renewals,
replacements, additions, extensions and betterments thereto, so that at all times the business carried on in connection
therewith shall be properly and advantageously conducted; and (iii) comply, or cause to be complied, with the terms and
conditions of any permit or license for the Sewerage System or any part thereof issued by any Federal or State
governmental agency or body and with any Federal or State law or regulation applicable to the construction, operation,
maintenance and repair of the Sewerage System or requiring a license, permit or approval therefor.

Rates and Charges. The City will fix, charge and collect such Sewerage Services Charges as shall be required
in order that in each Fiscal Year the Net Revenues shall be not less than the Net Revenue Requirement for such Fiscal
Year. The failure in any Fiscal Year to comply with the foregoing rate covenant does not constitute an Event of Default
if the City shall comply with requirements described in the next paragraph.

Prior to the end of each Fiscal Year the Commissioner of Public Works of the City shall complete a review of
the financial condition of the Sewerage System for the purpose of estimating whether the Net Revenues for such Fiscal
Year and for the next succeeding Fiscal Year will be sufficient to comply with the rate covenant described in the Bond
Resolution and described above and shall by a Written Certificate of the City make a determination with respect thereto.
Such review shall take into consideration the completion of any uncompleted Improvement and the issuance of future
Series of Bonds if necessary to finance the completion of such Improvements. Such Written Certificate shall set forth a
reasonably detailed statement of the actual and estimated Revenues, Operation and Maintenance Expenses, Aggregate
Debt Service, and any other estimates or assumptions upon which such determination was based, and shall be filed with
the City Clerk on or before July 1 in each year. If it is determined in such Written Certificate that the Revenues may not
be so sufficient, the Commissioner of Public Works of the City shall forthwith make a study for the purpose of
determining a schedule of Sewerage Service Charges which, in the opinion of the Commissioner of Public Works, will
cause sufficient Revenues to be collected in the following Fiscal Year to comply with such rate covenant in and will
cause additional Revenues to be collected in such following and later Fiscal Years sufficient to eliminate the amount of
any deficiency at the earliest practicable time, or the Commissioner of Public Works may elect to cause the Consulting
Engineer to make such a study and render such opinion. The Common Council shall as promptly as practicable but no
later than the one hundred twenty (120) days following such determination by the Commissioner of Public Works, or
receipt of the Consulting Engineer’s recommendation, adopt and place in effect a schedule of Sewerage Service Charges
as so determined or recommended in accordance with the Bond Resolution.
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Sale, Lease or Other Disposition of Properties of the Sewerage System. The properties of the Sewerage
System shall not be sold, mortgaged, leased or otherwise disposed of except as described below.

’Ijhe properties of the Sewerage System may be sold, leased, or otherwise disposed of in their entirety if,
simultaneously with such sale, lease or other disposition thereof, provision is made for the payment of all Bonds
then Outstanding and such Bonds are no longer deemed Outstanding within the meaning of the Bond
Resolution.

Any portion of the properties of the Sewerage System may be sold, leased, or otherwise disposed of on such
terms and conditions as may be determined by the City if the value of such portion of the properties as of the
date of such sale, lease or disposition does not exceed five percent (5%) of the net book assets of the Sewerage
System as of the last day of the preceding Fiscal Year as shown in the most recent audited financial statements
of the City. Any part of the properties of the Sewerage System having a value as of the date of the sale, lease or
disposition which exceeds five percent (5%) of the net book assets of the Sewerage System as of the last day of
the preceding Fiscal Year as shown in the most recent audited financial statements of the City may be sold,
leased, or otherwise disposed of if the Consulting Engineer shall certify to the City in writing that the terms and
conditions of the proposed sale, lease or other disposition of any such properties are fair and reasonable, and
that the estimated Revenues to be derived from the remaining properties of the Sewerage System, after taking
into consideration the use by the City of the proceeds of such proposed sale, lease or other disposition of such
properties, will be sufficient to enable the City to comply with all covenants and conditions of the Bond
Resolution. Proceeds of any sale, lease or other disposition of any portion of the properties of the Sewerage
System pursuant to this paragraph shall be paid into the Special Redemption Fund and applied to the purchase
or redemption of Bonds or into the Revenue Fund and applied by the City for the purpose of constructing
extensions, betterments or improvements to the Sewerage System as the City shall determine.

Buildings and any other portion of the works, plant and facilities of the Sewerage System and real and personal
property comprising a part thereof, which, in the opinion of the Commissioner of Public Works, shall have
become unserviceable, inadequate, obsolete, worn out, or unfit to be used in the operation of the Sewerage
System, or no longer necessary, material to, or useful in such operation may be sold, leased, or otherwise
disposed of. Proceeds of any such sale, lease or other disposition of any portion of the properties of the
Sewerage System pursuant to this paragraph shall be paid into the Revenue Fund.

If permitted by the laws of the State, the City may transfer without consideration the properties comprising the
Sewerage System to a public corporation or political subdivision of the State; provided such corporation or
subdivision assumes all of the City's or the City’s obligations and duties under the Bond Resolution.

In the event that any part of the properties of the Sewerage System shall be transferred from the City through the
operation of law (including condemnation), any moneys received by the City as a result thereof shall be paid: (i)
if such proceeds are not in excess of $250,000, into the Revenue Fund; or (ii) if such proceeds are in excess of
$250,000: (a) into the Special Redemption Fund and or (b) into the Construction Fund and used to finance
Improvements.

Insurance. Except as provided for in the next paragraph, the City shall keep, or cause to be kept, the works,
plants and facilities comprising the properties of the Sewerage System and the operations thereof insured to the extent
available at reasonable cost with responsible insurers, with policies payable to the City, against risks of direct physical
loss, damage to or destruction of the above-ground structures, and the equipment and contents therein, of the Sewerage
System arising from accidents, casualties or negligence, and other causes customarily insured against, at least to the
extent that similar insurance is usually carried by utilities operating like properties, including liability insurance and
workman's compensation insurance; provided, however, that any time while any contractor engaged in constructing any
part of the Sewerage System shall be fully responsible therefor, the City shall not be required to keep such part of the
Sewerage System insured. All policies of insurance shall be for the benefit of the Holders of the Bonds and the City as
their respective interests may appear.
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In the event of any loss or damage to the properties of the Sewerage System covered by insurance, the City will:
(i) with respect to each such loss, promptly repair and reconstruct to the extent necessary to the proper conduct of the
operations of the Sewerage System the lost or damaged portion thereof and shall apply the proceeds of any insurance
policy or policies covering such loss or damage for that purpose to the extent required therefor, unless, in case of loss or
damage involving $250,000 or more, the City shall determine that such repair and reconstruction not be undertaken; and
(ii) if the City shall not use the entire proceeds of such insurance to repair or reconstruct such lost or damaged property,
the proceeds of such insurance policy or policies or any portion thereof not used for such repair or reconstruction, as the
case may be, shall be paid into the Revenue Fund. If the City does not obtain insurance from responsible insurers as
provided for in the Bond Resolution, and the City fails to carry insurance against any of the risks normally insured against
by operators of facilities similar to the Sewerage System, it must secure the concurrence of an independent insurance
consultant. In making its decision whether to concur, the independent insurance consultant shall: (i) make an estimate of
the added financial risks, if any, assumed by the City as a result of the failure to insure; (ii) consider the availability of
commercial insurance, the terms upon which such insurance is available and the costs of such available insurance, and the
effect of such terms and costs upon the City’s costs and charges for its services; and (iii) determine whether the added
financial risk, if any, being assumed by the City is prudent in light of the savings to be realized in light of the general
availability of insurance.

The City may include insurance required by the Bond Resolution as part of a blanket insurance policy of the
City.

Consulting Engineer. The Common Council or the Commissioner of Public Works may from time to time
retain and appoint, as Consulting Engineer, an independent consulting engineer or engineering firm or corporation having
special skill, knowledge and experience in analyzing the operations of sewerage systems, preparing rate analyses,
forecasting the loads and revenues of sewerage systems, preparing feasibility reports respecting the financing of sewerage
systems and advising on the operation of sewerage facilities, who shall be available to advise the City, upon request, and
to make such investigations and determinations as may be necessary from time to time under the provisions of the Bond
Resolution.

Books of Account; Annual Audit. The City will maintain and keep proper books of account relating to the
Sewerage System and in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Within two hundred forty (240) days
after the end of each Fiscal Year commencing with the Fiscal Year ending December 31,2001, the City shall cause such
books of account to be audited by an independent certified public accountant. The audit required by the Bond Resolution
may be part of a comprehensive audit of the City; provided that the Sewerage System in such audit is treated as an
“enterprise fund” and the revenues and expenses of the Sewerage System are stated in a manner which permits
identification by category of the sources and uses of the Revenues. A copy of each audit report shall be prepared in
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles and shall be filed promptly with the Common Council.

Punctual Payment of Bonds. The City will duly and punctually pay, or cause to be paid, but only from the
Revenues, income and other funds specified in the Bond Resolution, the principal and Redemption Price (if any) of, and
interest on, each and every Bond on the dates and at the places, and in the manner provided in the Bonds according to the
true intent and meaning thereof, and the City shall faithfully do and perform and at all times fully observe and keep any
and all of its covenants, undertakings, stipulations and provisions contained in the Bonds and in the Bond Resolution.

Payment of Taxes and Other Claims. The City shall from time to time duly pay and discharge, or cause to be
paid and discharged, all taxes, assessments and other governmental charges, or payments in lieu thereof, lawfully
imposed upon the properties of the Sewerage System (or any part thereof) or upon the Net Revenues or income received
therefrom when the same shall become due, as well as all lawful claims for labor, material and supplies, which, if not
paid, might become a lien or charge upon said properties or any part thereof, or upon the Revenues derived from the
ownership or operation of the Sewerage System, or which might in any way impair the security of the Bonds, except any
such assessments, charges or claims which the City shall in good faith contest as to validity.

Extension of Payment of Bonds. The City will not, directly or indirectly, extend or assent to the extension of

the maturity of any of the Bonds or the time of payment of any claims for interest by the purchase of such Bonds or
claims for interest or by any other arrangement and in case the maturity of any of the Bonds or the time for payment of
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any such claims for interest shall be extended, such Bonds or claims for interest shall not be entitled, in case of any
default under the Bond Resolution, to the benefit of the Bond Resolution or to any payment out of any assets of the City
or the funds (except funds held in trust for the payment of particular Bonds or claims for interest pursuant to the Bond
Resolution) held by the Paying Agents, except subject to the prior payment of the principal of all Bonds issued and
Outstanding the maturity of which has not been extended and of such portion of the accrued interest on the Bonds as shall
not be represented by such extended claims for interest. Nothing in the Bond Resolution shall be deemed to limit the
right of the City to issue Refunding Bonds as provided in the Bond Resolution and such issuance shall not be deemed to
constitute an extension of maturity of Bonds.

Sound Improvements and Extensions. The City shall not expend any of the income, revenues, receipts, profits
and other moneys derived by it from the ownership or operation of the Sewerage System for any renewals, replacements,
additions, betterments and improvements to, or extensions of, the Sewerage System which, in the sole opinion of the
Commissioner of Public Works, will not properly and advantageously contribute to the conduct of the business of the
Sewerage System in an efficient and economical manner unless required to do so to permit the continued operation of the
Sewerage System or to preserve or protect the Sewerage System.

Further Assurances. The City shall, at any and all times, insofar as it may be authorized so to do, pass, make,
do, execute, acknowledge and deliver all and every such further resolutions, indentures, acts, deeds, conveyances,
assignments, transfers and assurances as may be necessary or desirable for the better assuring, conveying, granting,
assigning and confirming any and all of the rights, Revenues and other funds hereby pledged or charged with or assigned
to the payment of the Bonds or intended so to be, or which the City or the City may hereafter become bound to pledge or
charge or assign.

Protection of Security. The City is duly authorized under all applicable law to create and issue the Bonds, to
adopt the Bond Resolution and to pledge the Revenues and other moneys, securities and funds purported to be pledged
by the Bond Resolution in the manner and to the extent provided in the Bond Resolution. The Revenues and other
moneys, securities and funds so pledged are and will be free and clear of any pledge, lien, charge or encumbrance thereon
or with respect thereto prior to, or of equal rank with, the pledge created by the Bond Resolution, except as otherwise
expressly provided therein, and all action on the part of the City to that end has been duly and validly taken. The Bonds
are and will be valid and legally enforceable obligations of the City in accordance with their terms and the terms of the
Bond Resolution. The City shall at all times, to the extent permitted by law, defend, preserve and protect the pledge of
the Revenues and other moneys, securities and funds pledged under the Bond Resolution and all the rights of the
Bondholders hereto against all claims and demands of all persons whomsoever.

Exclusion of Interest on Tax-exempt Bonds for Federal Income Taxation Purposes. In order to maintain the
exclusion from gross income for purposes of federal income taxation of interest on the Tax-exempt Bonds of any Series,
the City shall comply with the provisions of the Code applicable to such Bonds, including without limitation the
provisions of the Code relating to the computation of the yield on investments of the Gross Proceeds of such Bonds,
reporting of earnings on the Gross Proceeds of such Bonds, and rebates of Rebatable Amount to the United States
Treasury City. In furtherance of the foregoing, the City shall comply with the Tax Certificate relating to such Bonds or
such instructions as may be delivered by Bond Counsel at the time such Bonds are issued as to compliance with the Code
with respect to such Bonds, as such instructions may be amended from time to time, as a source of guidance for achieving
compliance with the Code.

The City shall not take any action or fail to take any action with respect to the application and investment of
Gross Proceeds of Tax-exempt Bonds or use, ownership or management of the Sewerage System or any facility or project
thereof or any Improvement thereto which would cause a failure to comply with the provisions of Sections 103 and 141
to 150 of the Code, such covenant to be effective (i) throughout the term of such Bonds, and (ii) through the date that the
final rebate, if any, must be made to the United States Treasury City in accordance with Section 148 of the Code with
respect to such Bonds.

Notwithstanding any other provision hereof to the contrary, the City’s failure to comply with the provisions of
the Code applicable to the Tax-exempt Bonds of a Series shall not entitle the Holder of Bonds of any other Series, or any
trustee acting on their behalf, to exercise any right or remedy provided to Holders of Bonds under the Bond Resolution
based upon the City's or the City’s failure to comply with the provisions of the Bond Resolution or of the Code.
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Annual Budget. As part of the City’s annual budgeting process, the City shall prepare and include a budget for
the Sewerage System for the ensuing Fiscal Year. Each budget shall: (i) set forth in reasonable detail amounts required
for repair, replacement or reconstruction of the Sewerage System and major or extraordinary repairs, renewals or
replacements of the Sewerage System, if any, for the period to be covered by such budget; (ii) specify the amounts to be
set aside for the purposes set forth in clause (i) hereof and the amounts to be deposited in the Funds created under the
Bond Resolution and the amounts to be maintained in the Revenue Fund for working capital and operating reserves for
such purposes for such period, and (iii) project the amounts required for such purposes for the next five Fiscal Years in
such format as the Commissioner of Public Works shall determine. A copy of each such report shall be filed and
maintained in the records of the City.

Events of Default
Each of the following events constitutes an Event of Default under the Bond Resolution:

(a) if payment of the principal and Redemption Price (if any) of any Bond, shall not punctually be made
when due and payable, whether at the stated maturity thereof or upon proceedings for the redemption thereof
(whether by voluntary redemption or a mandatory sinking fund redemption or otherwise);

(b) if payment of the interest on any Bond shall not punctually be made when due;

(c) if the provisions of any Series Resolution with respect to mandatory Sinking Fund Installment
payments or the redemption of Term Bonds therefrom, as the case may be, shall not punctually be complied
with at the time and in the manner specified in such Series Resolution;

(<)) if the City shall fail to duly and punctually perform or observe any other of the covenants, agreements
or conditions contained in the Bond Resolution or in the Bonds, on the part of the City to be performed, and
such failure shall continue for ninety (90) days after written notice thereof from the Holders of not less than
twenty percent (20%) of the Bonds then Outstanding; provided, that if such failure shall be such that it cannot
be corrected within such ninety (90) day period, it shall not constitute an Event of Default if corrective actionis
instituted within such period and diligently pursued until the failure is corrected; and

(e) if the City shall: (i) admit in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they become due; or (ii)
file a petition in bankruptcy or seeking a composition of indebtedness under the provisions of any Federal or
state bankruptcy or similar law; or (iii) make an assignment for the benefit of its creditors; or (iv) file a petition
or any answer seeking relief under the provisions of any Federal or state bankruptcy or similar law; or (v)
consent to the appointment of a receiver of the whole or any substantial part of the Sewerage System; or (vi)
consent to the assumption by any court of competent jurisdiction under the provisions of any other law for the
relief or aid of debtors of custody or control of the City, or of the whole or any substantial part of the Sewerage
System.

Acceleration of Bonds

If an Event of Default shall happen and shall not have been remedied, then and in every such case the Holders of
not less than twenty-five percent (25%) in principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding, by notice in writing to the
City, may declare the principal of all the Bonds then Outstanding, and the interest accrued thereon, to be due and payable
immediately, and upon any such declaration the same shall become and be immediately due and payable. The right of the
Holders of not less than twenty-five percent (25%) in principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding to make any such
declaration, however, shall be subject to the condition that if, at any time after such declaration, but before the Bonds
shall have matured by their terms, all overdue installments of interest upon the Bonds, together with interest on such
overdue installments of interest to the extent permitted by law and all other sums then payable by the City under the Bond
Resolution (except the principal of, and interest accrued since the next preceding interest date on, the Bonds due and
payable solely by virtue of such declaration) shall either be paid by or for the account of the City or provision satisfactory
to the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding shall be made for such payment, and all
defaults under the Bonds or under the Bond Resolution (other than the payment of principal and interest due and payable
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solely by reason of such declaration) shall be cured or be secured to the satisfaction of the Holders of a majority in
principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding or provision deemed by such Holders of the Bonds to be adequate shall
be made therefor, then and in every such case the Holders of a majority in principal amount of the Bonds then
Outstanding, by written notice to the City, may rescind such declaration and annul such default in its entirety, but no such
rescission shall extend to or affect any subsequent default or impair or exhaust any resulting right or power.

Application of Revenues in an Event of Default

During the continuance of an Event of Default as defined in items (a) through (c) of the Events of Default
described above or of any other Event of Default resulting in an Event of Default as defined in items (a) through (c) of
the Events of Default described above, the Revenues received by areceiver appointed pursuant to the Bond Resolution as
the result of the taking of possession of the business and properties of the Sewerage System, shall be applied by the
receiver: first, to the payment of all necessary and proper Operation and Maintenance Expenses of the Sewerage System
and all other proper disbursements or liabilities made or incurred by the receiver; second, to the then due and overdue
payments into the Special Redemption Fund, including the making up of deficiencies therein; and last, for any lawful
purpose in connection with the Sewerage System.

In the event that at any time the funds held by the receiver are insufficient for the payment of the principal and
Redemption Price (if any) of, and interest then due on, the Bonds, such funds (other than funds held for the payment or
redemption of particular Bonds and all Revenues and other moneys received or collected for the benefit or for the
account of Holders of the Bonds by the receiver shall be applied as follows:

1 Unless the principal of all of the Bonds shall have become due and payable,

First, to the payment of all necessary and proper Operation and Maintenance Expenses of the
Sewerage System and all other proper disbursements or liabilities made or incurred by the receiver;

Second, to the payment to the persons entitled thereto of all instaliments of interest then due (including
any interest on overdue principal) in the order of the maturity of such installments, earliest maturities
first, and if the amounts available shall not be sufficient to pay in full any installment or installments of
interest maturing on the same date, then to the payment thereof ratably, according to the amount due
thereon, to the persons entitled thereto, without any discrimination or preference; and

Third, to the payment to the persons entitled thereto of the principal and premium, if any, due and
unpaid upon the Bonds at the time of such payment without preference or priority of any Bond over
any other Bonds, ratably, according to the amounts due respectively for principal and redemption
premium, without any discrimination or preference.

2 If the principal of all of the Bonds shall have become due and payable,

First, to the payment of all necessary and proper Operation and Maintenance Expenses of the
Sewerage System and all other proper disbursements or liabilities made or incurred by the receiver;

Second, to the payment of the principal and interest then due and unpaid upon the Bonds without
preference or priority of principal over interest or of interest over principal, or of any installment of
interest over any other installment of interest, or of any Bond over any other Bonds, ratably, according
to the amounts due respectively for principal and interest, to the persons entitled thereto without any
discrimination or preference.

Whenever moneys are to be applied pursuant to the foregoing paragraphs, such moneys shall be applied by the
receiver at such times, and from time to time, as it in its sole discretion shall determine, having due regard to the amount
of such moneys available for application and the likelihood of additional moneys becoming available for such application
in the future.



If and whenever all overdue installments of interest on all Bonds, together with the reasonable and proper
charges, expenses, and liabilities of the Holders of the Bonds, their respective agents and attorneys, and all other sums
payable by the City under the Bond Resolution including the principal and Redemption Price (if any) of all Bonds which
shall then be payable, shall either be paid in full by or for the account of the City or provision satisfactory to the receiver
shall be made for such payment, and all defaults under the Bond Resolution or the Bonds shall be made good and secured
to the satisfaction of the receiver or provision deemed by the receiver to be adequate therefor, the receiver shall pay over
to the City all of its moneys, securities, funds and Revenues then remaining unexpended in the hands of the Bondholders’
Committee described in the Bond Resolution, control of the business and possession of the property of the City shall be
restored to the City, and thereupon the City shall be restored to its former positions and rights under the Bond Resolution,
and all Revenues shall thereafter be applied as provided in the Bond Resolution. No such payment over to the City by the
receiver or resumption of this application of Revenues as provided in the Bond Resolution, shall extend to or affect any
subsequent default under the Bond Resolution or impair any right consequent thereon.

Suits at Law or Equity and Mandamus; Appointment of a Receiver

1f an Event of Default shall happen and shall not have been remedied, then and in every such case, but subject to
the provisions, limitations and conditions as set forth in the Bond Resolution so far as the remedies thereunder are
concerned, the Holder of any Bond at the time Outstanding shall be entitled, for the equal benefit and protection of all
Holders of the Bonds similarly situated, to proceed, protect and enforce the rights vested in such Holder by the Bond
Resolution by such appropriate judicial proceeding as such Holder shall deem most effectual to protect and enforce any
such right, either by suit in equity or by action of law, whether for the specific performance of any covenant or agreement
contained in the Bond Resolution, or in aid of the exercise of any power granted in the Bond Resolution, or to enforce
any other legal or equitable right vested in the Holders of Bonds by the Bond Resolution or by law; provided, however,
that no judicial proceeding shall be brought seeking the appointment of a receiver to take possession of the Sewerage
System or to manage, receive and apply the Revenues unless the Holders of not less than a majority in principal amount
of the Bonds then Outstanding or a Bondholders’ Committee representing the Holders of not less than a majority in
principal amount of the Bonds then Outstanding shall have joined in or consented to such proceeding.

Remedies Not Exclusive; Waivers of Default; Abandonment of Proceedings; Adverse Determination

No remedy by the terms of the Bond Resolution conferred upon or reserved to the Holders of the Bonds is
intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, but each and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in
addition to any other remedy given thereunder to the Holders of the Bonds or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity
or by statute.

No delay or omission of any Holder of Bonds to exercise any right or power arising upon the occurrence ofa
default under the Bond Resolution, including an Event of Default, shall impair any right or power or shall be construed to
be a waiver of any such default or to be an acquiescence therein. Every power and remedy given by this Article to the
Holders of Bonds may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient by such Holders.

In case the Holders of the Bonds or a Bondholders’ Committee formed pursuant to the Bond Resolution shall
have proceeded to enforce any right under the Bond Resolution and such proceedings shall have been discontinued or
abandoned for any reason, or shall have been determined adversely to the Holders of the Bonds or such Bondholders’
Committee, then and in every such case the City and the Holders of the Bonds shall be restored to their former positions
and rights under the Bond Resolution, and all rights, remedies and powers of the Holders of the Bonds shall continue as if
no such proceedings had been taken.

Amending and Supplementing of the Bond Resolution

Amending and Supplementing of the Bond Resolution Without Consent of Holders of Bonds. The City, from
time to time and at any time and without the consent or concurrence of any Holder of any Bond, may adopt a Series
Resolution (i) for the purpose of providing for the issuance of Bonds pursuant to the Bond Resolution,; (ii) to make any
changes, modifications, amendments or deletions hereto which may be required to permit the Bond Resolution to be
qualified under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 of the United States of America; or (iii) if the rights of the Holders of the

D-15



Bonds then Outstanding shall not be materially adversely affected thereby, a Supplemental Resolution for any one or
more of the following purposes:

1. to make any changes or corrections in the Bond Resolution as to which the City shall have been advised by
counsel that the same are verbal corrections or changes or are required for the purpose of curing or correcting
any ambiguity or defective or inconsistent provision or omission or mistake or manifest error contained in the
Bond Resolution, or to insert in the Bond Resolution such provisions clarifying matters or questions arising
under the Bond Resolution as are necessary or desirable;

2. to add additional covenants and agreements of the City for the purpose of further securing the payment of the
Bonds;

3. to surrender any right, power or privilege reserved to or conferred upon the City by the terms of the Bond
Resolution;

4. to confirm as further assurance any lien, pledge or charge, or the subjection to any lien, pledge, or charge,
created or to be created by the provisions of the Bond Resolution;

5. to grant to, or to confer upon, the Holders of the Bonds any additional rights, remedies, powers, authority or
security that lawfully may be granted to or conferred upon them; and

6. to modify in any other respect any of the provisions of the Bond Resolution.

Except for Series Resolutions authorizing the issuance of Bonds pursuant hereto, the City shall not adopt any
Supplemental Resolution described above and as provided for in the Bond Resolution unless in the Opinion of Counsel
(which opinion may be combined with the opinion required by the Bond Resolution) the adoption of such Supplemental
Resolution is permitted by the purposes described above and as provided for in the Bond Resolution and the provisions
of such Supplemental Resolution do not materially adversely affect the rights of the Holders of the Bonds then
Outstanding.

The City shall furnish a notice of each amendment or supplement described above and a copy of the
Supplemental Resolution effecting such amendment or supplement to each Rating Agency which has rated the Bonds at
least fifteen (15) days prior to the effective day of the Supplemental Resolution.

Amendment of Bond Resolution With Consent of Holders of Bonds. With the consent of the Holders of not
less than a majority of the Bonds then Outstanding, the City from time to time and at any time may adopt a resolution
amendatory hereof or supplemental for the purpose of adding any provisions to, or changing in any manner or eliminating
any of the provisions of, the Bond Resolution, or modifying or amending the rights and obligations of the City
thereunder, or modifying or amending in any manner the rights of the Holders of the Bonds then Outstanding; provided,
however, that without the specific consent of the Holder of each such Bond which would be affected thereby, no
Supplemental Resolution amending or supplementing the provisions hereof shall: (1) change the fixed maturity date for
the payment of the principal of any Bond or the dates for the payment of interest thereon or the terms of the redemption
thereof, or reduce the principal amount of any Bond or the rate of interest thereon or the Redemption Price (or the
redemption premium) payable upon the redemption or prepayment thereof; or (2) reduce the aforesaid percentage of
Bonds, the Holders of which are required to consent to any Supplemental Resolution amending or supplementing the
provisions of the Bond Resolution; or (3) give to any Bond or Bonds any preference over any other Bond or Bonds
secured hereby; or (4) authorize the creation of any pledge of the Revenues and other moneys pledged thereunder, prior,
superior or equal to the pledge of and lien and charge thereon created for the payment of the Bonds except to the extent
provided in the Bond Resolution; or (5) deprive any Holder of the Bonds in any material respect of the security afforded
by the Bond Resolution; provided further, however, that without the specific consents of the Holders of not less than a
majority in principal amount of the Term Bonds then Outstanding and affected thereby, no Supplemental Resolution
amending or supplementing the provisions of the Bond Resolution shall (a) change the amount of any Sinking Fund
Installments for the retirement of Term Bonds or the due dates of such installments or the terms for the purchase or
redemption thereof from such installments, or (b) reduce the aforesaid percentage of Term Bonds, the Holders of which
are required to consent to any such Supplemental Resolution. (Nothing in this paragraph, however, shall be construed as
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making necessary the approval of the Holders of the Bonds of the adoption of any Supplemental Resolution). A
modification or amendment with respect to the Revenue Fund or the Special Redemption Fund or Reserve Account shall
not be deemed a change in the terms of payments; provided that no such modification or amendment shall, except upon
the consent of the Holders of all Bonds then outstanding affected thereby, reduce the amount or amounts required to be
credited to the Special Redemption Fund or Reserve Account. If any Series of Bonds is insured as to payment of principal
and interest, the insurer of such Series of Bonds shall be considered the Holder of such Bonds for purposes of the Bond
Resolution.

The City shall furnish a notice of each amendment or supplement and a copy of the Supplemental Resolution
effecting such amendment or supplement to each Rating Agency which has rated the Bonds at least fifteen (15) days prior
to the effective day of the Supplemental Resolution.

Discharge of Liens and Pledges; Bonds No Longer Outstanding and Deemed to be Paid

Except as otherwise provided in the Bond Resolution with regard to Option Bonds, the obligations of the City
under the Bond Resolution and the liens, pledges, charges, trusts, covenants and agreements of the City made or provided
for therein, shall be fully discharged and satisfied as to any Bond and such Bond shall no longer be deemed to be
Outstanding;:

@) when such Bond shall have been canceled, or shall have been surrendered for cancellation or is subject
to cancellation, or shall have been purchased by or behalf of the City from moneys held under the Bond
Resolution; or

(i) as to any Bond not canceled or surrendered for cancellation or subject to cancellation or so purchased,
when payment of the principal and Redemption Price (if any) of such Bond, plus interest on such principal to
the due date thereof (whether such due date be by reason of maturity or upon redemption or prepayment, or
otherwise) either (a) shall have been made or caused to be made in accordance with the terms thereof, or
(b) shall have been provided for by irrevocably depositing with the Paying Agent for such Bond, in trust, and
irrevocably appropriating and setting aside exclusively for such payment, either (1) moneys sufficient to make
such payment or (2) noncallable Refunded Municipal Obligations or noncallable Government Obligations,
maturing as to principal and interest in such amount and at such times as will insure, together with any cash
deposit, the availability of sufficient moneys to make such payment, whichever the City deems to be in its best
interest, and, if the City determines it to be in its best interest as verified by an independent nationally
recognized firm of certified public accountants in a report delivered to the City and the Comptroller of the City,
and all necessary and proper fees, compensation and expenses of the Comptroller of the City and the Paying
Agents pertaining to the Bond with respect to which such deposit is made shall have been paid or the payment
thereof provided for to the satisfaction of the Comptroller of the City and said Paying Agents.

At such time as a Bond shall be deemed to be no longer Outstanding, as aforesaid, such Bond, except for the
purposes of any payment from such moneys, Refunded Municipal Obligations or Government Obligations, shall no
longer be secured by or entitled to the benefits of the Bond Resolution.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the case of a Bond which is to be redeemed or otherwise prepaid prior to its
stated maturity, no deposit under clause (b) of subparagraph (ii) of the second paragraph above shall constitute such
payment, discharge and satisfaction as aforesaid until such Bond shall have been irrevocably designated for redemption
or prepayment and proper notice of such redemption or prepayment shall have been previously given in accordance with
the Bond Resolution or provision shall have been irrevocably made for the giving of such notice.

All income from all Refunded Municipal Obligations and Government Obligations in the hands of the Paying
Agents which is not required for the payment of the Bonds and interest and premium thereon with respect to which such
moneys shall have been so deposited, shail be paid to the City for deposit in the Revenue Fund free and clear of any trust,
lien, security interest, pledge or assignment securing any Bonds or otherwise existing under the Bond Resolution.
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All moneys, Refunded Municipal Obligations or Government Obligations set aside and held in trust pursuant to
the provisions of the Bond Resolution for the payment of Bonds (including interest and premium thereof, if any) shall be
applied to and used solely for the payment of the particular Bond (including interest and premium thereof, if any) with
respect to which such moneys and Investment Securities have been so set aside in trust. If moneys, Refunded Municipal
Obligations or Government Obligations have been deposited or set aside with a Paying Agent for the payment of a
specific Bond and such Bond shall be deemed to have been paid and to be no longer Outstanding, but such Bond shall not
have in fact been actually paid in full, no amendment to the Bond Resolution shall be made without the consent of the
Holder of each Bond affected thereby.

The City may at any time surrender to a Paying Agent for a Series of Bonds for cancellation by it any Bonds of

such Series previously executed and delivered, which the City may have acquired in any manner whatever, and such
Bonds upon such surrender for cancellation shall be deemed to be paid and no longer Outstanding.
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APPENDIX E

FORM OF MUNICIPAL BOND INSURANCE POLICY SPECIMEN-AMBAC



Mbac Ambac Assurance Corporation

One State Street Plaza, 15th Floor
New York, New York 10004

Financial Guaranty Insurance Policy Telephone: (212) 668-0340
Obligor: Policy Number:
Obligations: Premium:

Ambac Assurance Corporation (Ambac), a Wisconsin stock insurance corporation, in consideration of the payment of the
premium and subjecrt to the terms of this Policy, hereby agrees to pay to The Bank of New York, as trustee, or itgSuxgcessor (the
“Insurance Trustee”), for the benefit of the Holders, that portion of the principal of and interest on the above-described oRligarions
(the “Obligations”) which shall become Due for Payment but shall be unpaid by reason of Nonpayment bythe Obliger.

Ambac will make such payments to the Insurance Trustee within one (1) business day following wgi ifxgati Amiac of
Nonpayment. Upon a Holder's presentarion and surrender to the Insurance Trustee of such unpgid Ob i 2 oupRns,
uncanceled and in bearer form and free of any adverse claim, the Insurance Trustee will dfSbug: - aountyof

principal and interest which is then Due for Payment but is unpaid. Upon such disbursekpenAmbaesha : wrter of

the surrendered Obligations and/or coupons and shall be fully subrogated to all of older’s

In cases where the Obligarions are issued in registered form, the Insurance Trustée sqall\di Ktincipaj«6 A Holder only upon
presentation and surrender to the Insurance Trustee of the unpaid Oblig ary €rse claim, together
with an instrument of assignment, in form satisfactory to Ambac andtheNnswrance Keiste ¥ ed by the Holder or such
Holder's duly authorized representative, so as to permit ownershipQf sux igag dgiste¥ed in the name of Ambac or its
nominee. The Insurance Trustee shall disburse interest to a Holdgr of\a rags \on only upon presentation to the

Insurance Trustee of proof that the claimant is the person
Insurance Trustee of an instrument of assignment, }

eagitied\ro the paymene'y ofr the Obligation and delivery to the
torm satiyfactory ¥ A @ Insurance Trustee, duly executed by the
Y . All rights under such Obligation to receive the
interest in respect of which the insurance disb . wf be subrogated to all of the Holders rights to
exyent bf aRy insurange djsbukserents so made.

as notice that any payment of principal of or interest on an
¢ to a Holder by or on behalf of the Obligor has been deemed a
fursuant to the Unirted States Bankruptcy Code in accordance with

: Axs any p€rson other than (i) the Obligor or (ii) any person whose obligations constitute the
Wor surcpdt payment\fef the Obligations who, at the time of Nonpayment, is the owner of an Obligation or of
ing to'yn OBligation. As used herein, “Due for Payment”, when referring to the principal of Obligations, is when

marurick dake or mandatory redemprion date for the application of a required sinking fund installment has been
15d does nox refkr toyany earlier date on which payment is due by reason of call for redemprtion (other than by application
squiree-Sinking fundMastallments), acceleration or other advancement of maturiry; and, when referring to interest on the
Obligatiogs, is whep/the scheduled date for payment of interest has been reached. As used herein, “Nonpayment” means the failure
of the @BIigo? to Mave provided sufficient funds to the trustee or paying agent for payment in full of all principal of and interest

This Policy is noncancelable. The premium on this Policy is not refundable for any reason, including payment of the Obligations
prior to maturity. This Policy does not insure against loss of any prepayment or other acceleration payment which at any time
may become due in respect of any Obligation, other than at the sole option of Ambac, nor against any risk other than Nonpayment.

In witness whereof, Ambac has caused this Policy to be affixed with a facsimile of its corporate seal and to be signed by its duly
authorized officers in facsimile to become effective as its original seal and signatures and binding upon Ambac by virtue of the
countersignature of its duly auchorized representartive.
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Effective Date: N Authorized Representative

THE BANK OF NEW YORK acknowledges that it has agreed

to perform the duties of Insurance Trustee under this Policy.

Form No.: 2B-0012 (1/01) Authorized Officer of Insurance Trustee
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